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FOREWORD

On 11 July 1989 the Rock Island Arsenal commemorated its designation
as a National Historic Landmark by the secretary of the interior. Incidental to
the National Historic Landmark commemoration, the AMCCOM Historical
Office has published An lllustrated History of Rock Island Arsenal and
Arsenal Island, Part One, and Part Two. Mr. Thomas J. Slattery is the author
of this history and has presented a very well-written and balanced study of
Rock Island’s history prior to the twentieth century. Though initially printed
separately, parts one and two were reprinted together in their entirety as one
volume, at the request of the RIA Commander Colonel Richard W. Bregard,
and the RIA Museum Director Mr. Daniel T. Whiteman.

Special thanks is extended to Mrs. Carol L. Secoy for providing
exemplary editorial and administrative support for this history. In addition,
gratitude is extended to the Field Printing Office for its professional
assistance.
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HERBERT P. LEPORE
Chief, Historical Office
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Below: Replica of Fort Armstrong
Blockhouse dedicated during the

Fort Armstrong Centennial Celebration
held June 18-26, 1916.

(From AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Right: North of OIld Stone Shops, on
Rodman Ave., built over a twenty-five
year period beginning in 1867.
(AMCCOM-HO)

INTRODUCTION
HISTORIC ROCK ISLAND

The history presently being preserved at the
Rock Island Arsenal encompasses more than the
history of the arsenal itself. It also includes the
frontier history of Fort Armstrong, the regional
history of Colonel Davenport, the regional
history of Black Hawk, the history of the first
bridge to span the Mississippi River, and the Civil
War history of the Rock Island Prison Barracks.
The entire island is listed on the National
Register of Historic Places, and is known as
Arsenal Island. In June 1988, the Secretary of
the Interior designated the old stone buildings,
which formed the 19th Century Rock Island
Arsenal, National Historic Landmarks.

The history of Rock Island is divided into three

successive eras: the regional history, and two
periods of “permanent” U.S. Government
occupancy on the island. The regional history
includes those events prior to 1816 which led to
the government establishing a military post on
the island. The military post and the depot era of
Fort Armstrong constituted the first “permanent”
presence of the U.S. Government on Rock
Island, and the establishment of Rock Island
Arsenal was the second. Rock Island has made
an indelible contribution to local history, as well
as contributions to national history.



Below: Pere Marquette, a Jesuit Missionary, and Louis Joliet, trader and explorer, were the first 'Europ.eans. to
travel the upper Mississippi River. They entered the river from Green Bay by way of the Fox River- Wl§cqn31n River
portage route in 1673. (lllinois State Historical Society Office, Old Market Building, Galena, lllinois)

CHAPTER ONE
ISLAND HISTORY PRIOR TO 1816

Rock lIsland was in the “backwaters” of
American history in the days of the Old
Northwest where the Mississipi River formed the
western boundary of the United States. History
seldom impacted on Rock Island in the middle of
the 18th and early 19th centuries.

On the occasions when it did, it was in support
of historical developments which were taking
place up river at such places as Prairie du Chien,
Dubuque, or Galena. The prospect of acquiring
wealth initially attracted Europeans and white
Americans to the fur trading area of Prairie du
Chien and the lead region of Dubuque. French
traders seeking to expand their Indian trade
discovered that the most convenient portage,
from the Great Lakes to the Mississipipi River,
was by the Fox River-Wisconsin waterway. At
each end of the route important French fur
trading communities developed. Prairie du
Chien, at the mouth of the Wisconsin River on
the Mississippi, and Green Bay on Lake
Michigan anchored both ends of the Fox River-
Wisconsin River portage route.

Prairie du Chien, not Rock Island, was

originally the leading fur trading post on the
upper Mississippi River. However, it was not
long before French-Canadian voyageurs and
coureur de bois from Prairie du Chien, began
extending trading operations down river. These
French-Canadians established trade with various
Indian tribes along the Mississippi River and its
main tributaries.

Voyageurs were French Canadians employed
by fur traders to transport “made goods” and
canoes from the remote regions of the Old
Northwest. A coureur de bois differed from a
voyageur in that he operated without a French
fur license, and he often illegally traded with the
British. Often the coureur de bois was a French-
Indian woodsman.

Early fur traders in the Rock Island area
paddled a canoe called the canot du nord or
North Canoe. The North Canoes were 20 feet in
length and could carry as much as a ton
of cargo besides its crew of eight
voyageurs. The cargo primarily consisted of
trade goods which were packed into 90 pound
bundles for easier handling. The bundles
contained the material needed for bartering such



Right: The Fox River - Wisconsin River
Portage Route was a convenient fur trading
route that linked the Great Lakes with

the Mississippi River.

(Jo Davies County Historical Society,
Galena, lllinois)

as cloth, kettles, traps,
ammunition, and whiskey.

Several French traders, and later British
agents, referred briefly in their journals to the
“big island” (Rock Island) at the bend of the
Mississippi River near the “upper rapids”. These
early journals mentioned in greater detail the
Sauk camp near the mouth of the Rock River and
also Credit Island, an island which was situated a
mile or so down stream from Rock Island.

French-Canadian traders seemed to prefer
Credit Island to Rock Island as the site of their
trading and established a small trading post on
Credit Island. These traders extended credit to
Indians in exchange for their promise of pelts.
The island, so associated with this practice,
became known as Credit Island. Later,
British traders often set up their trading camp on
Rock Island instead of Credit Island when
trading in the vicinity.

Occasionally, after trading, a French Canadian
coureur de bois, or a woodsman known as a
hiverant, would spend the winter at the Sauk
village on the Rock River. By living among the
Indians, the trader not only established good
relations with the Sauk, but he also protected his
investment by serving as a reminder to the tribe
of their debt. In 1763, France lost its colonial
possessions in North America to Great Britain as
a result of the French and Indian War. However,
many of the French-Canadian traders and
voyageurs continued to work in the fur trade,
first for the British and then later for the
Americans.

After the French and Indian War, the British
Government in Canada continued the French
practice of providing gifts to Indians. The tribes,
which made pilgrimages each spring to. the
Canadian communities of Montreal and later
Malden to council with their “great father”,
received presents. British medals and flags were
presented to Indians who agreed to trade with
British agents. Malden is situated near Windsor,
Canada.

blankets, guns,
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Foreign intrigues planned by British agents
successfully brought most of the Indian nations
of the Oild Northwest, including those of the
upper Mississippi River Valley, under the
influence of the British. During the American
Revolutionary War, almost every tribe of the Old
Northwest fought as auxiliaries for the British.

In 1778, Sauk and Fox warriors were among
the Indians who gathered at Montreal to receive
British presents and medals.” Later in 1780,
Sauk and Fox braves participated in an un-
successful attack on the town of Pencour, which
eventually became St. Louis, Missouri. These
Indians had joined a British force of soldiers,
traders, and other Indians from Prairie du Chien
in attacking Pencour. Lieutenant Colonel John
Montgomery, under orders from Colonel George
Rogers Clark, led a combined force of American
Rangers, and French, Spanish, and American
settlers from St. Louis in a retaliatory strike
against the Sauk village located at the mouth of
the Rock River. Colonel Montgomery and his
300 men supposedly burned the Sauk village,
making this action the westernmost conflict of
the American Revolution.?

Later, under the provisions of the 1783 Treaty

Paris which ended the American
the British ceded to the

of
Revolutionary War,

-



Below: Voyageurs “Shooting the Rapids”. Early fur traders used similar canoes in the Rock Island area. (Jo
Davies County Historical Society, Galena, lllinois)

United States a huge western tract of land known
as the Northwest Territory. The territory
included the present states of lllinois, Indiana,
Michigan, Ohio, Wisconsin, and part of
Minnesota.

Britain, however, unwilling to give up its
valuable trade with Indians of the territory,
continued to operate its trading companies on
American soil, from Canada. Long after the
treaty was signed, British agents continued to
trade along the upper Mississippi River Valiey,
including the Rock Island vicinity. British traders
used their influence among the indians to
discredit their competitors, the American
traders. The British Government in Canada,
acting in its own interest, agreed to supply arms
and ammunition to Indian leaders such as
Tecumseh, who formed an Indian confederacy to
counter the encroachments of American traders
and settlers into the Northwest. The noted Sauk
warrior, Black Hawk, was among the braves that
joined the confederacy. As American settlers
advanced through the frontier of the Northwest,
they defeated the confederacy at Fallen Timbers,
Ohio, in 1794 and at Tippecanoe Creek in 1811.

In dealing with the Indians of the Northwest

Territory, the United States Government
established the precedence of negotiating formal
treaties with the Indians to gain possession of
land they occupied. These treaties defined and
redefined boundary lines between advancing
white settlements and retreating Indian tribes. In
many of the treaties, provisions were added to
reserve the right of the United States Army to
establish forts at strategic locations within the
newly drawn boundaries of the Indian territory.
This chain of events formed a scenario which
was repeated as the American frontier advanced
through the Northwest territory.

Lead Mining and Other Trade with the Indians

in the 18th and early 19th Centuries, European
trade with the Sauk and Fox Indians involved
more than fur pelts. Although pelts were
profitable, Europeans also traded for lead, corn,
beeswax, feathers, and taliow.? Lead was of
particular importance to European and American
traders. In fact, Sauk and Fox women were
taught by Frenchmen to mine for lead and to
operate crude furnaces near the Fox villages,
which were close to the present city of Dubuque,
lowa. The Sauk of the Rock River region and the



Below: The 1840s lead mining community of Galena, Illinois. Note the smoke from the lead furnaces operating in

the hills. (Alfred W. Mueller, Galena Historical Collection)

Fox Indians of both the Rock

Island and
Dubuque vicinities developed a brisk trade in
lead with Europeans.

The French initially attempted to develop the
lead region of northeast lowa, northern lllinois,

and southern Wisconsin. However, a series of
Indian wars with the Fox Indian tribe severely
hindered French mining efforts. Fox warriors
periodically raided the fur and mining
expeditions that traveled the portage route
between Prairie du Chien and Green Bay. When
not actually raiding the expeditions, they
extracted a tribute from those that traveled the
route. The Fox tribe, in order to survive a war of
annihilation waged on them by the French, allied
themselves with the Sauk tribe from the Saginaw
Bay area of Michigan. Eventually, the two tribes
migrated to the mouth of the Rock River near
Rock Island.*

In 1788, the Fox Indians granted lead diggings
near the present city of Dubuque to Julien
Dubuque, a French trader. Miners such as
Dubuque shipped lead down river to St. Louis
instead of by portage to the Great Lakes.®

By purchasing the Louisiana Territory from
France in 1803, the United States doubled its
size, and opened the mouth of the Mississippi
River to American commerce. The Mississippi
River no longer formed the western boundary of
the U.S., and by the early 1820s, speculators
began leasing land in the lead region of the
upper Mississippi Valley from the United States
Government. Out of the mining area along the
Fever River in |lllinois grew the mining
community of Galena. Numbering less than 50
persons in 1822, Galena's population rose to
over 10,000 people a decade later. The sudden
influx of miners resulted in clashes between the
mining communities and Indians of the area.
This led to the “Winnebago War” of 1827. A
short-lived uprising led by Red Bird, a Winne-
bago chief, was easily put down by a show
of U.S. Army Regulars.

Federal Government Acquires Rock Island

In 1804, Rock Island came under Federal
control. President Thomas Jefferson instructed
the Governor of the Indiana Territory, William



Below: Lead furnace near Galena. Note the 75 Ib. lead “pigs” stacked behind the scale. (Alfred W. Mueller,

Galena Historical Collections)

Henry Harrison, to acquire Indian lands which
adjoined the Mississippi River and its tributaries.
Harrison, later the ninth President of the United
States, made an effort to obtain Indian land
cessions. Through bribery, liquor, and threats,
he succeeded in obtaining these lands and
seized every opportunity to “negotiate” away the
Indian lands.®

In November 1804, four Sauk chiefs and two
Fox chiefs arrived in St. Louis to meet with
Harrison regarding the release of a Sauk brave
being held for killing a white man. Harrison,
during negotiations for the release of this brave,
persuaded the chiefs to sign a treaty which
ceded to the U.S. a vast tract of land controlled
by the respective tribes. The ceded land
included territory on both sides of the
Mississippi River, roughly between the
Wisconsin River on the north and the Missouri
River on the south; and extending east to the
middle of the present lllinois River and west as
far as the watershed region between Des Moines
and the Missouri River. Both the Sauk villages
on the Rock River and Rock Island were included
in the land purchase.

In return, the Indians were to receive the

official protection and friendship of the United
States, and were to be paid $2,234.50 in goods,
plus an additional guaranteed annuity of $1,000
in goods to be received annually thereafter.’

A story regarding the unethical practices used
by William Henry Harrison during negotiations
with the Sauk and Fox chiefs has been included
in several historical works of the Rock Island
area.® The minor chiefs supposedly told
members of their tribes that they were inebriated
during the majority of their stay in St. Louis. The
chiefs explained that the $2,234.50 of trade
goods they were to receive from the Federal
Government was instead given to Pierre
Chouteau, a wealthy French fur trader, for
payment of the chiefs’ expenses. Chouteau
witnessed the signing of the treaty and also
served as host for William Henry Harrison during
his visit to St. Louis. As for the brave being held
by army authorities, he allegedly was shot while
running from his guards.®

Later, a dispute over the meaning of Article
Seven of the 1804 Treaty led to the undoing of
the Sauk and Fox Indians in lllinois. Article
Seven stated:

As long as the lands which are now



Below: An 1829 map of the U.S. lead mines in the upper Mississippi River region. At that time, the mines were

worked by private individuals who paid the U.S. Government a tenth of all the lead manufactured for the
Much of the lead was shipped down the Mississippi Rive

St. Louis.

privilege.

r, through the Upper Rapids at Rock Island, on its way to

d, and the Upper Rapids appear at the lower left corner of the map.

Fort Armstrong, Rock Islan

(Wisconsin State Historical Society)
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Below: The Old Chouteau Mansion in St. Louis, MO.

Right: Brothers Pierre and Auguste Chouteau, early
French fur traders who respectively participated

in the 1804 and 1816 U.S. treaty negotiations

with Sauk and Fox Indians. (Both photos from
Augustana College Library Special Collections)

ceded to the United States remain their
property, the Indians belonging to said
tribes (Sauk and Fox) shall enjoy the
privilege of living and hunting upon
them.™

The six chiefs who agreed to the 1804 treaty
were supplied with liguor, however, not
unknowingly. Liquor was certainly nothing new
to the chiefs for Sauk and Fox Indians had been
trading with French and British agents for over a
century and a half. Many traders included liguor
as part of the trade goods offered the Indians of
the upper Mississippi River Valley.

The chiefs probably believed they were
receiving free liquor in exchange for granting
Americans the use of hunting grounds they
already shared with other tribes. Furthermore,
the White American concept of land as property
was foreign to Indians. Adding to their
confusion were the differences they encountered
negotiating with American agents rather than
Europeans. Europeans gave “presents” to the
Indians after counseling them. They also readily
extended them credit for pelts yet to be trapped.

Pierrve Chouteau

A or oy o = .
auguste Chouteau

The British especially ingratiated themselves
with the Sauk Indians through the use of these
tactics. The gifts and credit placed them in good
favor with the Sauk, while at the same time
indebting the Indians to the British for some
future request or deed.

In contrast, the U.S. Government would not
allow its agents to extend credit to Indians.
United States agents were instructed to receive
either pelts, land, or something tangible in
exchange for their trade goods. For several
years after the treaty, many Sauk braves believed
that the $1,000 annuities they received from U.S.
agents were “presents” rather than payments for
their land."" As experienced as the Sauk and
Fox were in dealing with Europeans, they
nevertheless struck a “bad bargain” with William
Henry Harrison.

Rock Island Comes to the Attention of the U.S.
Army

Lieutenant Zebulon Pike first brought Rock
Island to the attention of the U.S. Army. In 1805,



Right: William Henry Harrison, the first Governor of the

Indiana Territory which included lllinois, was appointed

special commissioner to negotiate boundary treaties with

various Indian tribes. Later, William Henry Harrison

became the ninth President of the United States. (AMCCOM-HQO)
Below: Excerpt from beginning paragraph of the 1804

Treaty with Sauk and Fox Indians cited below. Note

that the purpose of the article was to bring the two

tribes under U.S. influence by restricting the tribes’

dealings with foreign powers. (AMCCOM-HO)

A Treaty between the United States of America
and the United States of Sac and Fox Indians

Articles of a Treaty made at St. Louls in the
District of Louisiana Between William Henry
Harrison, Government of the Indiana Territory
and District and Commissioner Plenepotentary of
the United States for concluding any treaty or
treaties which may be found necessary with any
of the Northwestern Tribes of Indians of the
one part, and the chiefs and headmen of the
United Sac and Fox Tribes of the other part.

Article 1. The United States receive
the United Sac and Fox Tribes into their
friendship and protection, and the said
tribes agree to consider themselves under the
protection of the United States, and of no
other power whatsoever.

Lower Right. Early U.S. Army posts near

St. Louis, MO, such as Fort Bellefontaine,

Camp Adams, Cantonment Miller, and Jefferson
Barracks, served as the starting points for
numerous military expeditions and exploratory
ventures into the upper Mississippi River Valley.
Jefferson Barracks is depicted in early sketch

to the right. (Augustana College Library Special
Collections)

he led an expedition up the Mississippi River
from St. Louis. His instructions were to gather
information regarding the river and to note
potential sites for the construction of forts which
were to be strategically located in the new
territory. In addition, Pike was to record British
activity among the Indians of the upper

Mississippi River Valley. Based on Pike's report,
Congress passed legislation in June 1809 to
reserve Rock Island, or “big island” as it was
referred to in Pike's journal, as a federal military
reservation.

Pike recorded several chance meetings with
individuals and groups on his journey up the



Below: Lieutenant Zebulon Pike, who in 1805 led an exploring party up the Mississippi River, is pictured at the

lower left. (Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk State Park)

Right: Winter lodge of Sauk and Fox Indians. (Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk State Park)

Mississippi River. In the vicinity of Rock Island,
he met with James Aird, a fur trader from Prairie
du Chien who operated a trading camp on Credit
Island. Mr. Aird informed Pike that in 1781 or
1782 the Sauk village on the Rock River was
burned down by about 300 Americans. This
account corroborated the story regarding
Colonel Montgomery's raid on the Sauk village
during the American Revolution. According to
his journal, Pike met with four canoes of Sauk
warriors near Rock Island.
We met four canoes of the Sacs, with
wicker baskets filled with young
pigeons. They made motions to
exchange them for liquor to which |
merely turned the back of my hand.*?
Another encounter with Sauk warriors was also
included in the Pike journal. Pike mentioned in
his journal a meeting he had with a Captain
Many, who was traveling the river in search of
Osage Indian prisoners among the Sauk and Fox
Indians of the region. Captain Many told Pike
that the Sauk expressed hostility towards
Americans during his visit to their village near

10

Pike also wrote that a White
working as a government
representative, was living among the Sauk and
Fox Indians of the Rock Island vicinity. The

Rock Island.
American,

American was hired to teach the Indians
methods of farming; but, according to Pike, was
fired the following year for neglecting his job.
The teacher's position was a provision of the
1804 treaty with the Indians.

Sauk and Fox Indians

Lieutenant Pike's journal supported the claim
that Sauk and Fox warriors had a reputation for
being hostile. When Fox and Sauk warriors
controlled the Fox River-Wisconsin River
portage, they were notorious for demanding
tribute from those who traveled the route. They
were also fond of ‘“taking” pelts from
neighboring tribes. French traders at Green Bay,
tired of the hostile ways of the two tribes, formed
an alliance with the Menominee, the Ottawas,
and the Chippewas and forced the Sauk and Fox



Below: Traditional Sauk and Fox summer lodge covered with tree bark. (Quad Cities Times Newspaper, Photo

Archives.)

from the area. Migrating to the Rock River in
present day lllinois, the Sauk and Fox warriors in
turn drove the lllini Indians from the Rock Island
and Rock River regions.

In addition to defeating the lllini and nearly
annihilating the entire Mascoutin tribe, the Sauk
and Fox Indians also sent war parties out against
the Menominees, the Sioux, the Pawnee, and the
Osage, among others. Today, writers and local
museum curators tend to emphasize the Sauk’s
planting, mining, and hunting skills rather than
their fighting ability. However, the Sauk and Fox
were proud of their reputation as fierce warriors.

11

American artist George Catlin referred to a
Sauk village on the north banks of the Rock River
as “Saug-e-nug” in his 1837 writings. This may
explain the popular use of the term “Saukenuk”
for the name of the village. Aithough neither
tribe located its village on Rock Island, they
frequently visited the island to gather berries,
nuts, fish, and hunt game.

Black Hawk’s British Band and the War of 1812

Sauk and Fox chiefs attempted to honor the
1804 agreement with the U.S. Government.



Below: Sauk warrior Black Hawk as painted by American artist George Catlin. The original painting by George
Catlin is in the National Portrait Gallery, Smithsonian Institution, Washington, D.C. (AMCCOM-HO Archives).

However, when war broke out between the
United States and Britain in 1812, a large band of
Indians led by the Sauk warrior Black Hawk
chose to fight as auxiliaries for the British. Black
Hawk, also called Ma-Ka-Tai-Me-She-Kia-Kiak
or “Black Sparrow Hawk” allegedly offered his
services to American soldiers at Fort Madison;
but the soldiers declined the offer. It was known
that Black Hawk was displeased with the
Americans at Fort Madison for refusing to extend
him credit for winter supply goods. Therefore,
when the British traders arrived at Rock Island,
he readily welcomed them. These traders had a
variety of gifts for the Indians and a confidential
message for Black Hawk. The message, from a
British colonel, urged Black Hawk to raise a war
party and join the British force at Green Bay.

The British Colonel was Robert Dickson, a
British trader active in recruiting Indians to aid
the British in the War of 1812. He had long been
a trader at Prairie du Chien.

Black Hawk raised the war party, traveled to
Green Bay, and for a time fought as an ally of the

12

British during the War of 1812. Despite his desire
to wage war down the Mississippi Valley, the
British instructed Black Hawk to fight with their
troops near Detroit. Black Hawk and his Sauk
warriors were present during the Fort Dearborn
Massacre of 15 August 1812, However, after
initial success, the fighting did not go well for the
British, and Black Hawk returned to his village
on the Rock River.

Though he returned to the village, Black Hawk
remained hostile toward the United States. On
three occasions during the War of 1812, Black
Hawk led Sauk warriors against U.S. military
forces attempting to journey up river from St.
Louis.

Governor William Clark of the Missouri
Territory, and famous partner of the explorer
Meriwether Lewis, organized the first expedition
from St. Louis in 1814. Clark intended to build a
fort near Prairie du Chien to protect American fur
traders in the upper Mississippi River Valley, and
to create a buffer protecting St. Louis from
British and Indian attack via the Mississippi



Below: William Clark, Governor and Superintendent of Indian Affairs for the Missouri Territory. He supervised the
U.S. Indian agents at Fort Armstrong. (Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk State Park)

Right: The 1905 dedication of the lllinois State Memorial commemorating the 1814 Battle of Campbell’s Island.

(Rock Island County Historical Society)

River.

With the exception of a skirmish with Sauk
Indians near Rock Island, Clark's expedition
uneventfully made its way up river to Prairie du
Chien. At Prairie du Chien, Clark’'s men erected
a stockade and named it Fort Shelby. The
detachment of American troops left behind at
Fort Shelby were attacked by the British, forcing
them to abandon Fort Shelby and return to St.
Louis. As they returned to St. Louis, the troops
were again fired on by Sauk warriors as they
passed Rock Island.

An earlier attempt by American soldiers to
strengthen the garrison at Fort Shelby also
failed. Lieutenant John Campbell, with three
keelboats loaded with 133 regular army and
volunteer soldiers, embarked from St. Louis in
early July 1814 for Prairie du Chien. On 19
July, Campbell’'s expedition departed Rock
Island and immediately encountered bad
weather. Forced ashore on an island six miles
upstream from Rock Island, Campbell's vessel
came under attack by Indians. Black Hawk and
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other Sauk warriors had been trailing the three
boats and ambushed the stranded craft.
Lieutenant Campbell and several members of his

crew escaped to another vessel. The National
Intelligencier of August 1814 stated the number
of killed and wounded in this engagement to
have been thirty-six. Lieutenant Campbell and
surgeon’'s mate Dr. Abraham Stewart were
among the wounded.” Black Hawk pillaged the
abandoned keelboat, while Sauk braves scalped
the mortally wounded and the dead left behind.
Later, according to Black Hawk’'s own account of
this incident, the Sauk warriors “put on the
clothes of the dead soldiers and danced over
their scalps”. Black Hawk's account of this
incident is recorded by Antoine LeClaire, a
government interpreter and prominent
businessman of the Rock Island area. According
to LeClaire, Black Hawk stated that he gave the
books and papers found on Campbell’'s boat to
British soldiers.

Lieutenant Campbell’'s boat, partially
destroyed by fire, remained at the battle site and



Right: Colonel Zachary Taylor

who in the War of 1812 unsuccessfully
fed U.S. forces against Sauk and Fox
Indians at the Battle of Credit Island.
Nearly twenty years later, Colonel
Taylor would lead U.S. Infantry Regulars
to victory over Sauk and Fox Indians in the
Black Hawk War of 1832, Eventually,
Zachary Taylor would become the
twelfth President of the United States.
(AMCCOM-HO Archives)

for years was a landmark for river boats. Since
this historic battle, the island has been referred
to as Campbell's Island. The Illinois state
legislature, around 1904, appropriated $5,000 for
a monument to be placed on Campbell's Island
in commemoration of those who fought and died
in the battle.

Zachary Taylor and the Battle of Credit Island

During the War of 1812, Zachary Taylor, later
the twelfth President of the United States, led a
reprisal attack against the Sauk of the Rock River
region. In September 1814, as a Brevet Major,
Taylor left St. Louis with 334 men, primarily
militia and rangers, but also including a few
regular army soldiers. His mission was to
undertake a retaliatory strike against the Sauk to
punish them for their attacks on the earlier
American expeditions of Governor Clark and
Lieutenant Campbell. However, before he could
attack, his vessels were discovered. British
artillery placed on Credit Island and Sauk
musket fire riddled Major Taylor's vessels,
forcing them to retreat back to St. Louis.
Lieutenant Duncan Graham was the officer-in-
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charge of the British troops who aided the

Indians. Sergeant John Keating of the Royal
Artillery Regiment earned a commission as a
lieutenant for his efforts in the Battles of Credit
Island and Fort McKay. Besides providing
artillery, the British had gathered a large war
party with Indians from other pro-British tribes to
aid the Sauk and Fox in their fight against the
Americans. Greatly outnumbered, there was
little more Zachary Taylor could do but retreat.'*

British Control of the Upper Mississippi River
Valley

The rivalry between Great Britain and the
United States for dominance over the Indians of
the Northwest was a contributing factor to the
War of 1812. The British in Canada, acting in
their own self-interest without regard to the
safety of Americans, began supplying arms and
ammunition to Indians known to be hostile
toward Americans. Congress considered British
support of the Indians as one of the reasons for
declaring war against Great Britain.

During the War of 1812, Great Britain
temporarily gained control of the upper



Right: Sauk warrior Black Hawk was the leader of
the last hostile Indian uprising in the State of
lllinois, known as the Black Hawk War of 1832.
Black Hawk stated that Rock Island supplied his
tribe with fruits, nuts, and plenty of fish

from the rapids. He said he spent happy

times on the island and that a good spirit

lived in a cave in the rocky bluffs beneath

the fort. “But the noise of the fort has

since driven him away and no doubt a bad
spirit has taken his place.”

Black Hawk's Autobiography

(AMMCOM-HO Archives)

Mississippi River Valley and the Great Lakes
region of the lllinois Territory. American
authority in the territory north of Fort Edwards
collapsed. (The location of Fort Edwards is cited
on the map on page 18). The war ended with the
British in control of all the U.S. forts and the U.S.
Government trading factories in the lllinois
Territory above a line that stretched from Fort
Edwards to Peoria.

Pro-British sentiment remained strong among
some of the Indians of the Northwest after the
war. Indians such as the Sauk and Fox
continued to trade with the British after the War
of 1812 and, as late as 1820, Sauk warriors such
as Black Hawk continued to make their annual
pilgrimage to Fort Malden, Canada, to receive
presents during their visit with their “British
Father.” Five years after the end of the War of
1812, some Indians, such as the Sauk of Rock
River, continued to display the British flag and
British medals in their village. The British in
Canada had cast a special silver medal to honor
Black Hawk for efforts during the war.'s

Major Morrell Marston, while commanding
officer of Fort Armstrong, wrote to Jedediah
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Morse in November 1820 that he considered it

important that, as soon as possible, the
government should exchange all British flags
and medals the Indians had in their possession
for American ones. He also wrote that the flags
given to them ought to be made of silk which
would make them as durable and portable as the
British flags. According to Major Marston, these
American flags should be large to match the size
of the British flags.'®

Treaty of Portages des Sioux

Though Black Hawk’s warriors had been
successful in thwarting American expeditions up
river from St. Louis, the war was not totally
successful for the British. On 24 December 1814,
the War of 1812 concluded with the signing of
the Treaty of Ghent. Though peace with the
British was achieved, such was not the case with
their Indian mercenaries or allies.

However, in 1815, President James Madison
appointed Missouri Territorial Governor William
Clark, lllinois Territorial Governor Ninian
Edwards, and Auguste Chouteau, a St. Louis fur
trader, as commissioners to negotiate treaties



Below: Often government trading factories were established at military posts. (Fort Howard at Green Ba y was one
(AMCCOM-HO)

Right: A typical fur trader of the Northwest Territory. (Augustana College Library Special Collections)

such post.

with the principal tribes who aided the British
during the War of 1812. Nine months later, in
September 1815, the U.S. signed a separate
peace treaty at Portages des Sioux with all but a
few of the Indians who had fought for the British.
Instead of attending the peace conference, the
Sauk of the Rock River sent messengers to
Canada to meet with the British. However, the
messengers returned without a promise of aid
from the British. Receiving no support from the
British and fearing an attack by American troops,
the Sauk of the Rock River agreed to peace
terms in St. Louis on 13 May 1816. The treaty
approved by Sauk leaders, including Black
Hawk, reaffirmed the United States
Government’'s claim to Sauk and Fox Indian
lands according to the terms set down in the
treaty of 1804.

Government Trading Factories

As early as 1795, 17 years before the War of
1812, the U.S. Government devised a plan to
reduce the presence of private traders upon the
Indians of the Mississippi River Valley. The
Federal Government established a system of
government trading factories and trading posts
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in the Northwest. These government owned and
operated trading houses made the Indians more
economically dependent upon the United States,
and by doing so, diminished the influence of
foreign traders upon them. The government
intended the trading factories to also provide the
Indians with a more equitable deal than they had
been receiving from private traders, especially
the unscrupulous ones.

Unfortunately, the government trading
factories were ineffective and too costly to
maintain. They had higher overhead than the
private traders, which may account for the fact
that the government prices were usually higher
than those of the private trader. In addition to
being more expensive, the quality of the
government goods was reported to be inferior to
those of the private trader. The Indians
continued, however, to trade with foreign agents
and private American traders, though ostensibly
under government control.”

A note written by Major Morrell Marston, the
commanding officer at Fort Armstrong on Rock
Island from August 1819 - June 1821, best
expressed the Indian attitude toward attempts by
the U.S. Government to compete with private



Right: Private traders regularly

traveled to the Indian villages with

their trade goods, contrary to the

practice of government traders, who
operated trading posts known as factories.
(Augustana College Library Special
Collections)

traders for their Indian trade. According to Major
Marston, a typical reply by Indians in his vicinity,
when informed that the President of the United
States supplied the trade goods at the
government trading houses, was:

You are a pasi-i-to (a fool), our Great
Father is certainly no trader; he has
sent those goods to be given to use, as
presents, but his agents are
endeavoring to cheat us, by selling
them for our peltries.'®
After the War of 1812, the U.S. Government
reestablished trading factories at Prairie du
Chien, Chicago, and Green Bay. In 1818, for
example, the government added a trading house
at Fort Edwards and, in 1819, it was operating
independently. The high traffic of liquor traded
to Sauk and Fox Indians between the region of
Fort Edwards and Rock lIsland led to the
establishment of the federal trading factory at
Fort Edwards. The trading of liquor to Indians,
though illegal, was however commonly practiced
by French, Spanish, English, and American
Traders. As an aside, Indians of the upper
Mississippi Valley purportedly traded
anything they possessed for whiskey. Those
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Indians supposedly bartered away an entire
season’s worth of pelts, clothing off their backs,
their weapons used for hunting, and their
women, to traders for liquor."®

At the factories or trading posts, furs were
sorted as to grade and quality, and treated and
pressed into bales in preparation for shipment.
Trading houses, such as the Fort Edwards
factory, shipped pelts and skins of deer, bear,
beaver, otter, raccoon, and muskrat down river to
St. Louis. During the winter season of 1819, the
Sauk and Fox Indians supplied five traders with
nine hundred and eighty packs of peltries. They
consisted of 2,760 beaver skins, 922 otter, 13,440
raccoons, 12,900 muskrats, 500 mink, 200 wild
cats, 680 bear skins and 28,680 deer peltries.
The estimated value of the furs was cited at
$58,000 dollars.2> A manager supervised each
factory and, at times had a staff that included
clerks, laborers and interpreters.

Government trading factories were too few
and scattered to have had any effective impact
on the fur trading business of the Northwest.
The government estimated that during their peak
years the factories only handled 10 percent of
the fur business. Indians saw little advantage in



Right: Fort Armstrong, Fort Edwards,
Fort Crawford, and Fort Snelling formed
a chain of military posts, built along

the upper Mississippi River, in 1816-
1819. The U.S. Army constructed them
to control the Indians and their trade,
and to keep the river open to commerce.
(AMCCOM-HO)

trading at the factories. It was more convenient
for them to deal with private traders who
traveled to their villages than to transport their
pelts on a long journey to one of the scattered
government trading houses. In addition, the
government trading factories did not extend
credit or offer liquor. Government trading
factories eventually lost out to the powerful
American Fur Company of John Jacob Astor and
were abolished in 1822.

Act of 1816 and the American Fur Company

Congress passed the Act of 1816 that
prohibited foreigners from engaging in trade
with the Indians on American soil. John Jacob
Astor, the leading American fur trading
entrepreneur, lobbied for the passage of the bill.
After securing the legislation, Astor immediately
expanded the American Fur Company and set
into motion his plan to control the entire fur
trading business within the United States. He
purchased the remaining third of the Southwest
Company which he had earlier formed with
Montreal merchants, thus making him the sole
owner. Astor then acquired a number of trading
posts of the British Northwest Company, which
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were on American soil in the Great Lakes region
of the United States, and secured the services of
the best traders in the upper Mississippi River
Valley and Great Lakes region in his effort to
corner the fur trade. The beginning of the
American Fur Company’s operation in the
Northwest in 1817 coincided with the army's
establishment of a series of military posts
throughout the region. Two agents of the
American Fur Company in the Rock Island
vicinity were Colonel George Davenport and
Russell Farnham, both of whom played
significant roles in Rock lIsland’'s history.

Army Establishes U.S. Authority in Valley

The War Department, acting in support of the
Fur Trading Act of 1816, began that same year to
reassert its authority over the Northwest. The
U.S. Army planned to construct a chain of
military posts through the upper Mississippi
River Valley and the Great Lakes region. The
purpose of constructing these posts was twofold:
the forts provided safety for American fur
traders; and, at the same time, prevented British
and French-Canadian traders from operating in
the area.
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Below: Fort Snelling, built in 1819, was originally named Fort Saint Anthony Falls. In 1824, it was renamed for its
first commander Josiah Snelling. The fort was situated on a high bluff at the confluence of the Minnesota and
Mississippi Rivers. The construction of Fort Snelling completed a series of U.S. forts built to reestablish United
States control of the upper Mississippi River Valley. Today, it is a historical site of the Minnesota State Historical
Society. Fort Armstrong, at Rock Island, was another of these posts built after the War of 1812. (AMCCOM-HO)

During the period from 1816-1819, the United
States Army reconstructed Fort Dearborn near
Chicago, built Fort Howard at Green Bay, and
constructed Fort Crawford at Prairie du Chien.
These forts effectively prevented foreign traders
from using the Fox River-Wisconsin Waterway
portage to enter the Mississippi River Valley. In
addition to Fort Crawford, two smaller posts
were constructed in 1816-1817. They were Fort
Armstrong at Rock Island and Fort Edwards at
the mouth of the Des Moines River. In 1819, Fort
Snelling, constructed at the confluence of the
Minnesota and Mississippi Rivers, completed the
series of forts along the upper Mississippi River
Valley.? The army strategically placed the forts
where it did to impress the Indians and monitor
their trade. Government Indian agencies were
also frequently established at or near these
military posts.

indian Agents

Indian agents and their subordinate agents
were the official civilian representatives of the
U.S. Government at many of the forts of the
upper Mississippi River Valley. Agents, such as
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Thomas Forsyth at Fort Armstrong, provided a
communication link between the Sauk and Fox
Indians and the Federal Government. The duties
of Forsyth and his subagents included
administration of the government's treaty
obligations such as the payment of annuities to
the Sauk and Fox tribes. Forsyth’s other duties
included granting licenses for trade with the
Indians; enforcing regulations pertaining to the
fur trade; distributing presents to principal
chiefs; and receiving visiting Indians. indian
agents also performed the difficult task of
explaining new government regulations and
correcting Indian misconceptions of past
treaties.

An example of an Indian agent performing
such duties occurred in 1818, when agent
Thomas Forsyth informed the Sauk and Fox
tribes that the annuities they had been
receiving were not presents but actually part of
the purchase price for their lands. Although
many Indians continued to accept the annuities,
some did not. Black Hawk among others,
refused to receive any annuities after hearing
Forsyth.2?



Right: Fort Armstrong, active
1816-1836, was situated on the
northwest corner of Rock Island,
strategically placed to control
both channels of the Mississippi
River. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

CHAPTER TWO

FORT ARMSTRONG: THE FIRST PRESENCE OF FEDERAL GOVERNMENT ON ROCK

ISLAND

In the spring of 1816, Brevet Brigadier General
Thomas A. Smith was dispatched from St. Louis
to Rock Island. As earlier mentioned the War
Department instructed the army to build a
number of military posts on the upper
Mississippi River to deter British and other
foreign trading outfits from operating in the river
valley. General Smith, remembering the defeats
inflicted upon U.S. expeditions by Sauk and Fox
Indians, selected Rock Island as a site for one of
the forts.?

Brigadier General Smith arrived at Rock Island
in early May 1816 and chose the western tip of
the lower end of the island as the construction
side for the fort. From this site U.S. troops could
observe the troublesome Sauk and Fox Indians;
protect American fur traders; be kept apprised of
any foreign intrigues; and keep open a line of
communication and commerce to Prairie du
Chien and other posts further up river.
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On 10 May 1816, a detachment of troops from
the U.S. 8th Infantry landed on the island and
immediately began building a fort. Shortly
thereafter, General Smith and a detachment of
troops proceeded up river to construct Fort
Crawford at Prairie du Chien. In General Smith’s
absence, Colonel William Lawrence assumed
command of the construction site at Rock Istand
and, upon completion, the fort at Rock Island
was named Fort Armstrong in honor of John
Armstrong.

John Armstrong had been an army officer in
the American Revolutionary War and later
served as United States Secretary of War during
President James Madison’'s administration. His
role in the U.S. invasion of Canada during the
War of 1812, coupled with the British retaliatory
capture of Washington and their burning of the
capital, led ironically to Armstrong’s resignation
as Secretary of War in 1814.



Below: View of Fort Armstrong. Note the absence of fortified walls on the sides facing the river. The 25’ to 30’
high blutfs provided sufficient protection. Also noticeable are the caves beneath the bluff that Black Hawk
referred to in his autobiography. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Description of Fort Armstrong

In many respects Fort Armstrong represented
the army’s stock plan for building military posts
on the western frontier. It had squared hewn
timbers with dovetailed corners; and its
blockhouses had an overhang and a monitored
roof which provided a lookout station. Usually,
buildings such as the barracks, which were made
from hewn timber, formed the exterior walls of
the fort. Noticeable was the fact these
buildings had inward sloping shed-type roofs.

At many of the frontier military posts, pickets
were stationed to guard against surprise attacks.
In 1817, the army assigned Major Stephen H.
Long, a topographical engineer, the task of
charting the Mississippi River as far north as
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Prairie du Chien. On 2 August 1817, Major Long
wrote in his journal probably the best description
of Fort Armstrong. He wrote:
The Fort (Armstrong) is situated
immediately upon the lower extremity
of Rock Island, at which place the
shores are perpendicular cliffs of
limestone 30 feet high. In some
instances the cliffs project over their
base and even some parts of the Fort
overhang the water.
Major Long elaborated with the following
detailed description of Fort Armstrong:
The Fort (Armstrong) has two entire
faces only, the other two sides being
sufficiently fortified against an assault
by the cliffs before mentioned. The



Below: Fort Armstrong, about 1845, probably during its last days as an army depot. Note that the fort had three
blockhouses with the one towards the interior being the largest. (AMCCOM-HQO Archives)

east face commences immediately
upon the top of the cliff, where here is a
Block (No. 1) 2 stories high and 21 feet
square. The front upon this side is 277
feet including a Block House (No. 2) at
the NE corner of the Fort 26 feet
square. The North face forms a tight
angle with the east and extends from
Block House No. 2 to the North
Channel of the River, where it is
terminated by Block House No. 3 of the
same dimensions as No. 1, presenting a
front of this side of 288 feet. Both faces
are flanked by Block House No. 2, the
other Block Houses being placed in
such a manner as to form a part of the
Front of the two faces. The Block
Houses are all two stories high, their
second stories being placed diagonally
upon the firstt No. 2 has also a
basement story which is used as a store
house. The faces are made up
principally by the rear walls of the
Barracks and store houses. They are
about 20 feet high and furnished with
two rows of loop holes for muskets.
The spaces between the buildings are
fortified by walls of stone about 8 feet
high supporting a breast work of timer
5 feet high.

The buildings ranged along the
Faces contain 7 rooms 20 feet square
upon each side; 8 of which are
occupied as soldiers quarters, 3 as
hospital, 2 as store houses, and 1 as
Guard House. On the south and west

sides detached from other parts of the
works are situated 2 other buildings
(one word illegible) 64 feet long & 16
wide, containing four rooms each,
designed for officers quarters. In the
SW corner is a 2-story building with low
wings designed as quarters for the
Commanding Officer and Offices for
the use of the Garrison. The body of
the building is furnished with Piazzas
on both sides, and the whole combines
a degree of taste and elegance worthy
of imitation at all other military posts in
this part of the country.
The works are contructed principally
of square timber, the lower part of the
block houses including embrasures (an
opening for a gun in the wall or
parapet) is of stone. The Magazine also
is of stone, 7 by 10 feet in the clear, its
walls 4 feet in thickness. Besides these,
there are a few other buildings outside
the Garrison, viz. a smith shop, sutler's
and contractor's stores, a stable, etc.®
Fort Armstrong’'s strategic position on the
western tip of Rock Island’s lower end provided
the fort with command of both channels of the
Mississippi River. Troops constructed
fortifications only on the two sides of the post
facing inland. Steep bluffs eliminated the need
for two fort walls and one blockhouse. The three
block houses of the fort anchored the walls
which faced the interior of the island, and three
companies of infantry were quartered in the
barracks. Additional buildings housed the fort's
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Below: Excerpted from a report by Major Morrell M. Marston, Fort Armstrong Commander, 1819-1821, to Major
General Macomb, dated September 10, 1819. Note that Major Marston’s report refers to the three blockhouses
being equipped with three 6-pounders (cannons). (AMCCOM-HO)

surgeon, interpreter, Indian agent, blacksmith,
servants, officer, and commandant.

The Garrison at Fort Armstrong

Nearly 1,000 men comprised General Smith’s
expedition, which constructed military posts
near the mouths of three major tributaries to the
Mississippi River. The expeditions were
composed of 800 regular army soldiers and 150
taborers, which actually comprised at that time
approximately 1/10 of the nation’'s standing
army.
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During construction, Fort Armstrong had a
garrison of 600 soldiers; but, shortly thereafter its
number was reduced to less than 200 troopers.
Frequently, between 1824-1836, the garrison at
Fort Armstrong fell below 100 soldiers.

Fort Crawford, located near the mouth of the
Wisconsin River, had a garrison strength of
approximately double the size of Fort Armstrong.
Fort Edwards, the first of the three posts to be
constructed, was situated near the mouth of the
Des Moines River at the site of the present
community of Warsaw, lllinois, and generally
had a smaller garrison than Fort Armstrong. Its
garrison strength consistently numbered below
100 men. |In 1824, the U.S. Army closed fort
Edwards. However, Fort Armstrong continued
as an active military post until 1836 and an army
garrison remained at Fort Crawford until 1856.

The initial site selection of Fort Crawford, near
Prairie du Chien, was poor. Spring floods forced
the selection of a new site further back from the
Mississippi River. Fort Crawford was abandoned
briefly in 1826, but reestablished only a short
time later with the construction of a new stone
fort.



Below: Fort Crawford, near Prairie du Chien, Wisconsin, at the confluence of the Wisconsin River and the

Mississippi River.

Spring floods forced the selection of a new site farther back from the river.

The post was

abandoned briefly in 1826, but with the increasingly hostile Indian situation a new stone fort was constructed.

(Davenport Public Library Special Collections)

The small army posts situated in the West,
along the upper Mississippi River, were isolated
from civilization especially during the winter
months when the river froze over. Periodic stops
by supply boats or mail couriers who arrived by
river or by overland routes broke the isolation

with news from the East. Each post, however,
was also visited by an inspector general who
attempted annually to conduct an inspection
tour of all posts on the western frontier. His visits
brought military discipline to the posts and
raised the esprit de corps of troops whose spirit
and training had eroded due to isolation and the
lack of soldierly instruction.

From 1826 to 1845, Colonel George Croghan,
a hero of the War of 1812, served as the inspector
general of these outposts. Colonel Croghan
annually toured the western frontier inspecting
posts and preparing first hand comments of
activities at the forts for inclusion in his official
reports to Washington.

His inspection report of Fort Armstrong in
August 1826 praised the post for the excellent
deportment displayed by its soldiers. Colonel
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Croghan attributed the discipline to the lack of
whiskey available at Fort Armstrong during
Major J.H. Vose's command. Major Vose
enforced general orders which restricted each
soldier's purchase of liquor to one gill (4 of a
pint or four ounces). The four ounce daily ration
from the post sutler was poured out at the mess
hall door. Soldiers who received permission to
purchase whiskey received a half-a-gill ration
(two ounces) just before breakfast, and the
remaining two ounces at dinner. Although
general orders from the Adjutant General’s
Office restricted, then banned, the daily ration of
alcohol at military posts, replacing it with coffee,
the soldiers at Fort Armstrong and other
installations managed to purchase a steady
supply of liquor from other sources.?

The life of a soldier at Fort Armstrong tended
to be routine, especially during the winter
months when the Mississippi River froze over
and the river closed to navigation.

The soldiers, in addition to their military tasks
of performing guard duty, drilling, and keeping
the peace, served as carpenters, teamsters,



Below: A partial listing of the Commanding Officers of Fort Armstrong, 1819-1832. These officers commanded
the fort during the events which led to the Black Hawk War of 1832. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

FORT ARMSTRONG

Commanding Officer Date: From To Garrison:

Capt. M. Marston, Aug --, 1819 Jun --, 1821 Company F

Fifth Infantry

Capt. S. Burbank, Jun --, 1821 Jun --, 1823 Company D,E,F, and H
Fifth Infantry

Maj. J. H. Vose, Jun --, 1823 Jun 4, 1825 Company D,E,F, and H
Fifth Infantry May 21, 1826 Oct 9, 1827 Fifth Infantry

Capt. J. Plympton, Oct 9, 1827 Apr 28, 1828 Companies E and H
Fifth Infantry Fifth Infantry

Capt. J. Green, Apr 30, 1828 Jun --, 1828 Companies C and G
Third Infantry Third Infantry

Capt. J. S. Nelson, Jun --, 1828 Aug 13, 1828 Companies C and G

Third Infantry

Capt. John Bliss
Third & First
Infantry

Jul 27, 1830

Sep 2, 1831

gardeners, hospital orderlies, blacksmiths, and
livestock handlers. At times, a portion of the
troops stationed at Fort Armstrong would be
detached to either Fort Crawford or Fort
Edwards. Soldiers also were frequently
dispatched to the lead mining region near
Galena and Dubuque. Officers stationed at Fort
Armstrong, or at one of the other frontier posts in
the Mississippi Valley, often went on furlough to
escape the drudgery of frontier duty. Soldiers on
furlough for more than a year without leave,
however, were reported as deserting the army.
Desertion and drunkenness among the troops
were two of the more serious problems that the
Commanding Officer of Fort Armstrong had to
contend with on the frontier. Other problems
included enforcement of regulations that
prohibited foreign traders and the sale of alcohol
to Indians. Periodically, soldiers who strayed

Jul 26, 1831

May 4, 1832
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Third Infantry

Companies D and H
Third Infantry
Companies C and K
First Infantry

from the garrison were killed and scalped by
Indians. One such soldier, John Haines, left Fort
Armstrong alone to hunt on 27 September 1820.
His body was discovered a week later, shot,
scalped, and mutilated with multiple stab and
club wounds. The army responded to such acts
of violence by demanding that the responsible
tribe, in this case the Winnebagos at Prophet's
Town, turn over to them the guilty party. To
ensure such action was taken, the army held five
Winnebago chiefs as hostages until the
murderers were delivered to them.

Colonel George Davenport and Antoine LeClaire

Two future entrepreneurs, George Davenport
and Antoine LeClaire, became historically
significant individuals. Davenport was employed
as the post sutler at Rock Island and Antoine



Below: Russell Farnham, partner of
Colonel Davenport. In 1826, they built

an inn around which the village of
Farnhamsburg, IL, developed. This

site is now part of Rock Island, IL.
(Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk State Park)

Right: Colonel George Davenport, foremost

founder of Rock Island area.
(AMCCOM-HO Archives)

LeClaire was hired as the interpreter for the Fort
Armstrong commander and the Indian agent.
Both of these men became prominent business
leaders of the communities they later founded
on each side of the Mississippi River opposite
Rock Island.

In 1816, the army did not have a commissary
department that provided personal items to
soldiers. Instead, a private contractor was
commissioned by the government to provide the
items. George Davenport, as the agent for the
private contractor, sold supplies to the soldiers
stationed at Fort Armstrong. He had been a
seaman, an army recruiting sergeant, and a post
sutler. However, Davenport did not become
wealthy until he started trading with the Indians.
In 1818, he quit his post sutler position and
devoted his time entirely to his Indian trade
business. Davenport became a full-time trader
the same year lllinois became the 21st state to be
admitted to the union. In addition to his store on
Rock Island, Davenport established several other
trading posts in the area.

In 1822, George Davenport expanded his
trading operations with various tribes of the
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upper Mississippi River Valley. He established a
trading post on the Fever River near Galena,
Illinois. Colonel Davenport also set up trading
houses at Flint Hills (Burlington, lowa), at the

mouth of the lowa River; and on the
Wapsipinicon (Wapsi) and Maquoketa Rivers in
lowa territory. He also included in his operations
three trading posts along the Rock River in
lllinois.

At Rock lIsland, George Davenport's double
log cabin initially served as a combination
trading post and quarters. Indians and early
settlers frequently visited Davenport’'s cabin to
receive provisions on credit. He provided them
with “grub stakes” (credit) until they were ready
to market their peltries or crops.

Considered by many to be the first white
civilian to live on Rock Island, George Davenport
was born in England and came to the United
States as a young man. He used his English
background to gain the confidence and trade of
the Sauk, Fox, and Winnebago tribes.
Wabokieshiek, also known as the Prophet, was
leader of the Winnebagos camped on the Rock
River at Prophet’'s Town. These Indians



Below: Double log cabin, Colonel Davenport's trading post and quarters on Rock Island.

“Relic” of Fort

Armstrong Series of stereoscope views by Western View Company. (AMCCOM-HO)

considered George Davenport as an Englishman
and friend.

Davenport’'s wealth increased after he formed
a partnership with Russell Farnham in 1824. in
1826, the two traders sold their trading business
to Astor's American Fur Company and became
agents for that trading company. Also in 1826,
Davenport and Farnham built a combination inn,
tavern, and stagecoach station, known as the
John Barrel House, on the Mississippi shore at a
site which was within the city of Rock Island.
The station was part of a stage route to Galena
from southern lllinois. The village of
Farnhamsburg, one of two villages that formed
the city of Rock Island, developed around that
inn. The John Barrel House became the seat of
justice for Rock Island County and was the site
of the county's first election.

George Davenport capitalized on the
increasing traffic between southern lllinois and
Galena. A man of many talents, he piloted The
Virginian; the first steamboat to dock at Rock
Island through the “Upper Rapids” or Rock
Island Rapids of the Mississippi River. The
steamboat serviced the lead mining region of
Dubuque and Galena. Soon Mississippi
steamboats were frequently navigating the
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“Upper Rapids” carrying workers and supplies to
this mining region. Lead diggings near Dubuque
and Galena, approximately 100 miles upstream
from Rock Island, increased the local economy.
Traders, such as Davenport, had for several
years acquired lead, as well as pelts by barter
with the Sauk and Fox Indians. John Shaw,
another trader who operated a trading boat
between St. Louis and Prairie du Chien, also
traded with the Indians for lead. By 1823,
thousands of pounds of lead were being shipped
downstream from the mines around Galena and
Dubuque.

It was not long before settlers, speculators,
and men looking for work made their way to
these mines north of Rock Island. Not all of the
traffic traveled by boat; many walked the trails
across the Rock River Valley and along the
Mississippi River to Galena. By 1823, a few of
these travelers from southern lllinois settled as
squatters on Sauk lands along the Rock River
Valley. Since the land had not yet been surveyed
or opened for public sale, these settlers were
encroaching upon the Indians camped near the
mouth of the Rock River.

Antoine LeClaire, post interpreter, was of
French and Potawatomi Indian background, and



Below: Antoine LeClaire, part French and
Pottawatomi Indian, was the U.S. interpreter
at Fort Armstrong. Later, he became a
prominent land developer and a prosperous
resident of Davenport, lowa. (Putnam Museum
Davenport, lowa.)

Right: Signing of the treaty of 1825 at

Prairie du Chien. (Augustana College Library
Special Collections)

acquired vast tracts of land from these Indians.
He served as interpreter at treaty councils
between the Sauk and Fox nation and the U.S.
Government which took place in 1829, 1831,
1832, 1836, 1837, and 1842. From the treaty of
29 July 1829, Antoine LeClaire and wife Frances
received two sections of land totaling 1,280 acres
from the Sauk and Fox Indians. The LeClaire
Reserve, another tract of land, was acquired by
LeClaire after serving as interpreter during the
1832 Black Hawk Treaty. Davenport purchased
this land from LeClaire, and at the head of the
“Upper Rapids” or Rock Island Rapids laid out
the town of LeClaire naming it in his honor.
According to George W. Wickstrom’'s work, The
Town Crier:

Colonel George Davenport and two
other men who had an eye for a littie
quiet speculation in corner lots plotted
a city in 1832 or 1833 where
downtown Rock Island now stands.
They laid out whole blocks for court,
jail, churches, and a college, and they
named the streets for the mighty men,
white and red, who then lived in these
parts.?’

In 1836, LeClaire and Davenport, along with a
few other land speculators, founded the city of
Davenport on the west bank of the Mississippi
River opposite Rock Island. Colonel Davenport
purchased an interest in the town site of Port
Byron, lillinois, and later, in 1841, he laid out an

addition to the city of Moline. Rock Island
became the “cradle” of the Quad Cities. Much of
the organizing and mapping out of these
communities occurred at meetings held at the
Davenport House located on Rock Island.

Impact of Intertribal Feuds Upon Rock Island
Region

Intertribal squabbles and sporadic fighting
took place among various tribes of the
Mississippi River Valley which disturbed and
frightened settlers near Fort Armstrong. Settlers
were shocked by the ruthlessness of Indian
intertribal warfare. Under the Indian code of
conduct, no one of the enemy tribe was spared.
Indian agents and commanders at Fort
Armstrong and other military posts along the
Mississippi River intervened constantly in
intertribal feuds to prevent disputes from
erupting into full scale frontier wars.
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Below: Saukenuk, a Sauk Indian village which was once situated on the banks of the Rock River, near the
(Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk State Park)

confluence of the Rock and Mississippi Rivers.

In 1825, the U.S. Government attempted to
arrange peace between warring Sioux and the
Sauk and Fox tribes. = According to Indian
tradition, relatives of a murdered victim could
demand payment in blood or “gifts” from the
attackers to “cover” the loss of their dead
relative. Government agents tried to develop a
plan which eliminated the need for such
avenging attacks. The government attempted to
provide a peaceable solution to the problem. It
agreed to cover the dead on both sides of the
Indian conflict. Government officials considered
such a procedure to be less expensive than
mobilizing the army.

The plan, however, proved ineffective.
Territorial encroachments by hunting parties
continued to occur and many of the hunting
parties returned to their villages with the scalps
of their enemies.

Settlers feared an attack on the Sauk and Fox
villages near Dubuque and Rock Island by the
Sioux, Menominee, and Winnebago Indians
might threaten their settlements. Captain
Wynkoop Warner, a sub-agent at Fever River
near Galena, attempted to ameliorate intertribal
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warfare by inviting the Fox chiefs of the
Dubuque and Rock Island vicinities to parley
with Sioux, Menominee, and Winnebago forces.
However 16 chiefs and 1 woman from the Fox
village across from Rock Island were attacked by
a war party of Sioux, Winnebago, and
Menominee warriors while en route to the parley.
The attackers spared one of the Fox chiefs so he
could return to his village and teli the tale of the
attacks. Again, as in other attacks, the massacre
of the Fox leaders was in retaliation to earlier
hostile acts performed by the Sauk and Fox
against the Sioux.?

The Sauk and Fox tribes prepared for war by
mobilizing a force of approximately 1,000 braves.
However, the Fox tribe camped near Dubuque,
fearing an attack from the Sioux and their allies,
evacuated its village and fled downstream to
Sauk and Fox villages near Rock Island. As soon
as the Fox village was abandoned, squatters
from Galena took possession of the Indian
diggings; however, federal troops drove off
these intruders.

Government agents negotiated a treaty, in July
1830, with the feuding Indians that supposedly



Right: Next to Keokuk, Chief Wapelio

was probably the most influential leader
among the Sauk and Fox Indians.
(Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk State Park)

“covered” (provided payment for) the losses on
all sides involved in the intertribal fighting. An
interesting side note to the treaty was that the
American Fur Company obtained a provision to
the treaty whereby Sauk and Fox Indians were
obligated to pay the debts they owed to
Company agents, George Davenport and Russell
Farnham, from the future sale of tribal lands to
the United States.?®

Unfortunately, the intertribal warfare was not
resolved by the treaty of 1830. Many Fox Indians
felt the gifts they received to cover the loss of
their dead chiefs had not been sufficient;
besides, the desire for revenge was too great
among many of the Fox braves. In August 1831,
a combined Sauk and Fox war party massacred
twenty-five Menominee camped at Prairie du
Chien in retaliation for the previous slaughter of
Fox leaders. When United States agents realized
that their plan to prevent any future revenge
raids by covering the dead on all sides would not
prevent another series of retaliatory attacks,
they called for military intervention. Winter
prevented, however any immediate action by the
United States Army. In the following spring,
General Henry Atkinson, representing the United
States Government, held a council at Rock
Island in which he threatened to use military
force, if necessary, to apprehend the braves
involved in the attack on the Menominees.
Keokuk and Wapello, two chiefs who were
consistently friendly to the United States
Government, agreed to the demand. The chiefs,
however were not able to deliver more than
three participants to the massacre. The others
involved in the slaughter at Prairie du Chien had
joined Black Hawk's hostile band camped on the
Rock River. The government did not press the
issue any farther, fearing that a show of military
force might drive more braves into the camp of
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the hostiles. Many Sauk and Fox Indians were
bitter against the Americans because their Fox
leaders were killed while trying to comply to a
request by the United States Government.

Encroachment by Squatters

Civilization steadily encroached on the Indians
in lllinois. Though lllinois achieved statehood in
1818, much of the northern portion of the state
had yet to be settled. By 1827, the lead mining
community of Galena had become the county
seat for the newly organized Jo Davies County,
as a result of an increase in population. In that
same year, a road linking southern lllinois with
Galena was being surveyed and staked out. In
the midst of this progress, the commanding
officer at Fort Armstrong had to dispatch arms
and ammunition to Galena to defend the
settlement against an uprising of hostile
Winnebagos. A show of military force by army
regulars quickly put down the uprising. lllinois
Governor Ninian Edwards, in response to the
outbreak of Indian hostilities, petitioned the War
Department to remove all hostile tribes,
including the Winnebagos and the Sauk and Fox,



Right: Keokuk and his son.
(Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk
State Park)

from lllinois. The War Department, in turn,
pressured Tom Forsyth, the Indian agent at Fort
Armstrong, to convince the Sauk and Fox tribes
that they should leave lllinois and relocate on the
west bank of the Mississippi River. In the fall of
1828, Keokuk, spokesman for the friendly faction
of the two tribes, persuaded many of the Indians
to join him at a new camp situated on the lowa
River in what is now the state of lowa. However,
a smaller more militant faction led by Black
Hawk remained at the Sauk village located on the
banks of the Rock River. Eventually dissident
Indians from the Fox and the Kickapoo tribes
joined Black Hawk’s band. Counting women and
children, the hostile band numbered
approximately 1,500 Indians. Keokuk's peaceful
group included a majority of the Sauk and Fox
braves and their chiefs, and the camp numbered
approximately 3,500 Indians.

Black Hawk's band continued to live in lllinois
and practiced their Indian traditions. After the
crops had been harvested in the fall, the braves
left their village on the Rock River to participate
in their annual winter hunt. In the fall of 1828,
and again in 1829, news spread throughout the
state that Black Hawk's British band had left
lllinois for good. A rumor also spread that the
supposedly abandoned Sauk land would be
offered for public sale by the Government Land
Office. Soon squatters began to occupy some of
the lodges and portions of the land near the Rock
River village; but each spring, to their surprise,
Black Hawk’s band returned to the village. Black
Hawk was astonished by the increasing number
of settlers residing in the Rock Island vicinity.
Disputes arose between the settlers and Indians
over possession of lodges, cornfields, and land.
The Indians resented their lodges being
occupied or destroyed by squatters; their
cornfields being fenced in and taken possession
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of by these settlers; and their burial grounds
being destroyed by the squatters plows. A clash
between the Indians and settlers was inevitable
as both sides continuously harassed one
another. The Indian agent at Fort Armstrong
received a steady stream of complaints from
settlers and braves. Squatters were especially
adept at writing petitions and letters of
grievances. Governor Reynolds, upon receiving
these written pleas for the removal of Black
Hawk’s British band from lllinois, wrote the War
Department for assistance. He also called for a
volunteer army of |lllinois citizens to, if
necessary, remove Indians by force.®

Article seven of the 1804 treaty stated the Sauk
and Fox Indians could remain at their Indian
settlements for as long as the Federal
Government possessed the land. Instead of
dispatching troops to force an eviction, which
would have violated the spirit of the 1804 treaty,



Below: Keokuk, rival of Black Hawk, was appointed Chief of Sauk Indians by lllinois Governor J. Reynolds and
General W. Scott at the close of the Black Hawk War. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)
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Right: lilinois Governor John Reynolds,
organized the State Volunteers against
Black Hawk's party.

(Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk State Park)

the Federal Government began to open portions
of the Sauk land for public sale.

In October 1829, the U.S. Government Land
Office opened for public sale the land in the
vicinity of the old Sauk village. Colonel George
Davenport and his partner, Russell Farnham,
purchased 80 percent of this land. Black Hawk,
believing he had the support of other tribes and
the support of the British in Canada, threatened
the settlers and demanded they leave.

The settlers were convinced the Sauk had
formed an alliance with the Fox, Kickapoo,
Potawatomi, and Winnebago tribes. Fearing an
attack, the settlers fled to Fort Armstrong and
Davenport's trading post on Rock Island.

Colonel Davenport erected a stockade around
his cabin and outbuildings and placed an old
swivel gun at the entrance. Only a garrison of 80
U.S. Regulars, under the command of Captain
John Bliss, stood between the settlers and what
they believed to be several thousand hostile
Indians.

Governor Reynoids, fearing a possible
massacre, requested additional federal troops to
protect the settlers. In response, General
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Gaines, at Jefferson Barracks near St. Louis,
dispatched a large military force to Rock Island.

As a show of force until reinforcements
arrived, Captain Bliss had his soldiers begin
target practice. He also ordered the firing of
morning and evening (cannons) guns for the first
time.

General Gaines and six companies from the
6th U.S. Infantry arrived at Rock Island by
steamboat in early June 1831; and Colonel
Zachary Taylor brought four additional
companies down from Fort Crawford to Rock
Island. In an attempt to peaceably settle the
dispute, General Gaines held a council with Sauk
and Fox leaders. Keokuk, Wapello, and other
chiefs arrived peacefully at the council; however,
Black Hawk did not. He appeared with his
warriors in war paint; carrying arms; and singing
war chants.3

General Gaines explained the government's
position regarding the land the Sauk and Fox
had ceded to the United States. He stated that by
the provisions of the 1804 treaty, the Indians
must relocate because the government had
opened the ceded land for public sale. Keokuk



Right: Major General Edmund P. Gaines,
parleyed with Black Hawk at Fort Armstrong
in 1831. (Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk
State Park)

and the other chiefs encouraged Black Hawk and
his band to cross the Mississippi River and join
them at their camp. However, Black Hawk
refused to leave.

On 19 June 1831, Governor Reynolds arrived
with his volunteer army and joined General
Gaines near the mouth of the Rock River. The
combined forces closed in on the Sauk village.
U.S. Regulars, along with a company of local
volunteers known as the Rock River Rangers,
marched from Fort Armstrong across the site of
the present day city of Rock Island to the Sauk
vilage on the Rock River. The Rock River
Rangers was comprised of 58 men and older
boys from the Rock River Region.

The steamboat Enterprise carried a company
of soldiers and a cannon up the Rock River to the
Indian camp. However, when the troops arrived
at the village, they found it deserted. Black
Hawk, fearing that the rowdy, undisciplined
Rangers could not be controlled by their officer,
had fled with his band across the Mississippi
River the previous night. The Rangers, who were
spoiling for a fight, took out their frustrations by
destroying the abandoned Sauk village.

General Gaines sent an ultimatum to Black
Hawk stating that if he did not return to the
council he would send his army across the
Mississippi River after him. On 30 June 1831,
Black Hawk met with Governor Reynolds and

General Gaines at Rock Island. At this
conference, 27 chiefs and warriors, including
Black Hawk, signed a treaty that included three
major agreements: to honor the provisions of the
1804 treaty; to move to Keokuk's camp on the
lowa; and not to return across the Mississippi
River without the permission of the U.S.
Government. In addition, the Sauk and Fox
tribes were to break off all communication with
the British. In return, the U.S. Government
agreed to provide food and replace the loss of
the cornfields that Black Hawk's party
abandoned on the Rock River in lllinois.
Within a year Black Hawk had broken his
promise. On 8 April 1832, Black Hawk and his
party recrossed the Mississippi River. They
entered the state of lllinois at Yellow Banks near
the present community of Oquawka. According
to several accounts, Black Hawk and his British
band crossed the Mississippi singing and
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Below: General Henry Atkinson
(AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Right: Map showing the course
of Black Hawk's band during the
Black Hawk War of 1832.
(AMCCOM-HO Archives)

banging their drums in what seemed a very
threatening manner. Settlers in the Rock Island
vicinity, upon hearing the ruckus, fled to Fort
Armstrong for protection. To the settlers on the
lllinois frontier, it appeared that Black Hawk's
band was a war party invading the state to attack
their settlements. The settlers and government
officials responded to this threat by arming
themselves, organizing a state army of mounted
volunteers, and calling for assistance from
federal troops.

Although the sight of approximately 1,500
Indians noisily crossing the river startled the
settlers, the band was not a typical war party.
Women and children customarily did not travel
with war parties. Black Hawk’'s band that
crossed the river, however, consisted of nearly
500 warriors and approximately 1,000 women
and children.

Black Hawk claimed his party had accepted an
invitation from the “Prophet” to live and to plant
corn at Prophet’'s Town, located up the Rock
River nearly 40 miles from Rock Island.
However, Black Hawk did possess some vague
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*** Qaukenuk

plan to persuade Keokuk and his followers to
join his conspiracy; but they refused. Two
members of the dissident band provided Black
Hawk with faulty advice. The Prophet related to
Black Hawk his visions of neighboring tribes
joining him in driving off the settlers. Neapope,
one of the few Sauk chiefs to have joined the
dissident band, falsely informed Black Hawk that
he had received a pledge of arms and
ammunition from the British during a visit to
Canada in 1831. Based on this information,
Black Hawk began his journey to retake his
former village. Not grasping the severity of his
situation, he ignored messages from Fort
Armstrong and from the peaceful Sauk and Fox
camps advising him to return to the west banks
of the Mississippi River. lllinois Governor John
Reynolds labeled the Indian crossing an
invasion and called for the immediate formation
of an army of state volunteers to drive them back
across the river.

Governor Reynolds defended his organization
of a volunteer army by saying, “If | did not act,
and the inhabitants were murdered after (I was)



Below: The stockade erected by anxious civilians near Galena during the Black Hawk War. (Alfred W. Mueller,

Galena Historical Collections)
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informed of their situation, | would be
condemned.”? |t was also clear that Governor
Reynolds equated victory over the Indians with
political victory. In a letter to General Atkinson
he wrote: “Nothing will save me but a decisive
stroke on the Indians.”®® The Governor
circulated petitions asking for aid throughout the
counties, and he made speeches urging people
to volunteer to defend the frontier. After
receiving General Gaines’ written report of his
earlier meeting with Black Hawk at Rock Island,
Governor Reynolds wrote to Gaines that:
| was very much rejoiced on receiving
(your) letter, as it puts my whole
proceedings on a legal and
constitutional footing, the responsibil-
ity of the war was removed from me.3
While Black Hawk’s band was proceeding up
the Rock River toward the Winnebago camp at
Prophet’'s Town, federal troops were on their way
to Rock Island. General Atkinson left Jefferson
Barracks near St. Louis with the 6th Infantry
Regiment on 10 April 1832. Governor Reynolds
had assembled 2,000 volunteers at Beardstown,
lllinois. Near Yellow Banks, the volunteers,
under the command of General Samuel
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Whiteside, were to be joined by General
Atkinson’'s Regiment.

Fort Armstrong became the headquarters for
military operations during what would be known
as the Black Hawk War. A company of lllinois
volunteers were stationed at Fort Armstrong as
reinforcements from April to June 1832. The
company pulled garrison duty and was
composed of men from Rock Island and nearby
counties. George Davenport supposedly
volunteered for duty during the Indian trouble
and received the commission of quartermaster at
Fort Armstrong with the rank of Colonei.

in the 15 weeks of the Black Hawk War, a
majority of the fighting actually took place in
northern lllinois and southern Wisconsin, even
though the spark that ignited the conflict
happened in the vicinity of Rock Island. After
Black Hawk had inflicted a humiliating defeat on
a detachment of 275 mounted volunteers
commanded by Major Isaiah Stillman at
Sycamore Creek near Dixon Ferry, it was no
longer possible to settle the dispute peaceably.

Major Stillman’s Rangers, anxious to fight
Indians, had volunteered to serve as a scouting
party for the U.S. Regulars. Stillman’s troops,



Below: Posters such as this helped shape public opinion and contributed to the spreading of fear among civilians
of a general Indian uprising on the frontier. (Davenport Public Library Special Collections) Middle: Sauk warrior
Se-us-kuk, son of Black Hawk. (Rock Island County Historical Society) Right: Major Isaiah Stillman (Augustana

College Library Special Collections)
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ignoring an opportunity to parley with Black
Hawk, fired on Indian messengers carrying a flag
of truce. The Rangers pursued the few Indians
that escaped to Sycamore Creek, where Black
Hawk surprisingly attacked the Rangers. Black
Hawk and approximately 40 braves routed the
volunteers. Stillman's mounted Rangers
panicked and retreated. Only 11 volunteers
actually were killed in the skirmish, but their
bodies were horribly destroyed. The Indians had
scalped them and mutilated them. The rout of
these undisciplined volunteers became known in
the Rock Island vicinity as the Battle of Stillman'’s
Run. War could no longer be avoided, and state-
wide panic occurred as newspapers in the state
carried vivid accounts of the butchery. The
politicians, regular soldiers, and volunteer
Rangers became more determined to defeat
Black Hawk.3® ,

Black Hawk’s band fled north, searching for a
place to recross the Mississippi River. During
these weeks of flight, isolated attacks occurred by
small bands of warriors. The raiding Indians
would sneak up on a lone cabin, then murder,
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scalp, and steal provisions of the inhabitants.
The roving parties included Winnebago,
Potawatomi, and Kickapoo braves in addition to
Sauk and Fox warriors. On 27 May 1832, a
raiding party attacked three families that had
gathered at a cabin along Indian Creek, just six
miles north of Ottawa, near the lllinois River.
The Indians massacred 15 men, women, and
children at the cabin, but spared two 17 and 15
year old sisters. The sisters were taken captive
and later ransomed for horses at Blue Mound,
Wisconsin.%

Besides attacking lone cabins, the small bands
of marauding warriors also ambushed travelers.
Another example of the random nature and
savageness of the attacks by these small, roving
war parties occurred on 23 May 1832. Felix St.
Vrain, the Indian agent at Fort Armstrong who
had replaced Thomas Forsyth, was killed while
delivering dispatches from Fort Armstrong to
Galena. Agent St. Vrain and his three
companions were Kkilled and scalped.
Reportedly, St. Vrain's body was dismembered
and his heart cut out and eaten by his killers.?’



Below: Lieutenant Robert E. Lee. In
1837, he surveyed the upper rapids of
the Mississippi River at Rock Island.
(Davenport Public Library)

Right: The upper rapids at Rock Isiand
forced steamboat crews to unload their
cargo and transport it overland past the
rapids in order to lighten the vessel

for its trip through the rapids. Rock
Island was a break-of-bulk point.
(AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Many of the settlers serving as Rangers on the
Illinois frontier were just as savage. Several of
these citizen volunteers took Indian scalps as
trophies during the campaign. The federal
troops were issued specific orders not to scalp or
mutilate any Indians in the course of the conflict.
The Black Hawk War was the last gasp in defense
of preserving the Indians’ way of life in lllinois.

During the Indian conflict, progress
continued to be made in opening the state's
northern frontier region. In 1829 Lieutenant
Napoleon Buford, while on topographical duty,
began to draw up surveys of the rapids of the
upper Mississippi River, including those at Rock
Island. Also in 1829, President Andrew Jackson
appointed a commission to approach the Fox
Indians regarding the transfer of mineral rights
to the Federal government.?® On 9 February
1831, the lilinois state legislature passed an act
to establish Rock Island County, which included
the area of the former Sac village. Section One
of the act established the boundaries. Section
Two stated that 350 inhabitants were needed for
a general election to be held for the electing of
three commissioners, a sheriff, and a coroner.
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Due to the Indian unrest in the Rock Island area,
the county elections were not held until 1833.

Battie of Bad Axe and the Capture of Black Hawk

Black Hawk and his followers continued north
along the Mississippi River searching for a place
to cross. On 2 August 1832, General Atkinson,
with about 500 Regulars and some volunteers,
caught up with Black Hawk’'s band in southern
Wisconsin at the confluence of the Bad Axe River
and the Mississippi. At the Battle of Bad Axe the

Indians were decisively defeated by federal

forces with the aid of the steamboat Warrior and
its six-pound gun. Driven into the river by their
pursuers, the Indian warriors, their old people,
women, and children were shot down or drowned
as they tried to escape. Many of those that
reached the west banks of the Mississippi were
slain by a band of Sioux recruited by the U.S.
Army. Black Hawk, however, escaped with a
small band that included the Prophet. Two
weeks later, they were captured by Winnebago
Indians who also had been recruited by the
United States Army. The army had also recruited
Sioux Winnebago, and Menominee warriors to



Below: The Battle of Bad Axe depicted below resulted in a crushing defeat and slaughter of Black Hawk’s band of
(AMCCOM-HO Archives)

hostile Indians.

aid in the capture of Black Hawk.

Lieutenant Robert Anderson, later of Fort
Sumter fame, was one of the army officers
aboard the steamboat, Warrior. In addition to
Lieutenant Anderson, an impressive number of
participants in the Black Hawk War later became
famous as politicians and as soldiers. Included
among the roll call of Black Hawk War veterans
were United States Presidents, Abraham Lincoln
and Zachary Taylor; Commander-in-Chief of the
U.S. Army General Winfield Scott; and Secretary
of War and later President of the Confederate
States of America, Jefferson Davis. Several
other participants later rose to the military rank
of General. Among this group were two
Confederate Generals, Albert Sidney Johnson
and Joseph E. Johnson. A half dozen other
veterans of the Black Hawk War were later
elected Governor of lllinois, and another veteran
of the Indian conflict later became Governor of
Wisconsin.®

The Winnebago Indians had been under
suspicion of having possibly assisted Black
Hawk’s band during the war, but they
demonstrated their loyalty to the United States
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government by apprehending Black Hawk and
his followers. The reward of money and horses
made the task more palatable. On 17 August
1832, the Winnebagos turned Black Hawk over to
authorities at Prairie du Chien. Colonel Zachary
Taylor, the Commanding Officer at Fort
Crawford, appointed Lieutenant Jefferson Davis
to take Black Hawk by steamboat to Jefferson
Barracks near St. Louis.

The Black Hawk War became a secondary
issue during the 1832 presidential campaign of
Andrew Jackson. Governor John Reynolds’
volunteer army of llinois settlers, with politicians
as officers, had been unable to apprehend Black
Hawk's hostile band of Indians. When the
governor requested additional federal troops to
subdue Black Hawk, President Jackson ordered
General Winfield Scott to assume command of
an army of 1,000 Regulars, which was to be
dispatched from the East to Fort Armstrong.

General Scott's expedition was ill fated from
the beginning. While en route to Chicago,
aboard four steamboats, his troops were stricken
with an outbreak of Asiatic cholera. When
General Scott's forces finally reached Fort



Below: General Winfield Scott's headquarters
at Rock Island just east of the present Clock
Tower. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Right: General Winfield Scott, Commander
of U.S. troops at close of Black Hawk War.
(AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Armstrong, they had been decimated by the
disease. Only 220 U.S. Regulars completed the
march from Chicago to Rock lIsland. Scott's
army arrived too late to take the field against
Black Hawk. A few weeks earlier, Black Hawk's
dissident band had been virtually obliterated at

the Battle of Bad Axe. All that was left for
General Scott and his troops to do was to assist
Governor Reynolds in drafting the peace treaty
and to guard the few prisoners that survived the
battle.

However, within a week of General Scott's
arrival at Fort Armstrong, cholera once again
surfaced among the soldiers in epidemic
proportion. General Scott had distinguished
himself in an exemplary manner in his efforts to
save the lives of his soldiers. General Scott, in
disregard to his personal safety, dispensed
medicine and cared for the sick. His strict orders
to enforce discipline provided the critical
leadership needed during such a crisis. Army
physicians knew little as to the cause of the
disease, except for their observation of the
stricken. The disease seemed to attack men that
were under the influence of alcohol and those

weakened by the lack of proper eating habits or
living in crowded, unsanitary quarters. General
Scott issued the following order to the U.S.
Regulars and volunteer Rangers stationed at the
fort on 28 August 1832:
It is believed that all these men were
of intemperate habits. The Ranger who
is dead, it is known, generated this
disease within himself by a fit of
intoxication. .. Sobriety, cleanliness of
person, cleanliness of camp and
quarters, together with care in the
preparation of the men’s messes are
the great preventatives. .The
Commanding General. therefore,
peremptorily commands that every
soldier or Ranger who shall be found
drunk or sensibly intoxicated, after the
publication of this order, be compelled,
as soon as his strength will permit, to
dig a grave at a suitable burying place,
large enough for his own reception, as
such grave cannot fail soon to be
wanted for the drunken man, himself,
or some drunken companion. This
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Below: Black Hawk in captivity. (Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk State Park)
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Below: Veterans of the Black Hawk War. General Samuel Whiteside of the Hlinois Volunteers, seated third from

the left. (Hauberg Museum, Black Hawk State Park)

order is given as well to serve for the
punishment of drunkenness as to spare
good and temperate men the labor of
digging graves for their worthless
companions.*0
The order also served as a means of controlling
fearful soldiers who might turn to drink in

despair. After prohibiting intoxication,
improving sanitary conditions, and quarantining
nearly 1,500 federal soldiers and state volunteers
in small groups about the banks and hills along
the Mississippi River and the Rock River, the
army was successful in bringing about an end to
the cholera epidemic.

The Black Hawk Purchase (Treaty of 1832)

The United States Government held a three
day peace conference from 19-21 September
1832 with the Sauk and Fox tribes. General
Winfield Scott and lllinois Governor John
Reynolds conducted the sessions and drafted
the final treaty. The opening session was held in
a tent on the west banks of the Mississippi, rather
than at Fort Armstrong, since some soldiers were

yet inflicted with cholera. The Sauk and Fox
tribes ceded to the U.S. approximately 6 million
acres of land bordering the west banks of the
Mississippi River, primarily in eastern lowa. The
ceded land included the Fox Indians’ lead
diggings near Dubuque. The Indians received
$660,000 in exchange for the land, and the
money was divided into $20,000 annuities, to be
paid over a 30-year period by the U.S.
Government. The first two years' annuities,
totaling $40,000 were awarded to Colonel
Davenport to settle a credit debt the Sauk and
Fox tribes owed him.*

The Indians agreed to vacate the ceded area
by 1 June 1833. However, a 400 square mile
tract of land on the lowa River known as the
Keokuk Reserve, remained in possession of the
Indians. Other provisions of the treaty included
the appointment of Keokuk as Chief of the Sauk
tribe; the awarding of two sections of land to the
U.S. interpreter, Antoine LeClaire, and the
supplying of food to Sauk and Fox women and
children whose men were killed in the war. In
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Below: Black Hawk Purchase Treaty depicting Antoine LeClaire, Governor John Reynolds, and General Winfield
Scott at the table. Original mural on display at the Davenport Bank Building, Davenport, lowa. (Quad Cities Times
Photo Collection)
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Below: Early photo of Fort Armstrong from the levee at Rock Island (1845). Note the extremely high flagpole.

(AMCCOM-HO Archives)

addition, General Scott and Governor Reynolds
agreed to honor a request by Keokuk for 40
kegs of tobacco and 40 kegs of salt.

Keokuk (He Who Has Been Everywhere),

Wapello (He Who Is Painted White), and
Poweshick (The Roused Bear) were among the
Indian leaders listed as agreeing to the
provisions of the treaty. Wapello and Poweshick
were the two leading Fox Indian chiefs at the
peace council. This treaty, later known as the
Black Hawk Purchase of 1832, officially ended
the Black Hawk War. Within a couple of years, all
the other Indian tribes in Illinois were also
relocated to areas west of the Mississippi River
by the United States Government.

Since the threat of Indian hostilities no longer
existed, the War Department removed the
garrison at Fort Armstrong. Although the army
abandoned the fort in 1836, the government
retained Rock Island as a government
reservation. In 1840, the U.S. Army made some
repairs at Fort Armstrong and established an
ordnance depot at the old post. Captain William
Shoemaker commanded the depot until 1845,
when its stores were transferred to St. Louis in

support of American efforts during the Mexican
War. Fort Armstrong again became vacant, a
decaying reminder of Rock Island’s vanishing
frontier. In 1856, the last of several fires
destroyed the abandoned old post.

The Rock Island area had settled quickly once
the Indians were removed from the vicinity.
Colonel Davenport played a prominent role in its
development and became one of the first three
commissioners of Rock Island County. With
help from others, Davenport laid out the county
seat, which was to be named “Davenport”.
However, in a letter published in the Galena
Advertiser, Colonel Davenport ridiculed a state
legislator for his participation in the Battle of
Stillman's Run. The legislator, in retaliation,
blocked the naming of the county seat in honor of
Davenport. In 1835, the name Stephenson was
substituted for Davenport, and lllinois State
Legislature approved the charter. In the
meantime, Colonel Davenport, Antoine LeClaire,
and others organized and plotted another
community on the west bank of the Mississippi
River opposite Stephenson. In 1836, the
community on the lowa banks became



Below: Official letter announcing the newly elected Commissioners of Rock {sfand County, for the first county
election held in 1833. (AMCCOM-HQO Archives)
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Below: A view of Colonel Davenport’s house built in 1833. Note the original structure had three wings, two of
which are visible in the photograph. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Davenport.
Rock Island in 1841.4

The planning of these two communities, plus
the organizing of the LeClaire and Port Byron
villages, occurred at meetings held by Colonel

The village of Stephenson became

Davenport at his island estate. In addition to
land speculation, the building of railroads,
bridges, river commerce, and business
development in the Rock Island area were also
topics discussed at these meeings. The
Davenport House became the gathering point for
the early “shakers and movers” of the Rock

Island area.
The Colonel Davenport House

In 1833, a year after the Black Hawk Purchase,
Colonel Davenport built the most elegant family
home for that time in the Rock Island vicinity.
The Davenport family included his wife,
Margaret; stepdaughter, Susan Lewis; and sons,
George L'Oste and Bailey, the latter born to his
stepdaughter, and purportedly fathered by
Colonel Davenport.
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Federal authorities in 1833 rewarded Colonel
Davenport for his service to the government by
allowing him to build his family residence on the
northwest shore of Rock lIsland. In 1844,
Congress passed a special act confirming
Colonel Davenport's title to the property.*3

Colonel Davenport’'s home was not the typical
pioneer cabin. Clapboard lumber, ordered from
the East, covered the two-story log-frame house.
The clapboard siding gave Colonel Davenport’s
frontier home the exterior appearance of a fine
eastern residence. Other features of the house
included a portico or porch roof, supported by
columns; double hung wood sashes; a gable roof
with sawed shingles; and two massive brick
chimneys.

The Murder of Colonel Davenport

On 4 July 1845, robbers murdered Colonel
Davenport at his island estate. Rumors of
$20,000 in gold, supposedly hidden on the
Davenport property, attracted the robbers to the
island. Colonel Davenport's wife and two sons



Below: Outlaw John Long's
skeleton (Quad City Times

photo collection) Top Right:
Long’s Grave, in Rock Island’s
Pioneer Cemetery. He was buried
133 years after his hanging.

(AMCCOM-HO)

had gone to an Independence Day celebration in
the city of Rock Island. Finding the Colonel
alone, the four bandits shot, stabbed and
tortured him. However, they departed the island
with only a few hundred dollars they had found
in the house. Colonel Davenport died from the
wounds inflicted upon him by the robbers. A few
months later, on 29 October 1845, John Long,
Aaron Long, and Granville Young were hanged
in the town of Rock lIsland for the murder of
Colonel Davenport. The three outlaws were
members of the notorious “Banditti of the
Prairie” gang. A crowd of nearly 5,000 which
was then approximately three times the
population of Rock Island, witnessed the public
hangings. The crowd watched and cheered as
the Rock Island County Sheriff paraded the three
bandits through the streets of Rock Island to the

47

JOHN LONG

gallows. Then the band played, the people
prayed, and the three were hanged.
Unfortunately, for Aaron Long, his rope broke.
The sheriff supposedly supplied him with a stiff
drink, then hanged him a second time.

As for Aaron’s brother, John Long, his body
was supposedly shipped to a physician in a
barrel of rum. The physician displayed Long’'s
skeleton in his office. Years later, the doctor's
widow returned the skeleton to Rock Island. For
years, the bones of the murderer of Colonel
Davenport were displayed at the Rock Island
County House, and later at Black Hawk
State Park Museum. After several more years in
storage, John Long’s skeleton was finally buried
in the old pioneer’'s cemetery at Black Hawk
State Park on September 14, 1978.4



Below:

Repair of the Colonel Davenport Ruins

In preparation for establishing an arsenal on
Rock Island, the Federal Government regained
sole possession of the island. A federal
commission purchased the more legitimate
property claims held by private citizens such as
the Colonel Davenport family. The government
used the house as an office, and later as a
storehouse. Gradually, the Colonel Davenport
home deteriorated and fell into disrepair. By the
turn of the century, the building was in a state of
ruin. In 1906, the Association of Rock Island
County sponsored the repair of the dilapidated

Colonel Davenport's house prior to renovation in 1906.
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(AMCCOM-HO Archives)

structure. Public interest in the Davenport
House during the 1950s and early 1960s again
saved the building from disrepair. On this
occasion, the Scott County Home Builders
Association collaborated with the Quad Cities
Association of Home Builders to repair the
structure. Whereas the main portion of the
Davenport House has been renovated, the
attached wings to the house were removed in
1906 and have not yet been restored. Currently,
the Colonel Davenport Historical Foundation
maintains the house as a historic site open to
visitors.



Below: After the departure of the military in 1836, civilian custodians such as H.Y. Slaymaker, had difficulties
(AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Yolice (o Yrespassers

preventing trespassers from exploiting the island’s timber.

On the U. S. Reserve on Rock Island.

All persons detected in cutting or destroying Timber on the

United States Reserve ¢: Rock Island, will be prosecuted ac-
cording to the following Act of Congress, passed the 3rd day

of March, iS59:

Cuvren LXXVIIL  Be it enacted by the Senate and House.of Representatives of the United
States, &¢.  That if any person or persons shall unlawfully cut, aid, or assist, or be emﬁloyed in un-

lnwfully cutting, or shall Wnntonhy destroy, or precure to be wantonly destroyed, any tim

er standing.

‘growing, or being upon the lands of the United States, which, in pursuance of any law passed or
hercafter to be passed, have been or shall be reserved or purchased by the United States for Military
or other purposes; evelx' such person or persons so offending, on conviction thereof, before a Court

having com{)ctent jurisdiction, shall for every such offence
shall he imprisoned not exceeding Twelve Mon

Dollars, an

ﬂay a fine not exceeding Five Hundred
ths.

H. Y. SLAYMAKER, Agent,

July 23, 1860.

CHAPTER THREE

for Qr. M. Dep. U.

« Army.

CIVILIAN DEVELOPMENT ON ROCK ISLAND AND THE CAMPAIGN FOR AN ARMORY

After the soldiers left Fort Armstrong in 1836,
and again when the army.depot closed in 1845,
the Federal Government placed civilian agents or
custodians in charge of Rock Island. Joseph
Street, an Indian agent from Prairie du Chien,
was the first of these civilian agents. In 1836, the
government transferred him to Rock Island.
From 1836-1838 “General” Street served as
Indian agent and custodian of Rock Island. In
1838, William Davenport succeeded Joseph
Street as the Indian agent to the Sauk and Fox
residing in eastern lowa. Captain W.R.
Shoemaker, the Army Depot Commander,
assumed command of the island and the depot
from 1840-1845. After the depot closed, a series
of four civilian agents were placed in charge of
Rock Island. The four agents and the period that
they served as custodians of Rock Island were:
Thomas L. Drumm, 1845-1853; Sergeant
Cummings, 1853-1854; Mr. J.B. Danforth, Jr.,
(founder of the Rock Isfand Argus) 1854-1857;
and H.Y. Slaymaker, 1857-1863. Though these
agents were placed in charge of Rock Island they
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did not usually reside on the island. The civilian
development of Rock Island occurred during the
time when there was no military presence nor
civilian agents residing on the island. During this
period, numerous interested civilians attempted,
with some success, to settle on portions of the
island. These squatters considered Rock Island
to be part of the public domain, especially after
the military had departed the island.

The War Department was somewhat reluctant
to release the island property for public sale. The
army wanted to keep Rock Island in reserve and
as early as 1825, Secretary of War John C.
Calhoun had informed the Commissioner of the
General Land Office that Rock Island was
necessary for military purposes. Secretary of
War Calhoun directed that Rock Island be
reserved from public sale. Ten years later, in
1835, Congress ordered a survey to select
potential construction sites for a new armory in
the West. In the next two decades, several
reports drafted by army officers favorably
suggested Rock Island as a potential site for the



Below: The first dam built on Mississippi River in 1841; it stretched from Moline across Sylvan Slough to Rock
Island. The two large mills at the dam were owned by David B. Sears. (AMCCOM-HO)

armory. Major D.W. Flagler's History of the
Rock Island Arsenal, published in 1877, included
the following excerpts from one such report,
submitted by ordnance officer Captain William
H. Bell.
Soon after returning, about the 16th of
October 1840, from Cincinnati, |
proceeded up the river to Rock Island,
agreeably to your orders of the 17th
September, and having surveyed the
grounds and buildings (old buildings of
Fort Armstrong) of the island, have the
honor to report that the whole island,
containing about 850 acres, belongs to
the United States, having been
specially reserved from sale for public
purposes.+
Captain Bell concluded his report with a strong
statement of Rock Island’s value.
| thought it advisable to communicate
these facts, that the Government may
be fully aware of the value of this island
and its vicinity as the greatest and most
practicable and desirable water power
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in the valley of the Mississippi.+

In September 1841, Congress passed an act
empowering a commission or board, appointed
by the Secretary of War, to conduct a thorough
examination of the western regions “for the
purpose of selecting a suitable site on the
western waters for the establishment of a
national armory.” The Secretary of War selected
Brigadier General W.K. Armistead, Surgeon
General Thomas Lawson, and Lieutenant
Colonel S.H. Long as the commissioners for the
survey.

The board's final report to Congress covered
400 pages and included a section on Rock
Island. The three officers stressed in their report
the ample supply of resources that they
“discovered” on Rock Island and in the nearby
vicinity.  The officers specifically cited the
abundance of limestone and the variety of timber
on the island as more than sufficient for building
purposes. The commissioners also emphasized
the potentially great source of water power
available at Rock lIsland. Surgeon General
Thomas Lawson endorsed the Rock Island site



Below: /n 1846, David B. Sears built a second dam that connected Rock Island with Benham’s Island. He also
constructed the mill shown below on Benham'’s Island. (Moline Public Library)

as a healthy location.

He stated in the study that his endorsement
was based on health reports of troops stationed
at various military posts. He compared those
reports with the shorter sick lists from Fort
Armstrong for the same 20-year period. The
board also listed Rock Island’'s convenient
location, its rich soil, and its nearness to coal,
lead, and other mineral deposits.

The board visited Rock Island in 1842, shortly
after David B. Sears had erected a mill-dam
across the south channel of the Mississippi
River. The dam connected Rock Island with the
lllinois mainland; and the officers reported the
dam had attracted another saw mill to the island.
In 1846, David B. Sears built a second dam. This
dam lined the main island, Rock isiand, with
Benham'’s Island, an island in the main channel.
The flat surface of the two dams provided a
convenient wagon route from the lllinois
mainiand to Rock Island.

By the next decade, civilian development on
the island had increased. The dams and the
water power attracted additional mills, plants,
and squatters to Rock Island. These interested
civilians, along with speculators, manufacturers,
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railroads, and waterpower companies, attempted
to acquire titles to lands on the island. Eastern
speculators who had investments in western land
development, railroads, and waterpower
companies also attempted to acquire the island.
The local citizenry was divided between those
interested in personally exploiting the island's
natural resources and those that supported the
establishment of an arsenal on Rock Island.
Many citizens of the Rock Island vicinity
recognized the positive economic impact an
arsenal would have on the development of the
area. A committee, comprised of Rock Island
County citizens, John Buford, Joseph Knox,
Joseph B. Wells, John Morse and George Mixter,
drafted an appeal to President John Tyler in the
early 1840s to select Rock Island as the site for
the new arsenal. The committee reminded the
President that the selection of Rock Island would
eliminate the need to purchase a site. Another
argument presented by the committee included
the ease by which arms could be supplied to the
West from Rock Island via the Mississippi River
and its tributaries. In addition, the appeal cited
the rich mineral regions near Rock Island and the
vast water power available at Rock Island.*’



Left: Jefferson Davis, Secretary of War, 1853-1857, used the authority of his office first as Senator then as War
Secretary to block the sale of Rock Island. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Right: Dred Scott, slave and household servant of Dr. John Emerson, accompanied the doctor, an army surgeon,
to Rock Island in 1833. Years later, Dred Scott became involved in a legal battle for his freedom which reached the
U.S. Supreme Court. In its famous “Dred Scott Decision” of 1857, the U.S. Supreme Court declared that Scott and
other Negro slaves were not citizens of the U.S., and therefore, not entitled to sue in court for their freedom.

(AMCCOM-HO Archives}

Several prominent politicians in Washington,
D.C., also supported the view that Rock Island
should be kept in reserve and not offered for
public sale. The staunchest of these supporters
was Jefferson Davis. First as a Senator in 1850,
and four years later, as the Secretary of War,
Jefferson Davis used the authority of his office to
block the sale of Rock Island. In an 1854
response to a congressional request for his views
regarding the sale of the island, War Secretary
Davis outlined his department’'s plan for Rock
Island.

| have the honor to acknowledge the

receipt of your letter...asking the views
of this Department as to the expediency
of selling the military reservation at Fort
Armstrong, on Rock Island, lllinois, as
contemplated by Senate bill No. 195.
The water power available at that place,
and the communication by water and
by railroads projected or in course of
construction, concur with other
circumstances in rendering Rock
Island one of the most advantageous
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sites in the whole western country for
an armory or an arsenal of construction
for the manufacture of wagons,
clothing, or other military supplies. . ..
Any act that may pass to authorize the
sale of (the island) should, | think, leave
to the (War) Department full power to
retain whatever of the reservation may
be found useful and proper for the
contemplated works, for which it is
hoped that Congress will at some
future day make the necessary
appropriation.*®

Ironically, less than a decade later, Jefferson
Davis had become President of the Confederate
States of America; Congress had appropriated
funds for the establishment of an arsenal at Rock
Island; and the Union Quartermaster Corps had
constructed on Rock Island a prison barracks for
the detention of captured confederate soldiers
during the Civil War.

Despite Jefferson Davis' success in preventing
the sale of Rock Island, private encroachment
continued. By 1854, private citizens, in disregard



Below: David B. Sears’ 1850s Mississippi Mills on Rock Island, along the northeast opposite Benham's Island.
(cartouche from 1857 map of Moline) (Rock Island County Historical Society)

to government objections, erected a variety of
buildings on Rock Island. These citizens did not
fit the stereo-typed “dirt poor” pioneer squatter

found in contemporary literature and films.
Instead, many of the “squatters” on Rock Island
were successful businessmen. They operated on
the island several saw mills, a sash and blind
factory, a chair factory, a wooden tub and pail
plant, two shingle shops, two warehouses, a
number of stables, and several lumberyards. A
few railroad shanties, a dozen or so homes, and
other lesser buildings were also on Rock Island.
Several of these island businessmen became
prominent citizens of the local area. They
included David B. Sears, Spencer H. White, and
John W. Spencer, owners of a brush dam built in
1841 across Sylvan Slough which connected
Rock Island to the lllinois mainland. The three
dam owners laid out a town on the lllinois
mainland opposite the upper end of Rock Island.
Initially, they named the town site Rock Island
Mills. However, there were already numerous
communities, a river, and an island with similar
Rock Island names. Therefore, David B. Sears
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and the others joined with Huntington Wellis,
Charles Atkinson, and Joel Wells in plotting out a
larger town in 1843, naming it Moline.

David B. Sears, DeWitt Dimock, and John Gould
- Early Entrepreneurs

In 1855, David Sears purchased title to
Benham's lIsland, situated near the upper or
eastern portion of the larger island of Rock
Island. Earlier, in 1846, he had built a stone wall
dam which connected Benham’s Island with
Rock Island. The dam furnished water power to
Sear's flour mill on Benham’'s lIsland and to

several businesses on the main island. In
addition to the mill, a house with barn,
outbuildings, three warehouses, and a

steamboat landing were built by David Sears on
Benham's Island. A road built between the two
dams formed part of a wagon route that
stretched from Moline, across the dam at
Benham's Island, to the steamboat landing.
From this steamboat landing, wagons were
ferried across the Mississippi River to the lowa



Below: Reproduction of original Moline survey plat by P.H. Ogilvie in 1843. Note the dam across Sylvan Slough to
Rock Isiand and the notation of the Sears Mill at the southern end. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)
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This is a reproduction of P.H. Ogilvie's original survey for the town of Moline, which was made in 1843,

shore.

The Sears' mills and dams built at Rock Island
attracted other businesses to Rock Island. The
waterpower available at Rock Island brought
commerce to the island. In 1847, Sears
persuaded John Deere and his partners, Robert
N. Tate and John Gould, to resettle in Moline
along the shore of the Sylvan Slough. He did this
by offering Deere and Associates rent-free
waterpower for a period of time, and also
promising he would build them a frame factory if
they would relocate their plow shop from Grand
Detour, lllinois, to Moline.

David B. Sears and other citizens who held
property on Rock Island without legal authority
maintained extended correspondence with
legislators in Washington, D.C., in an effort to
obtain titles to the properties. Only the
persistence of Colonel George Davenport and
David B. Sears paid off. They were the only
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ones to receive legal title to property on Rock
Island. As with the case of Colonel Davenport,
David Sears received title to the 35.45 acres of
land on Rock Island opposite Benham's Island
through a special act of Congress. Influential
politicians had aided both Sears and Colonel
Davenport. In 1855, David B. Sears succeeded
through the special act of Congress to purchase
35.45 acres of island property for $1.25 an acre;
the same price per acre that Colonel Davenport
paid for his 158 acres in 1844.

Mr. Sears, an enterprising man, laid out a
portion of his island property in lots. He planned
to develop it as a subdivision to the city of
Moline. Although David Sears sold a few lots to
his Rock Island Village, the village never
developed, and Mr. Sears sold the property back
to the Federal Government for $145,175. The
price reflected improvements he had made on
his property.



Top Right: DeWitt C. Dimock, (Moline Public Library)

Bottom Right: John M. Gould. The two partners operated a woodware factory on Rock
Island, 1852-1857. Dimock, Gould and Company continued its lumber business for over a
century in Moline, IL. (Moline Public Library)

Bottom Left: Expansion of Dimock & Gould was announced by this advertisement in the
Fleming and Torrey city directory of Moline for 1856-1857. (Moline Public Library)

DIMOCK & GOULD.

MANUFACTURERS OF

TUBS, PAILS,
AND BEDSTEADS;
ALSD, ALY KINOS OF YURNED SYUP?,
Have doubled their machinery since last year.

Expansion of Dimock & Gould was announced by
this advertisement in the Fleming and Torrey city

directory of Moline for 1856-1857.

Dimock, Gould and Company

Shortly after John Deere and Robert N. Tate
moved their plow shop from Grand Detour to
Moline, the two partners invited John Gould, an
accountant from Grand Detour, to buy into their
plow business. In November 1851, Mr. Gould
sold his interest in the company to John Deere
for $2,600. John Gould then formed a
partnership with his brother-in-law, DeWitt
Dimock. In 1852, they opened a woodenware
business on Rock Island named Dimock, Gould
and Company. The two partners selected the
island as a site for their business in order to take
advantage of the waterpower and to be closer to
the lumberyards on the island. DeWitt Dimock
had earlier, in 1846, established a bedstead
factory on Rock Island; but, in 1852, he sold his
factory and joined John Gould in forming their
wooden tub and pail factory on the island. Their
printed business cards read: “Dimock and Gould
manufacturers of wooden tubs, pails, bedsteads,
and all kinds of (wooded) turned stuff.”+?

Dimock, Gould and Company’'s woodenware
factory was the first of its kind in the local area.

Prior to 1852, woodenware was shipped into the
area from the East at great expense. DeWitt
Dimock employed the latest technology in his
plant. He instituted the assembly line system,
and mass production methods, and relied heavily
upon machinery to do practically everything but
fasten rivets and paint the products. However, in
1856, a fire destroyed the factory; but, by the
following year, Dimock and Gould had built
another on the island. After the old brush dam
road was washed out due to a flood, Dimock,
Gould and Company replaced the road with a
wooden bridge that spanned the siough from
Moline to the island. Later, the Federal
Government replaced the bridge with a stronger
one, constructed in 1873. During the Civil War,
Dimock and Gould found an excellent customer
for their products right on the island. The
woodenware company provided wooden barrels,
tubs, pails, and other wooden products for the
Rock Island Prison Barracks. Later, wooden
buckets, pails, barreis, etc., were replaced by
galvanized (coated with rust-resistant zinc)
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Below: Dimock, Gould and Company’s Tub and Pail Factory on Rock Island. The island factory was located near
the dam which crossed the Sylvan Slough to Moline, Illinois. Cartouche from 1857 map of Moline. (Rock Island

County Historical Society.)

metal products. In 1862, when Congress passed
an act establishing a national arsenal at Rock
Island, Dimock, Gould and Company, plus
several other parties who had received grants
for temporary property leases, were notified by
the War Department to leave the island. By 1867,
it became evident to the two partners that they
were not going to receive a permanent title to the
property which they had developed on Rock
Island. Neither Dimock or Gould submitted a
claim for monetary settlement to the federal
commission that handled the final settiement
proceedings. Instead, however, the firm packed
its equipment and reestablished itself at a new
location on the Moline side of the Mississippi
River. It was at this new location that Dimock,
Gould and Company developed their famous
paper pail. Dimock, Gould and Company
outlasted its founders. For over a century, the
company which the two brothers-in-law initially
started on Rock lsland continued to operate in
Moline and the surrounding communities.

The presence of squatters on Rock Island,
however, had a negative effect on the island.
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They damaged Rock Island’s timber by cutting
and stealing the wood. Joseph M. Street, U.S.
Indian agent for the Sauk and Fox Indians after
the Black Hawk War, notified the War
Department that the island, though once well-
timbered, had been nearly cleared of its original
growth by the public. The squatters destroyed
young and old trees and also took possession of
favored spots of land on the island. After being
informed regarding the squatters and wood
stealing at Rock lIsland, President Martin Van
Buren issued a statement instructing the marshal
to remove the squatters from the military
reservation at Rock Island and, if necessary, to
take additional legal steps against the
trespassers. Nevertheless, the U.S. marshals and
other civil officers were, for the most part,
ineffective in their attempts to remove the
offenders. In addition to squatters cutting
clearings in the island’'s timber, and other
trespassers pilfering wood for fuel, railroad
workers in 1853 began clearing a 100 foot wide
path across the island in preparation for laying
track.



Below: View of first bridge from Rock Island to Davenport, railroad bridge built 1853-1856. Note the suspension
chains added in 1859 to reinforce the fixed wooden spans. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

First Bridge Across the Mississippi River

Plans for a transcontinental railroad had long
been a dream of railroad men in America. But,
before the dream could be a reality, major
obstacles had to be overcome. Several of these
obstacles were man-made, such as the right of
each state government to grant charters and to
regulate railroad construction within the
boundaries. Southern politicians attempted to
block the advancement of the northern rail route
across the United States. Northern
Congressmen, in turn, were successful in
vetoing a southern rail route to the Pacific Coast.
In 1853, Jefferson Davis, Secretary of War in the
pro-southern administration of President
Franklin Pierce, arranged to buy the Gadsden
Purchase from Mexico. This strip of 30,000
square miles in New Mexico and Arizona
provided the missing link in a proposed New
Orleans-to-San Diego railroad. Davis, smarting
from the congressional defeat of a southern rail
route to the Pacific Coast, was extremely active
in delaying the northern route to California.
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A proposed Chicago-to-San Francisco rail
route crossed the Mississippi River at Rock
Island, an island under control of the War
Department. Secretary of War Davis attempted to
halt construction by involving the bridge
company in litigation over the company's right-
of-way across the island.

Other interests, besides southern politicians
and southern railroad men, were against the
building of a rail route across the heartland of
America. Steamboat and river town interests
perceived the railroad as a threat to their inland
waterway commerce. The Mississipi River and
its tributaries provided a natural north-south
trade route for the Midwest's agricultural
products and raw materials. St. Louis became
the clearing-house for such trade. From St.
Louis, merchants shipped trade goods up the
Ohio River to Pittsburgh or transported the cargo
down river to New Orleans.

The arrival of the railroad on the east bank of
the Mississippi River at Rock Island, however,
offered midwest farmers of lowa and northern



Below: A view of the St. Louis docks jammed with packets. St. Louis steamboat owners attempted to block
construction of the 1856 railroad bridge at Rock Island. (Davenport Public Library)

Right:

Bridge advocate A.C. Fulton (Davenport Public Library)

Middle: Judge James Grant, President of the Rock Island and LaSalle Railroad Company. Judge Grant resided in

Davenport, lowa.

(Davenport Public Library Special Collections)

lllinois a direct east-west trade route to Chicago
and to urban markets farther east. The St. Louis
Chamber of Commerce could see its city being
replaced by Chicago as the new “hub of the

Midwest”. The clash between these two
powerful centers of commerce for control of the
Midwest's commercial shipping occurred at
Rock Island.

It was not by accident that the railroad came to
Rock Island. In June 1845, Colonel George
Davenport had hosted a meeting at his island
estate to discuss bringing a railroad to Rock
Island. Prominent citizens from the Rock Island
area such as Antoine LeClaire and Judge James
Grant attended the meeting. These enterprising
men realized the commercial benefits which
would result from railroad and bridge
construction at Rock Istand. Although Colonel
Davenport was murdered two weeks after the
meeting, others who attended continued to
formulate plans to bring a railroad to Rock
Island; on 27 February 1847, they succeeded.
The Illinois General Assembly granted them a
charter to construct a LaSalle-to-Rock Island
raitroad line.
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LaSalle was the community at the end of the
lllinois and (Lake) Michigan Canal from where
Rock Island and LaSalle Railroad Company
began and was initially managed by local tri-city
investors. Judge James Grant of Davenport was
elected president of the company. Among the
directors of the new line were Napoleon B.
Buford, Rock Island; Ebenezer Cook, Davenport;
and Charles Atkinson, Moline. However, they
lacked experience in railroad building so the
Rock Island and LaSalle Line developed slowly.5°

Fortunately, Mr. Henry Farnam, an
experienced railroad man and investor, took an
interest in the project as an extension of his
Michigan and Southern Railroad and got other
railroad men to invest in the line. Interest in the
line increased sharply after the directors
followed Mr. Farnam's suggestion and extended
the line east to Chicago. On 1 October 1851,
under its new name, the Chicago and Rock
Island Railroad Company, began to build
westward from Chicago towards Rock Island. As
the railroad advanced in the direction of Rock
Island, it attracted additional investors. The
prospect of linking Chicago and Lake Michigan



Right: Portrait of Henry Farnam, President and Chief

Engineer of the Railroad Bridge Company, chartered in
1853. (AMCCOM-HO Archives) Below: The John A. Dix,
Seventh Engine of the Mississippi and Missouri Railroad.
It crossed the river on ice in the winter of 1855. (AMCCOM-HO
Archives)

with the Mississippi River appealed to many
investors. However, the additional prospect of
Rock Island becoming the site for the first bridge
to span the Mississippi River certainly sweetened
the investment.

For years, Rock Island had been recognized as
the best point at which to bridge the Mississippi
River. Mr. A.C. Fulton, a noted civil engineer,
among others, surveyed the river crossing at
Rock Island and endorsed it as the best site for
the first bridge. Engineers of the railroad
company preferred Rock Island for numerous
reasons. The Mississippi River was narrow at
that point, and the shores were bedrock.
However, the key attraction seemed to be the
island of Rock Island. Using the island as a
stepping stone to cross the river appealed to the
engineers. The bridge’s construction would be
easier, therefore more economical. Rock
Island’s location, 180 miles directly west of
Chicago, made it less expensive to build than, for
instance, the Galena, lllinois area.

Ironically, an 1859 study, performed by a
board of engineers after the construction of the
first bridge, cited the location as a poor choice.

Notations on a map prepared by the engineers to
accompany their report to the War Department
had “Bad location for a bridge” written beside
the original bridge. A better choice was further
downstream, at the old ferry crossing from the
city of Rock Island to the Davenport levee. Two
main criticisms of the bridge's original site were
that it was too near the rapids, and that its draw
span did not line up with the current of the main
channel.®

The M & M Bridge Company

Three corporations had to be formed in order
to build a railroad that would span the
Mississippi River at Rock Island. The Chicago &
Rock Island (C&RI) Railroad Company’s charter
only applied to constructing a railroad within the
boundaries of the state of lllinois. Several
directors from the C & Rl Railroad joined with a
group of lowa investors to organize the
Mississippi and Missouri (M&M) Railroad
Company.

The M&M Railroad Company’'s charter
empowered them to construct a railroad from
Davenport, lowa, on the west banks of the
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Below: The original Rock Island to Davenport bridge had a Howe-Truss superstructure. This first railroad bridge
across the Mississippi River was constructed of five wooden spans plus a draw span. The single tracked railroad

bridge was painted with two coats of white paint.

River, to Council Bluffs, lowa,

Mississippi
situated on the east banks of the Missouri River.

The C&R Railroad and the M&M Railroad
formed a subsidiary firm named the M&M Bridge
Company. The bridge company had interlocking
directors from the two railroad firms as officers.
The officers of the two companies agreed to

cooperate in building a bridge across the
Mississippi River and to jointly finance the
project. In January 1853, the M&M Bridge
Company acquired a charter from the state of
lllinois to construct a railroad bridge across the
Mississippi River to the lowa side. The two
railroad lines that composed what was, in reality,
one railroad were later allowed to merge. The
Chicago & Rock Island track was completed in
1854. The Mississippi & Missouri Railroad,
organized in 1853, finished its route from
Davenport to Council Bluffs in 1869. By then the
company had become the Chicago, Rock Island,
and Pacific Railroad Company.

The bridging of the Mississippi River required
three phases: first, the construction of a span
across Sylvan Siough (southern channel) to
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(AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Rock Island; second, the laying of a railroad bed
in a northeast direction across the island, past
Colonel Davenport's property, to the north shore
of the island; and third, constructing the bridge
over the main or northern channel.

The Act of 1852 granted rights-of-way through
public lands to railroads and road building
companies, and the M&M Bridge Company
directors assumed that Rock Island was public
land and proceeded to survey the river and the
island. The island’s status, however, seemed
uncertain at that time because of past
announcements and rumors of its sale.

Description of the Bridge

The company went ahead and hired two
private contractors to build the bridge at Rock
Island. The John Warner Co., a local firm,
received a contract to construct the piers and
establish the grade for the railroad bed across
the island. Stone & Boomer Co., of Chicago,
constructed the superstructure of the bridge
using specially fabricated Howe Truss-type
spans.s?



Below: The cover of Judge John McLean's written opinion delivered July 1855, in the case of the United States,
vs. the Railroad Bridge Company, et. al. (Augustana College Special Collections)

Right: Rock Island wagon bridge that provided access to the island from the city of Rock Island, across Sylvan
Slough. (Moline Public Library Local History Collections)

Description of the Original Bridge

The original bridge had a Howe Truss-type
superstructure with a single track. The
superstructure was constructed of timber and
consisted of five wooden spans, plus a draw
span. Its draw span, the heaviest and largest of
its time, was located in the middle of the river.
The timber cords of the bridge were protected
with two coats of white paint. The bridging of the
Mississippi was a major technological
achievement. Nothing of that size or status had
yet been constructed in the area.

United States vs. Railroad Bridge Company, et al
(and others)

By June 1854, the John Warner Company had
the stone abutments in place on both sides of
Rock Island, plus the stone piers in the south
channel (Sylvan Slough) finished. At this point
in the bridge's construction, an officer from
Washington, accompanied by two U.S. marshals,
appeared at Rock Island: On behalf of the
Secretary of War, the officer notified the
contractors that they were trespassing on federal
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property. The officer then instructed the
contractors to halt their work and remove all
their buildings and other property from Rock
Island within 15 days. Directors of the M & M
Bridge Company decided to ignore the order.
They ordered the contractors to continue their
work on Rock Island. Construction work did
continue but at a slow pace because of the
uncertainty of the situation. Railroad and bridge
interests considered Rock Island to be public
land, since there was no military presence on the
island. They hoped that the Act of 1852 would
substantiate their claim to a right-of-way for
construction of a railroad across the island.
After lengthy legal correspondence between
the War Department and the railroad, Secretary
of War Jefferson Davis ordered the U.S. District
Attorney in northern lllinois to begin litigation
against the M & M Bridge Company. The district
attorney applied for a court injunction to prevent
the construction of a railroad across the island
and also to prevent building of bridges over the
river. In its suit, the government charged the
bridge company with trespassing on federal
property and with obstructing river navigation.



Below: The second Rock Island to Davenport bridge, shown below, was damaged in the Spring of 1868 after ice
moved a pier and wind blew the swing span into the water. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

In July 1855, the case, titled “The United States
vs. Railroad Bridge Company, et al.,, (and
others),” came before the United States Circuit

Court. Judge John MclLean, an Associate
Justice of the Supreme Court, presided over the
case. After listening to testimony from both
parties, Judge McLean ruled against granting an
injunction sought by the War Department. The
judge cited the Congressional Act of 1852 as part
of his reasons for refusing to grant the United
States Government its application.

Influx of Squatters on Rock Island

Judge John McLean's decision to reject the
government’'s request for an injunction to halt
bridge and railroad construction on Rock Island
had an impact on another issue, that being
whether or not Rock Island would be open to
civilian settlement, or reserved for a future
military purpose. Settlers interpreted the
judge's ruling to mean the island would soon be
offered for public sale.

For years a cloud of uncertainty in regard to
Rock Island’s future hung over the island. The
Secretary of War's Office had argued with
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Congress and squatters alike over the future of
Rock Island. Finally, in 1848, Secretary of War,
William March offered the island property for
sale at public auction. He succumbed to
pressures applied by persistent squatters and
influential land speculators. Curiously, no
announcements of the auction date appeared in
the local Rock Island area. Only after someone
“spotted” an advertisement announcing 5
January 1850 as the day of the auction did area
citizens become aware of the plan. Local
residents feared the sale was a scheme, whereby
St. Louis and New York land speculators could
acquire title to the land they held on Rock Island.

Not all area residents favored civilian
development of Rock Island. Many local people
supported the building of a national armory on
Rock Isiand. These local citizens immediately
wrote their congressmen and sent a spokesman
to Washington, D.C., to protect the sale and
promote their cause. The hostile mood of some
of the local citizens prevented the sale.
Squatters, who occupied land on Rock Island
without legal title, posted warning that any
bidding by outsiders on their claims would be at



Below: Abraham Lincoin during his days as an attorney in lllinois. (lllinois State Historical Society).

their own peril. After being alerted to the
potentially volatile situation at Rock Island,
officials in Washington telegraphed the
auctioneer to postpone the sale. Private parties
who had an interest in the private commercial
development of Rock Island organized and hired
several attorneys to present their case in court.
Abraham Lincoln was one of those attorneys
who unsuccessfully attempted to win title claims
for some of the squatters.

With this past history in mind, and with news of
Judge McLeans’s decision allowing the railroad
and the bridge to be constructed across and on
Rock Isiand, squatters converged on the island.
The number of applications for preemption to
Rock Island property filed with the Register of
the General Land Office in Springfield rose
sharply after McLean's decision was announced.
Squatters literally flocked to Rock Island and
staked out their claims. Quarrels developed over
which party was occupying which
quartersection. Major D.W. Flagler stated in his
work, History of the Rock Island Arsenal, that
“one man, Mr. Shaub of Davenport, who had a

house near the present site of the commanding
officers quarters, had his house torn down,
loaded on a raft, set on fire, and sent
downstream.”s3

From the late 1850s until the beginning of the
Civil War in 1861, squatters on Rock lIsland
continued to seek legal confirmation of their
preemption claims to land on the island.
However, when the Civil War began, the
attentions of the squatters and the nation turned
to the more urgent issue of preserving the Union.
A majority of the private parties who had
occupied land on Rock Island relinquished their
preemption claims when Congress passed an act
establishing a national arsenal on Rock Island.
Others agreed to vacate the island once the
Federal Government actually began occupying
the island. Eventually, the Federal Government
established a commission to hear and settle
monetary claims filed by certain squatters.

However, prior to the establishment of an
arsenal at Rock Island, The Rock Island Bridge
Company was involved in yet another landmark
court case. The railroad bridge at Rock Island
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Below: Effig Afton incident (Artist unknown). On 6 May 1856, the steamer Effie Afton crashed into the recently
constructed railroad bridge at Rock Island, setting it afire. (Rock Island County Historical Society)

enhanced the island’s attractiveness to Congress
as a potential site for a national arsenal. First,
the bridge company had to survive a court battle
waged by commercial steamboat interests.

Effie Afton Incident

The railroad arrived on the eastern bank of the
Mississippi River in the midst of the steamboat's
golden era. Transportation of the upper
Mississippi River Valley was controlled
exclusively by St. Louis steamboat interests until
the railroad’s arrival. Steamboat owners
watched developments at the bridge and waited
anxiously for an opportunity to confront the
railroad and bridge builders in court. They
considered the bridge at Rock Island to be a
threat to their packet and ferry business, which
operated on the upper Mississippi River.

On 22 April 1856, the first locomotive to span
the Mississippi River crossed the railroad bridge
at Rock Island. Two weeks later, the incident
that the steamboat owners had hoped for
occurred. On 6 May 1856, the steamboat Effie
Afton departed the town of Rock Island bound
for St. Paul, Minnesota. As the steamer entered
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the main channel of the river, she collided with a
ferryboat. Receiving only slight damage, the
Effie Afton proceeded through the bridge's
drawspan. Once the vessel had cleared the span
her side paddle stopped churning. The swift
current of the upper rapids carried the ill-fated
Effie Afton crashing back against the railroad
bridge. Shortly after the crash, nearby boats
rescued the passengers, some luggage, and the
boat's crew. While the Effie Afton laid against
the bridge, a fire ignited the boat and spread
onto the bridge, burning portions of the bridge’s
wooden superstructure. Newspaper articles of
the incident stated that the steamboats along the
shore blew their whistles, some as a warning to
other boats traveling the river, and others as an
act of celebration.

Mr. James Hurd and Associates, owners of the
Effie Afton, filed a lawsuit against the bridge
company for damages. Steamboat owners
hoped that this test case would hinder other
bridge building ventures along the Mississippi
River Valley. They believed a favorable verdict
would discourage investors from financing
future bridge building on the Mississippi River.



Below: /n 1865, the railroad bridge at Rock Island was completely rebuilt using heavier timber. This second
superstructure was replaced by an iron double deck bridge, when the location of the bridge was changed to its
present site in 1872. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Officially, the case was titled “Hurd et al., (and
others) vs. the Railroad Bridge Company”, but it
became popularly known as the “Effie Afton
Case”. The Hurd lawsuit came to trial in Chicago
before the federal district for northern lllinois.
The presiding officer was Judge John McLean,
who had earlier ruled against the Federal
Government's request for an injunction to halt
railroad and bridge building operations across
Rock Island. The M & M Bridge Company
obtained Abraham Lincoln who argued the case.
The plaintiffs, Mr. Hurd and Associates, solicited
two prominent midwest lawyers, H.M. Wead and
T.D. Lincoln, to argue their cases. The two

Lincolns, however, were not related. Abe
Lincoln, then a young, rising Springfield
attorney, had been generally credited with

winning the case. However, court records show
the trial actually ended in a hung jury; nine jurors
stood in favor of the bridge, and three members
of the jury opposed the structure. Legally, the
case was subject to retrial, but the steamboat
interests decided to submit another case to a
different federal court.

On 7 May 1859, the steamboat attorneys filed

65

a suit against the M & M Bridge Company in the
U.S. District Court in southeast lowa. The
objective of this suit was to have the federal court
declare the bridge at Rock Island to be a public
nuisance and to receive a court order for its
removal. Judge John M. Love ruled in favor of
James Ward, a St. Louis steamboat owner.
Judge Love declared the bridge a nuisance and
ordered those portions of the bridge which
extended into lowa be removed. The M & M
Bridge Company promptly appealed the
decision to the U.S. Supreme Court. In
December 1862, the highest court in the land set
aside the lower court decision and nullified the
order.

Still, steamboat owners continued to harass
the bridge builders with law suits until the U.S.
Congress passed a law declaring a similar type
of bridge at Clinton, lowa, to be a legal structure.
After this congressional decision, the judge
dismissed law suits that were still pending
against the bridge.>*

Both Chicago and St. Louis newspapers, as
well as the respective Chambers of Commerce,
actively supported their cities’ interests during



Below: Pier of the original bridge at Rock Isfand. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

the trials. The St. Louis Chamber of Commerce
took an especially active interest in the trials. St.
Louis businessmen actively raised money for
lawyers’ fees and court costs to battle the bridge.
In addition, the St. Louis Chamber of Commerce
dispatched its own committee to Chicago to
present its arguments to the public during the
Effie Afton trial.

The St. Louis Chamber of Commerce’s strong
commitment to removing the bridge at Rock
Island may have led some of its members to use
criminal means in accomplishing this objective.
Two men were arrested at Rock Island and
charged with attempted arson of the railroad
bridge at Rock Island. Although the two were
not convicted, it was generally believed by tri-
city residents that they had been recruited by the
St. Louis Chamber of Commerce to set the
bridge on fire.5®

Despite these efforts to remove the bridge, the

66

structure endured. The first bridge
superstructure lasted for nearly ten years.
During the 1850s, portions of its timbers were
destroyed by fire and damaged by ice jams and
windstorms. After only three years, the bridge’s
wooden spans needed strengthening due to the
volume of trains and vehicles that used the
bridge. More powerful, heavier, stronger
spans were needed to support this additional
weight.

Eventually, in 1865, the bridge company
completely rebuilt the bridge using heavier
timber. The new span was constructed over and
around the old chords, then the original timbers
were removed. This procedure allowed the
bridge to remain open during the building of the
new span.

A stone memorial commemorating the site of
the original railroad bridge across the
Mississippi River is presently situated near the



Below: The Government Bridge of 1872 was made of iron with a rail deck above the wagon deck. It was situated in
the present location of the Government Bridge to Davenport, lowa. (AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Colonel Davenport House, along the northwest
shore of the island.

In 1866, the Federal Government proposed to
the M & M Bridge Company that the location of
the bridge be changed to its present site. The
government offered to share the expense of
building the new bridge. Brigadier General
Thomas J. Rodman, the second Commanding
Officer of the Rock Island Arsenal, drafted the
plan which satisfied the requirements of both the
railroad company and the United States
Government. The railroad company agreed to
give up its old right-of-way across Rock Island
and remove its track and bridges in exchange for
a new bridge, which would be built at the
extreme west end of the island. The railroad
tracks across the island were relocated to allow
the arsenal to fully develop the interior of Rock
Island. Also, the tracks were connected to an
arsenal trackage. The bridge was finally
completed and turned over to the Rock Island
Arsenal in February 1873. General Rodman’s
commitment to the relocation of the rail tracks
and the construction of a new bridge at the
northwest end of the island was a key to the
success of the project. In 1869, General Rodman
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ordered surveys of the Mississippi riverbed and
measurements of the river current velocity at
various stages. He then determined the sites for
the bridge abutments and piers. Letters written
by General Rodman to his superiors reveal the
energy and thought he had put into the bridge
project.

Initially, the bridge was to be a double track
bridge with an extra deck for wagons. However,
estimated costs for such a bridge exceeded
congressional appropriations. General Rodman
carried on a lengthy correspondence with the
Chief of Ordnance and the Secretary of War
seeking the additional funds necessary to build
the bridge. Unfortunately his persistence led to
the transfer of the bridge construction to the
Engineering Department. Major Daniel Flagler,
his successor as Commanding Officer of the
Rock island Arsenal, stated: “General Rodman
was deeply interested, and took great pride in his
work, and its (bridge construction) transfer to
other offices was a serious blow to him.”

General Rodman remained interested in the
bridge after its transfer to the engineers.
Periodically, he recommended changes in its
construction. His suggestions included such



Below: The 1896 U.S. Government Bridge's upper (railroad) deck.

(AMCCOM-HO Archives)

Right: The Jower (wagon) deck of the 1896 bridge; note the street car tracks used by horse carriages. (AMCCOM-
HO Archives)

basic revisions as the placing of the wagon road
deck under the railroad tracks, rather than above
it, as initially planned.5¢

Description of the 1872 Bridge

The 1872 iron bridge which connected Arsenal
Island to Davenport measured slightly over 1,500
feet in length.” The bridge had five spans 220 to
260 feet long, plus a draw span of 368 feet in
length. The superstructure of the bridge was a
double Whipple truss with two decks. The bridge
stood 37 feet and 2 inches tall from the top of the
piers to the top bracing. The width of the
structure was a narrow 16 feet, considering it
was for two way wagon traffic. The posts and the
top chords of the bridge were wrought iron and
the ties were flat iron bars. The Baltimore Bridge
Company erected the superstructure, and the
Phoenix Company manufactured the iron work.
Two vertical hydraulic jacks, operated by steam
power, swung the 368 foot draw span. (For a
more detailed description of the 1872 iron bridge
consult Chapter V of Major Flagler's A History of
the Rock Island Arsenaf, published in 1877).
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U.S. Government Bridge 1896

By the 1890s, locomotives and rail cars had
become too large and heavy for the old 1872 iron
bridge. A replacement was needed and, in 1895,
construction began on a stronger bridge of steel
structure, capable of supporting the increasingly
heavier traffic. Ralph Modjeski, Chicago, lHlinois,
was the design engineer for the new bridge.
Completed in 1896, the new bridge was
constructed on the old piers. Eventually, it
accommodated street cars, as well as railroad
cars, vehicles, and foot traffic. Known as the
Government Bridge, the 1896 bridge is still used
today between Arsenal Island and Davenport,
lowa.%8

Citizen Support for an Arsenal at Rock Island

Area residents periodically campaigned for the
establishment of the arsenal at Rock Island. In
1859, the lowa State Legislature joined the cause
by sending a memorial advocating such a plan to
the U.S. Congress. A joint resolution of the lowa
State Senate and House of Representatives,



Below: Major H.C. Connelley toured the midwest promoting Rock Island as a site for a new arsenal. Mr. Connelley
was a prominent Rock Island attorney. (Rock Island Arsenal Museum) Right: Bailey Davenport, as Mayor of Rock
Island, actively promoted the island of Rock Isiand as a site for a national arsenal or armory. (Rock Island Arsenal

Museum, Rock Island Arsenal)

approved in 1861, called for the congressional
legislators from lowa to work for the
establishment of an arsenal on Rock Island.’®
During the same year, Governor Yates of lllinois,
and other state officials, sent a letter to the
Secretary of War encouraging him to support the
location of an armory at Rock Island. The
destruction of the federal armory at Harper's
Ferry by Confederate troops in April 1861
dramatically demonstrated to Congress the need
for a replacement site secure from enemy
attack.°

In 1861, Bailey Davenport, son of Colonel
George Davenport and mayor of Rock lsland,
marshalled local support in a well-organized
effort to attract congressional votes favoring
Rock Island as the replacement site. Local
newspapers contributed articles promoting the
island as a site for a national arsenal. Mayor
Davenport persuaded the Rock Island City
Council to appropriate funds for the printing of a
promotional pamphlet. The pamphlet stressed
the potential waterpower and rich resources
found in the upper Mississippi River Valley and
nearby regions. It also emphasized Rock
Island’s strategic location, which made it
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and its

relatively
excellent access to river and rail transportation.
The pamphlet went on to cite the plentiful supply
of inexpensive labor and food found in the Rock

impervious from invasion,

Island vicinity. Another argument noted the
patriotism of the local citizens. A series of
foldout maps of the area were aiso attached to
the pamphlets. The pamphiet was freely
distributed to congressmen.®'

A committee of ten men, led by Bailey
Davenport, served as the executive committee
for the campaign. The committee members
came from the tri-cities, with half the
representatives from Rock Island, and the
remaining five from Davenport, lowa, and
Moline, lllinois. Major H.C. Connelley, a
prominent Rock Island attorney, conducted a
tour through the Midwest to promote the case in
other communities. Committee members also
traveled to Washington, D.C., to lobby for the
adoption of Senate Bill No. 352, which called for
the creation of an arsenal on Rock Island and
which had been sponsored by one of the lowa
Senators. James W. Grimes, lllinois Senator,
however, favored other locations elsewheie in
Illinois, such as Chicago. An amendment to the



Below: A promotional memorial to Congress from interested citizens of the Tri-Cities appea/{ng for the
establishment of a national armory at Rock Island. An armory is generally limited to the manufacturing of small
arms, while an arsenal includes the production of heavier weapons and equipment.

Right: J.B. Danforth contributed to the cause by publishing pamphlets at the Rock Island Argus Book and Job

Office in 1861.

[P

P dhehys ~ O
1) ’ :
Yt ¥

¢ NATIONAL ARMORY, D

. _PROPERTY OF THE i
- 'hock island County {Hlinois) -+ . [
i Wistorical Sociely IR
2 AN APPEAL :1.’-

'I‘O CONGRESS |

WY THE CITIZENS vy

!tod- Fslnnd and Moline, :!llmms i ’

—aND—

l
' |
| DAVENTORT, TOW A, {

—

|
. 0 N H
i YAVOR B' A XAﬂﬂlAl ANMORY ON THE !lfl 0' '0“ ”
- ARMETKONG, ON TUK [SLAND OF ROCK ISLAND, IN | }
‘-_»‘ TIHE STATE OF ILLINOIN, N

|
i
i
i
1

e .

PRINTED .
\T THR ROCK 1SLAND AKGOS BUGK AND JOR (IHI( K !

.
i : 1wt
‘i H i B

9T T T amemes RP=RL32,

bill reduced the arsenal to a repair and deposit
arsenal, rather than a manufacturing arsenal.s?
Also, the amendment increased the number of

arsenal sites to three. These sites were
Indianapolis, Indiana; Columbus, Ohio; and
Rock Island. The amended bill passed both

houses and became law on 11 June 1863.%
The present day Rock Island Arsenal officially
recognizes the year 1862 as the beginning date
of the arsenal. Congressional approval of the
Act of 11 June 1862 set off a chain of events that
had considerable impact on the future of Rock
Island. Within a year after the Congress had
approved the Act of 1862, the U.S. Army had
reestablished its military presence on Rock
Island. The next year Congress approved the
Act of 19 April 1864, which authorized the army
to clear the island of all property claims made by
private parties and by the local communities. A
Board of Commissioners, appointed by the
President of the United States, reviewed the
more legitimate claims and settled them. By
1868, the U.S. Government had acquired a clear
title to the island. These actions provided the
necessary space needed for the establishment of
a grand national arsenal for manufacturing.
Two separate army commands began
constructing on the island that year. The
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(Both photographs are from the Rock Island County Historical Society)
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Ordnance Department broke ground for the first
permanent arsenal building in September
1863. The Quartermaster Department, in turn,
began erecting a prison barracks for captured
Confederate soldiers in August of that same
year.

The removal of settlers and squatters from the
island and disputes with soldiers assigned to the
prison barracks were two conflicts that
confronted the first Arsenal Commander, Major
C.P. Kingsbury. These and other topics will be
examined in Part 1l of this history.

Present day Rock Island is the “Heart of the
Quad Cities” area. Its bridges are the arteries
which provide the flow of commerce and people
through the Jlocal communities. The
establishment of an arsenal at Rock Island,
rather than the opening of the island to civilian
development, has protected the historical
landmarks of Arsenal Island from commerical
exploitation and encroachment. Today local
citizens visit such historic sites as the Colonel
George Davenport House and the Confederate
Cemetery in a “park like” setting. While
operating as a vital manufacturing arsenal for
our national defense, the Rock Island Arsenal
has been able to maintain the island as a national
historic site.
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FOREWORD

On 11 July 1989 the Rock Island Arsenal commemorated its designation as a National
Historic Landmark by the secretary of the interior. This auspicious occasion came about due
in large measure to the efforts of the AMCCOM Historical Office, particularly Mr. Thomas J.
Slattery, who spent many hours coordinating the efforts and actions necessary to bring the
landmark status into fruition. Rock Island Arsenal Commander, Colonel David T. Morgan, Jr.,
was also instrumental in the implementation of the above ceremony by his interest, guidance,
and support of Rock Island Arsenal’'s National Historic Landmark status.

Incidental to the National Historic Landmark commemoration, the AMCCOM Historical
Office has published An lllustrated History of Rock Island Arsenal and Arsenal Island, Part
Two. Mr. Thomas J. Slattery is the author of this history and has presented a very well-written
and balanced study of the beginning of Rock Island Arsenal in 1862 through 1900, including
the arsenal construction period, the arsenal’s role in providing ordnance stores to the west,
and its contributions during the Spanish-American War. This information was gathered from
a number of primary and secondary sources including the author’s own files, the AMCCOM
Historical Office archives, and the Rock Island Arsenal Museum collection. Mr. Slattery
would like to acknowledge the efforts of past and present historians who gathered and
preserved historical sources maintained in the holdings of these two institutions. Mr. Slattery
is especially appreciative of the contributions made in this area by his colleagues Mr. O.
Bryan England, Mr. Ralph Krippner, and Dr. Robert Bouilly. Mr. Slattery would also like to
thank Mr. Daniel Whiteman, Rock Island Arsenal Museum Director; and Mrs. Kris Leinecke,
Rock Island Arsenal Museum Curator; for the use of the U.S. War Department’'s War of
Rebellion series, a compilation of the official records of the Union and Confederate Armies;
and the Rock Island Arsenal Commander’'s Annual Report to the Chief of Ordnance from
1871-1900.

Mr. Slattery’s history illustrates well the importance of individuals such as Thomas J.
Rodman and Daniel W. Flagler in the construction of the great stone buildings which still
stand today and serve as a silent tribute to these arsenal commanders. The history also
addresses problems experienced during the construction of the arsenal. The reader will
hopefully be enriched and educated by having learned something about Rock lsland
Arsenal’s illustrious past, and how the past has impacted upon the present arsenal as it
continues to serve our nation.

Colonel David T. Morgan, Jr., is accorded special thanks for his support and enthusiasm.
Special thanks are also extended to Mrs. Carol L. Secoy and Ms. Nancy Newton of the
AMCCOM Historical Office for respectively providing exemplary editorial and administrative
support for this history. In addition, gratitude is extended to the Field Printing Office for its
professional assistance.

HERBERT P. LEPORE.
Chief, Historical Office
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Below: The western entrance to the Rock Island Arsenal via Main (Rodman) Avenue, the island’s principal east-
west thoroughtare. The limestone gate house, built in 1875 and portions of the cast iron gate and limestone pillars

still grace the entrance to the arsenal. Note: the gate house has since been reroofed and the “gingerbread” trim
removed.

INTRODUCTION
SOLDIERS RETURN TO ROCK ISLAND

The history of Arsenal Island is divided into
two parts, or periods, of government occupancy.
Part one focuses on the federal government's
acquisition of the island; the reasons for this
acquisition; the Fort Armstrong era; and the
subsequent caretaker period which ended in
1863. The Black Hawk War, the last Indian
uprising in the state of lllinois, resulted in hostile
tribes being transferred to reservation camps
west of the Mississippi River, thus ending the
Indian threat in lllinois. Therefore, with the need
for Fort Armstrong diminished, the federal
government reduced the fort’'s status to that of a
depot, eventually abandoning the post in 1845.
From 1845 to 1863, a number of civil custodians

employed by the War Department managed the
affairs of Rock Island.

During the American Civil War, 1861-1865, the
United States Army returned to Rock Island.
This was the beginning of the second, or arsenal,
period which contines to the present day. It
began on 11 July 1862, when the United States
Congress passed an act which established an
arsenal on Rock Island. In the following year, the
U.S. Army Ordnance Department started
construction of a storehouse on the western tip
of the island, near the ruins of Fort Armstrong.
This storehouse, completed in 1867, and known
today as the Clock Tower Building, was the first
permanent arsenal building erected.!



Below: A total of 12,192 Confederate soldiers were confined at Rock Island during the Civil War years of 1863-
1865. The camp, constructed on the north central shore of the island, consisted of 84 wooded barracks and a
variety of ancillary buildings. However only the Confederate Cemetery remains as a reminder of the prison’s

existence.

CHAPTER ONE
ROCK ISLAND PRISON BARRACKS

During the Civil War, however, the Union
Army’'s Ordnance Department had company on
the island. Two separate army units operated on
Rock Island during the last two years of the Civil
War. Several months prior to initial construction
of the Clock Tower Building in 1863, the U.S.
Army Quartermaster Department began to build
a prisoner of war camp on the north central
section of Rock Island. The Union
Quartermaster General, Montgomery Meigs,
ordered Captain Charles A. Reynolds to buiid a
prison barracks large enough to accommodate
10,000 prisoners of war. In late August 1863,
Captain Reynolds began construction of the
prison barracks near the north central shore of
the island.? General Meigs became aware of the
island’s advantages in 1837 when he assisted a
young army lieutenant named Robert E. Lee in
surveying the upper rapids of the Mississippi
River at Rock Island.?

The prison, rectangular in shape, covered

approximately 12 acres of land. Eighty four
wooden-framed barracks, 22 x 100 feet in size,
arranged in six rows of fourteen barracks each,
comprised the containment area. Each barracks
had a kitchen, with a stove and a 40 gallon kettle
for cooking, located at the west end of the
building. Captain Reynolds built enough bunks
in each barracks to accommodate 120 prisoners.
A main avenue running east to west divided the
camp and led to the two main gates. The
barracks were enclosed by a 12 foot high rough
board fence. A guard platform built 4 feet from
the top of the stockade fence, on the exterior
side, had a sentry box every 100 feet. Trenches
maintained inside the fence served as a warning
line. Sentries were ordered to fire at prisoners
venturing beyond this point. The “dead line”
supposedly deterred prisoners from tunneling
under the stockade. In addition, the closeness of
bedrock to the surface prevented tunneling near
the southern side of the stockade.*



Below: Persons visiting the Rock Island
Prison Barracks were required to obtain
passes issued under the order of Colonel
A. J. Johnson, prison commandant.
Right: Colonel Adoiphus J. Johnson,
commanding officer of the Rock Island
Barracks for most of its operational period.
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The barracks were numbered consecutively
from 1-84, and each building had a prisoner who
served as sergeant of the barracks. Wooden
bunks in three tiers, one above the other,
extended the length of each building on each
side.

The commandant of the prison, for all but a
few early days of its 20-month existence, was
Colonel Adolphus J. Johnson. The government
selected the Rock Island site for the prison for
basically the same reasons it had chosen the
island as the location for the new western
arsenal--security, location, and space. In
addition, government ownership made the island
a prime choice for both a prison camp and an
arsenal.’

By the time the Rock Island Prison Barracks
received its first Confederate prisoners-of-warin
December 1863, the Union Army had established
21 other prison sites. During the course of the
war, some of these prisons closed, while new
prisons opened.

Prior to the arrival of the first Confederate

prisoners, Colonel William Hoffman, the
Union’'s commissary general of prisoners,
inspected the Rock Island Prison Barracks in
November 1863. A few days before Colonel
Hoffman's visit, several barracks at the Camp
Douglas prison near Chicago were destroyed by
fire, thus necessitating the apparent relocation of
some of the camp prisoners. It has been
surmised that some of the Camp Douglas
prisoners may have been sent to the Rock Island
Prison Barracks. However, it is not certain
whether this transfer actually took place.®
Construction of the Rock Island Prison
Barracks was behind schedule from the start. in
the rush to organize prison camps to handle the
influx of southern prisoners, the Rock Island
prison opened before it was completed. Some of
the prison guards were quartered in tents, others
in local communities, and still others in the
cheap shanties built to house prisoners of war.
Union Quartermaster General M. C. Meigs, in a
letter dated 12 August 1863, instructed Captain



Below: Union Quartermaster General
Montgomery C. Meigs.

Right: A roll call at the Rock Island Prison
Barracks. The guards are standing in for-

mation in the front while the prisoners are in
the background standing in front of the

barracks. Note: Wooden “Morgan Mule” in
foreground used to discipline insubordinates.

C. A. Reynolds that: “The barracks for prisoners
at Rock Island should be put up in the roughest
and cheapest manner - mere shanties, with no
fine work about them.””

The first 468 Confederate prisoners arrived at
Rock Island by train on 3 December 1863. They
had been captured in the Battle of Lookout
Mountain in southeastern Tennessee. Hundreds
of curious citizens gathered to watch the
prisoners be unloaded on the far western edge of
the island. In an effort to control the crowd, local
police officers and their deputies confined the
spectators to a roped-off area. The prisoners
were marched past the crowd a mile or so inland
to the prison.?

Within a few weeks the prison population rose
from the original 468 to over 5,000 prisoners.
Eventaully, the prison population grew to 8,594
prisoners, the largest number of prisoners held
at any one time at the Rock Island Prison
Barracks.?

Though the prisoners’ existence at the Rock
Island Prison Barracks was harsh, especially by
present day standards, living conditions were
relatively typical of prison camps in the north.
Most southern prisoners had difficulty adjusting
to the cold winter of the north and, unfortunately,
the first prisoners arrived during a severe cold

spell with temperatures plummeting to 30
degrees below zero fahrenheit. Not long after
the prison had opened, the supply of winter
clothing and blankets for the prisoners became
depleted; however, nearby coalfields provided
each barracks with sufficient heating coal to
burn in the barracks’ stoves.

Diaries kept by Confederate prisoners and
recollections written after the war were two
valuable sources of material regarding prison
conditions at Rock Island. One prisoner at the
Rock Island Prison Barracks, Lafayette Rogan,
recorded in his diary these comments in regard
to the winter he experienced at Rock Island:



BeIoV(: An illustrated view of the Rock Island Prison Barracks depicting sentinels, gate, barracks, and prisoners.
The first Confederate prisoners arrived by prison train on 3 December 1863 during a particularly bitter cold spell.
lll-clothed for severe winter weather and carrying small pox disease among them, many of these prisoners died at

Rock Island during their confinement.

1 January 1864 - The coldest day | have
ever felt. Thermometer 30 (degrees)
below zero . . ..

3 January 1864 - | suffer greatly for
blankets. Many fellows have no
blankets yet and are very thinly clad.
Such men suffer terrible. We sleep by
reliefs (to man the fires in the barracks)
and fill each bunk heads and tails
fashion. | fear that disease and death
will be the result of all this suffering.
Deaths have already occurred from
freezing.'°

In addition to surviving the bitter winter cold of
the north, Confederate prisoners had to endure
exposure to a deadly smallpox epidemic, among
other contagious diseases. Within days of
opening, the prison was hit by the smallpox
epidemic. In a hurry to complete the camp's
construction, the Quartermaster Corps had

failed to erect a prison hospital. Without a
hospital; adequate medicine; or a well-equipped
medical staff, hundreds of prisoners and prison
cadre became infected. Initially, prison doctors
diagnosed 94 cases of smallpox among the first
prisoners. Unfortunately, they did not detect all
the cases, and those that processed into the
camp undetected exposed the entire camp to the
dreaded disease.'" Colonel Johnson, the prison
commandant, -arrived only a short time after the
prison was constructed and had little time to
address and ameliorate logistical problems
relative to the well being of the prisoners.
Conditions did not improve at the Rock island
Prison Barracks until Ambrose M. Clark,
assistant surgeon general, arrived in February
1864 to inspect the island camp. He immediately
instituted corrective measures such as
establishing a temporary hospital isolation ward
in fenced-off barracks and ordering a half dozen
pest houses be built on the southern shore of



Right: Colonel William Hoffman, federal
commissary-general of prisoners standing on
the steps to his office in Washington, D.C. Upon
retiring from the military, Hoffman resided in the
tri-cities. His grave site is in Chippiannock
Cemetery, Rock Island, lllinois.

Rock Island, away from the prison. During his
stay at Rock Island, from 10 February to 4 March
1864, Surgeon Clark had plans drawn up for an
adequate hospital, sufficient to care for the
noncontagious disease cases. His report to
Colonel Hoffman stated, “The most urgent
necessity exists for the speedy completion of this
(prison hospital) building. For in the great rush
to open the prison, not only was the building of
barracks for the cadre not completed but the
construction of a prison hospital was
overlooked.”? Clark also noted the conditions
which enhanced the spread of smallpox, such as
the faulty drainage system of the prison
compound. The prison was situated in a low
land area of the island, causing water to drain in,
rather than out, of the camp. Therefore, during
the spring of 1864, the camp ground was
constantly wet and muddy. Clark also noted that
a marsh located near the southeast corner of the
prison would have to be drained before summer.

Approximately two months later, in April 1864,
Clark returned to inspect the Rock Island Prison
Barracks and filed his report to Colonel Hoffman
on 8 April 1864. In his report Clark described the
prisoners’ living conditions at Rock Island as
having somewhat improved. He found the prison
barracks well-heated, ventilated, and sufficiently
stocked with food and blankets. However, Clark
reported that the corn bread tasted rancid to the
prisoners and made them ill; the condition of the
prison grounds and its water supply were still
poor; and several unsanitary conditions and
practices still continued at the prison. The latter

included prisoners tossing their kitchen refuse
and wash water on the ground near their

barracks. The wash water contributed to the
standing water and muddy conditions of the
grounds within the stockade. Collectively, the
garbage, standing water, and muddy grounds
severely hindered the prison’s already
inadequate drainage system. Prisoners also
emptied and washed barrels from their privies in
the river twice a day. Only makeshift laundry
facilities were available to the prisoners, and
according to Clark, not heavily used.

Clark further noted in his April report to
Colonel Hoffman that improved sanitary
conditions and new clothing for convalescents



Below: Early sketch of the Rock Island Prison Barracks pest houses erected on the island to quarantine those in-
flicted with contagious diseases, such as small pox, from others at the camp.
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were necessary to stem the camp’s smallpox
epidemic. The surgeon general attempted to
purify and disinfect the prisoners’ clothing by
thoroughly boiling the clothes; then subjecting
them to the fumes of burning sulphur; and
finally, a second boiling. This method seemed to
effectively destroy the infection since no new
cases were traced to the use of the boiled
clothing. Later, however, Clark commented that
he did not trust this procedure and thought new
clothing should be furnished to all prisoners who
had been released from the hospital and
returned to their quarters."

Under Surgeon Clark’'s instructions, all
soldiers and prisoners infected with smallpox
were quarantined in the newly erected pest
house on the south shore of the island. Other
corrective measures were undertaken by Clark,
such as the construction of a sewage system to
improve drainage and sanitation conditions, and
the development of a sufficient water supply
system in the prison.

The post surgeon’s morning report of sickness
for 4 March 1864 provided some insight of the
epidemic faced by the medical staff of the Rock
Island Prison Barracks. Surgeon William
Watson, U. S. Volunteers, listed 350 prisoners
sick in quarters and 714 in the temporary
barracks hospital. Of those in the hospital, 420
were smallpox cases.™

As previously mentioned, the death toll from
disease increased steadily among prisoners and
guards after the camp opened in December 1863.
Smallpox claimed 98 prisoners and 3 guards in
December 1863; 231 prisoners and 4 guards in
January 1864; and 350 prisoners and 10 guards
in February 1864. The War Department, alarmed
by these statistics, reversed an earlier directive
issued by Colonel Hoffman which had haited
construction of the Rock Island Prison Hospital.
After pest houses and laundry facilities were
constructed, as recommended by Assistant
Surgeon General Clark, a gradual decline in
smallpox cases and deaths occurred.'



Below: The Rock Island Prison administrative buildings, possibly after the Rock Island Arsenal assumed control
of them following the Civil War. Since, traditionally, post flagpoles were planted near a headquarters building it
could be assumed that these structures were temporary administrative buildings for the arsenal.

Clark also ordered the relocation of the
original Rock Island Confederate Cemetery,
which had been adjacent to the prison
compound, to its present site.’* During the 20
months that the prison was in operation, more
than 1,964 Confederate prisoners died while
confined at the Rock Island Prison Barracks.

Smallpox, combined with pneumonia and
diarrhea, accounted for the majority of these
deaths. In the same time frame, 171 Union
guards died of diseases or exposure to the
elements while serving guard duty. The bodies
of dead Union soldiers not claimed by their
families were reinterred in the current Rock
Island National Cemetery on Arsenal Island.”

Because of the smallpox epidemic at the
prison, the government issued the following
instructions through the Rock lIsland Argus
newspaper:

Visitors to these stations, out of mere
curiosity, will in no case be permitted.
Persons having business with the

Commanding Officer, or Quartermaster,
may, with the permission of the
Commanding Officer, enter the camp
to remain only long enough to transact
their business. When prisoners are
seriously ill, their nearest relatives,
parents, wives, brothers or sisters, if
they are loyal people, may be permitted
to make short visits; but under no other
circumstances . . . (will) visitors be
allowed to see them without the
approval of the Commissary General of
Prisoners.®

The prison commandant, Colonel Johnson,
initially permitted the southern prisoners to
receive clothing and food packages from
sympathetic local citizens, friends, and relatives.
Colonel Johnson also allowed the prisoners to
correspond with their relatives and friends, but
their unsealed letters were censored at the
prison by Captain A. D. Collins, post
quartermaster, and Colonel Hoffman. Letters



Below: Clam-shell trinkets carved by Con-
federate prisoners at the Rock Island Prison
Barracks. The prisoners used them to barter
and to sell to guards and visitors.

Right: Confederate soldiers making trinkets
out of clam-shells from the Mississippi River.

could not exceed one page and had to relate
solely to personal matters.'?

Books provided a temporary escape from the
monotonous routine of a prisoner’s life. Other
diversions undertaken by prisoners included
attending church services, organizing skits,
forming singing groups, gambling, and debating
the many issues of the war. Tobacco, blankets,
clothing, books, and personal items, acquired in
several different manners by the prisoners, made
their incarceration bearable. Some of the
prisoners volunteered their labor on prison
construction projects, such as the building of the
prison sewer system; and each prisoner that
worked, depending upon his skill, received a
credit of 5-10 cents a day on his account at the
prison sutler store. Enterprising prisoners also
used their craft skills to fashion rings and trinkets
from available material such as gutta percha (a
hardened tree sap or resin) and mussel shells.
These ornaments were inlaid, cut out, and often

polished into the shapes of eagles, doves and
fish. The trinkets were traded or sold to the
guards for tobacco or peddled to local citizens.2

By 1864 the North had become aware of the
wretched conditions that Union soldiers had
been enduring in southern prisons. The report of
deplorable treatment of Union prisoners of war
at Andersonville, Georgia, site of the infamous
Confederate prison, caused bitter resentment in
the north. In June 1864, Secretary of War Edwin
Stanton ordered Union prisons to enforce
stricter rules for Confederate soldiers.?

At the Rock Island Prison Barracks, Colonel
Johnson zealously followed these instructions.
He restricted the type of packages prisoners
could receive from relatives and friends by no
longer accepting food baskets addressed to
individual prisoners. Instead, Colonel Johnson
had these baskets delivered to the sick wards.
Only clothing packages were to be received by
individual prisoners. Further restrictions



Below: Confederate prisoners at Rock Island
Barracks taking oath of allegiance to become
“galvanized yankees”.

Right: Confederate prisoners “riding Morgan'’s
Mule” as punishment for their misconduct.

included prohibiting the sutler's wagon from
entering the compound and doing business with
the Confederate prisoners. Supposedly, in
response to conditions at the Andersonville
Prison, Colonel Johnson also ordered that
prisoners’ rations be reduced to 14 ounces of
bread and 12 ounces of “fresh” beef. In addition,
the prisoners were to receive a quart of hominy
per man each day. The southerners made
hominy soup and also boiled other food, serving
it in sauce pans produced from canteens and
burned-out stove pipes. The prisoners had a
difficult time swallowing the course yellow corn
bread provided by the prison and asked for flour
to bake white bread, with varying degrees of
success. At times slab bacon was added to the
prisoners diet. Years after the Civil War former
Confederate prisoners who had been
incarcerated at Rock Island during the war wrote
colorful accounts which depicted episodes of
prisoners eating stray dogs and cooking rat
stew.?

Many southern prisoners suspected that
harsher rules ordered by Colonel Johnson were
part of a Union plan to reduce their allegiance to

10

the South, and entice them to join the Union
Army. If so, the program enjoyed a measure of
success. On 8 December 1863 President
Abraham Lincoln had announced his Amnesty
Proclamation to Confederate prisoners.
Confederate prisoners who pledged their
allegiance to the United States and who agreed
to enlist in the Union military service would
receive amnesty. These “galvanized yankees”
were recruited to fight Indians on the western
frontier and to man Union ships on the high seas.
At the urging of General Ulysses S. Grant,
Lincoln agreed not to employ former
Confederate prisoners on the battlefield against
their fellow southerners. In the heretofore
mentioned Diary of Lafayette Rogan 1863-1865,
Rogan, a prisoner-of-war clerk at the Rock Island
Prison Barracks, recorded briefly in his 9
February 1864 entry, . . . “Navy Roll of 664,
traitors to our country (was) completed to day."2?
On 1 September 1864 President Lincoin wrote
the following to War Secretary Edwin Stanton:

... there are at Rock Island, Ill., as rebel
prisoners of war many persons of
northern or foreign birth, who are



Below: A. C. Dart, camp sutler, and his wagon from which Confederate Prisoners bartered or purchased personal

items such as tobacco.

unwilling to be exchanged and be sent
South, but who wish to take the oath of
allegiance and enter the military service
of the Union.?*

Within a few weeks after President Lincoln’s
proclamation, Rogan again wrote in his diary,
“Yanks make a call for volunteers offering $100
for (a) year as bounty and promise not (to)
oppose them . . . (by returning to) the rebel
Army.” The next day Rogan's entry read: “The
heart grows sick and the soul sinks within me
when | see so many deserting our (South’s)
cause. From 1,500 to 2,000 of the prisoners here
will enlist for frontier service.”?  Another
Confederate prisoner, B. M. Hord, wrote an
article in 1904 for Confederate Veteran Magazine
titled, “Forty Hours in a Dungeon at Rock
Island,” in which he stated that those who took
the oath and joined the Union Army or Navy were
moved to a new pen for their protection. Twelve
barracks in the southeast corner of the
enclosure, near the main entrance to the prison,
were cordoned off and the occupants transferred
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to other barracks. No longer technically
prisoners, these new Union recruits were
furnished with the clothing and rations of a
Union soldier. Southern soldiers who remained
loyal to the South stayed in the main compound,
which was called the Bull Pen. During the
camp’s existence, nearly 3,000 rebel prisoners
“escaped” the confines of the Rock Istand Prison
Barracks by volunteering for frontier or sea duty
with the Union Forces.?

Prison records cited 41 successful escapes.
Colonel Johnson reported the details of one
such escape to Colonel Hoffman in a letter dated
25 June 1864:

COLONEL: | have the honor to report
that on the night of the 14th instant ten
prisoners of war made their escape
from the prison inclosure by tunneling
under barracks 42, their egress being
made directly under the parapet. The
last two were discovered by the
sentinel, who gave the alarm, and all
necessary measures taken for their



Below: A 12 foot high wooden fence with sentry walk (parapet) surrounded the entire Rock Island Barracks
prisoner area. Sentry boxes were positioned every 100 feet along the walk.
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recapture, which bhas resulted in
securing seven of them. Three were
taken on the island, four near Rock
River, about four miles distant, and one
was drowned in attempting to cross the
slough. Mounted patrols have been on
the track of the remaining two until to-
day, with the fair prospect of taking
them. Barrack 42 was used for a
variola ward during the prevalence of
that disease and while the pest houses
were being erected, and has been kept
unoccupied since by request of the
surgeon. The tunnel was made on the
south side of the prison. Deep trenches
had been made on the north, east, and
west sides to prevent tunneling, it being
deemed unnecessary to trench on the
south side in consequence of the rock
coming so near the surface. A trench
has now been made down to the rock
on that side also.?
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The Confederate prisoners were guarded by
troops of the 4th Regiment of the Veterans
Reserve Corps; the 37th lowa Regiment; various
“100 day” volunteer regiments; and the 108th U.
S. Colored Infantry Regiment. The 4th Invalid
Corps Regiment was a veteran reserve
organization comprised of wounded soldiers
who were no longer fit for regular military
service. Under the command of Colonel Richard
H. Rush, the 4th Invalid Corps were the guards at
Rock Island prison when the camp received its
first Confederate prisoners in December 1863.
Shortly thereafter, Colonel Johnson arrived at
Rock lIsland and assumed command of the
prison barracks in January 1864. In the same
month, the 37th lowa Volunteers Regiment
arrived to supplement the guard force.

The 37th lowa Volunteers, known as the “gray
beard” regiment, was comprised of men too old
for conscription. George Washington Kincaid,
an lowa pioneer settler and member of the
state’'s first constitutional convention, sought
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Below: A topographical map drawn by the Rock Island Arsenal master draftsman, W. Otto Gronen, in 1870. The
map depicts the prison barracks in the north central section of the island. During the 1870s the prison buildings
were razed and the officer's quarters which now stand along Terrace Drive were constructed in their place. Note
that the Rock Island Arsenal construction was limited to the far western tip of the island, west of the railroad

tracks.
buildings on the high ground in the center of the island.

The map actually depicts the island in 1867 before the arsenal began construction of manufacturing
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first federal, then state, permission to form a
uniqgue regiment of men too old to enlist in the
Regular Army. lowa Governor Samuel J.
Kirkwood granted his approval and appointed
Mr. Kincaid the commanding officer of the 37th
lowa Volunteers. The regiment of “gray beards”
was exclusively composed of men 45 years of
age or older. The regiment contained 428 men
over the age of 50; 145 of which were in their 60s;
and one man, Curtis King of Muscatine, {owa,
who was 80. Attractive as a public relations
endeavor for the Union Army, the “gray beards”
were to be exclusively used as garrison and
guard troops. Used in this capacity, the 37th
lowa Volunteers relieved troops better fit for
combat duty. The uniqueness of being the
oldest regiment to serve in the U. S. Army initially
earned the regiment celebrity status in the north.
Among these troops were men who had prior
military service dating back to the War of 1812.
However, the novelty of federal service
eventually wore off under the strain of everyday
duty and the bone chilling winter winds that
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whipped across Rock Island.?®

In October 1862, the 37th lowa Volunteer
Regiment was comprised of ten companies when
it was mustered into the army at Camp Strong,
near Muscatine, lowa. The “gray beards” initially
served provost and garrison duty in St. Louis,
Missouri, and earned commendations and
praises for their service at St. Louis, and at Alton,
Hlinois.?® However, they did not receive
accolades for their duty at Rock Island. In April
1864, Lieutenant Colonel John F. Marsh
inspected the prison barracks for the Inspector
General's Office. His written findings included
this critical comment regarding the “gray beard”
regiment. “(A) regiment of decrepit old men and
the most unpromising subjects for soldiers | ever
saw.”® |In another instance, Surgeon August M.
Clark reported to Colonel Hoffman concerning
his inspection of the Rock Island Prison
Barracks:

Colonel Kincaid, Thirty-seventh lowa
Volunteers, (should) be under no



Below: Officers of the 108th Regiment, U.S. Colored Infantry, stationed at Rock Island during the Civil War. Left
to right, Dr. Ellis, surgeon; Colonel John S. Bishop; Adjutant Morris T. Stafford; and Henry Clay Cleaveland,

quartermaster.

circumstances placed in command of
this post. He is altogether too slow and
easy, and his officers and men appear
to have no idea of the value of
discipline.®

On 24 September 1864, the U. S. 108th Colored
Infantry Regiment, commanded by Lieutenant
Colonel John Bishop, a white officer, arrived by
train to assume guard duty at the Rock Island
Prison Barracks. The regiment's recruits,
primarily from the slave population of north and
west central Kentucky, enlisted for a three year
term of service.®

Confederate prisoners expressed first
indignation, then anger, over the prospect of
armed former slaves in uniform guarding over
them. Lafayette Rogan expressed these
emotions in his diary, writing, “A regt (regiment)
of contrabands arrived at this post for garrison
duty.” His next day entry read: “The
contrabands have not yet come of the parapet.
We hate it but | suppose we must submit to this
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indignity . . . (as) we have to others.” Two days
later, Rogan wrote: “8,000 Southern men today
are guarded by the slaves who have been armed
by the tyrant. One of our number was killed and
two wounded last night in cold blood.”** It was
not long before black guards had earned a
reputation for shooting prisoners. Prisoners
accused the guards of firing without provocation
into their barracks and shooting prisoners
without cause. However, in at least one instance,
the post commander, Colonel A. J. Johnson,
appointed a commission of officers to investigate
the shooting death of a prisoner; and after
deliberating on the evidence, the commission
acquitted Private John Cowherd of Company C,
108th U. S. Colored Infantry Regiment, of ail
blame in the shooting of John P. McClanahan,
prisoner of war, assigned to barracks 8. The
commission ruled that Private Cowherd acted in
accordance with the spirit of his instructions,
and discharged his duty as a good soldier and
faithful sentinel.®



Right: A formal photograph of
Private Christopher Anderson, a
member of the 108th U.S. Colored
Infantry Regiment, who served as a
prison guard at the Rock Island
Prison Barracks during the Civil
War. The photo is from a carte de
viste, a small portrait photograph
used as a substitute for a visiting
card by soldiers. This is one of a set
photographed by Gayford & Speidel,
Photographers, Rock Island, lllinois.

Prisoners and guards who disobeyed orders
were often assigned to “ride” a narrow wooden
rail, known as “Morgan’s Mule”. The guilty party
“rode” the rail for several hours with his feet
dangling above the ground.

The 108th Colored Infantry Regiment
remained at Rock Island until May 1865. On the
eve of their departure to Mississippi, the Rock
Island Argus commented, “the colored soldiers,
as a general thing, have conducted themselves
with great propriety, since they were stationed
here.”3®

In a separate section of the national cemetery,
at the far east end of the island, are 50 graves of
the men of the 108th who died while serving at
the Rock Island Prison Barracks. Also buried in
this section were the 16 southern “galvanized
yankees” who died prior to being assigned to the
western frontier.3¢

A total of 12,192 prisoners were confined to the
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prison barracks during its existence. Of this
number, 730 Confederate prisoners were
transferred; 3,876 exchanged; and 5,581
released. The last two prisoners were released
from the prison hospital in July 1865. After the
prison was closed, the 207 buildings, including
the prison barracks, hospital, and garrison
building, were turned over to the arsenal. All of
these structures have long since been razed.
The last vestiges of the prison disappeared in
1909. Only the Confederate Cemetery remains
as a permanent reminder of the existence of the
Rock Island Prison Barracks.%

The cemetery was relocated to its present site
in February 1864. Between 1906 and 1912 a
congressional commission responsible for
marking the graves of Civil War dead provided
the grave markers. Each year Memorial Day
commemorative ceremonies are held at the
cemetery.



Below: This copy of an old lithograph depicts the Army Ordnance Department’s original plan to build a small
arsenal comprising three structures for the repair and storage of ordnance weapons and equipment at the far
western edge of the island. Note: Only the Clock Tower Building in the center was ever erected.

CHAPTER TWO
BEGINNING OF THE ARSENAL

Prior to the Civil War, prominent army officers
such as Brigadier General Thomas S. Jesup,
quartermaster-general, expressed the
importance of Rock Island. In 1852 General
Jesup wrote:

The site of Fort Armstrong, Rock
Island, is one of the most valuable in
our western country for an armory. The
whole water power of the Mississippi
River is available. If a western armory is
to be established, | would advise that it
be placed there. The island is under the
control of an agent, who resides on it,
and who is under the order of, and
reports to, the quartermaster of Saint
Louis. The agent should protect the
property from depredation. | would not
advise that any part of it be rented or
leased.?®

The legislation which authorized the building
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of an arsenal at Rock lIsland in July 1862
envisioned only a small facility designed for the
“deposit and repair’ of ordnance and provided
$100,000 for the building of the arsenal. Besides
Rock Island, Indianapolis, Indiana, and
Columbus, Ohio, were designated as additional
sites for the building of other small arsenals.?® As
a result of the destruction of Harper's Ferry
Armory, in Virginia, Congress realized the
necessity of federal arsenals being far from the
Mason-Dixon Line. Rock Island, being situated
in the upper Mississippi River, satisfied this
criteria. None of the arsenal buildings, however,
were completed at Rock Island during the Civil
War.

Shortly after Congress had passed the act of
11 July 1862, establishing an arsenal at Rock
Island, General C. P. Buckingham conducted a
preliminary inspection of the island for the War
Department. On 24 October 1862, he wrote to
the secretary of war:



Right: Edwin M. Stanton served as Secretary
of War during the period in which plans for
the Rock Island Arsenal were expanded and
upgraded to include manufacturing
operations.

The island is, without a doubt, the best
place for an arsenal. The only question
connected with the location of an
Arsenal at this point is, | conceive,
whether it shail be at the upper or lower
end of the island . . . | think the
advantages of the lower end of the
Island for the purpose of an arsenal are
superior to those of the upper end.4°

In 1862, the army appointed a board of officers
to inspect the island and to recommend a
construction site for the first buildings. The
officers were to further report on the type of
construction material to be used for the
buildings. The board consisted of three
ordnance officers: Major C. P. Kingsbury; Major
F. D. Callendar; and Captain T. J. Treadwell. In
their report to the chief of ordnance, the officers
recommended the first arsenal building,
designated “storehouse A” and today known as
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the Clock Tower Building, be constructed on the
western tip of the island. The officers also
recommended limestone from LeClaire, lowa, as
the building material for the arsenal structures.*'
As views of prominent military leaders such as
General George D. Ramsey, chief of ordnance,
became known, sentiment in Washington began
to develop for a larger arsenal than had originally
been provided for in the act of 11 July 1862.
General Ramsey, in a February 1864 letter to
Edwin Stanton, secretary of war, expressed his
views as to the advantages of having a
manufacturing arsenal at Rock Island.

.. . After a careful study of this question
of location, there is no position which,
to my mind, affords so many
advantages, and, at the same time,
presents so few objections, as Rock
Island, in the Mississippi River.



Below: The original location of the Chicago, Rock Island and Pacific railroad tracks across Arsenal Island and the
site of the first railroad bridge from the island to Davenport, lowa. Relocation of the tracks and bridge to the far
western edge of the island in 1872 allowed the arsenal to use the entire island for expansion. Note: Storehouse A
(Clock Tower Building) was situated east of the proposed bridge and track route.




Right: Major Charles P. Kingsbury
was one of the three ordnance
officers that selected the site of the
first Rock Island Arsenal building.
Afterwards, he became the arsenal’s
first commanding officer and super-
vised its construction from 3 August
1863 to 16 July 1865. In addition to
his duties as commander, Major
Kingsbury armed and equipped lowa,
Wisconsin, and Minnesota Volunteers
during the Civil War.

In a military point of view it is perfectly proposed arsenal at Rock Island,
secure from an enemy, advancing respectfully report: That they have
either by the lakes or the river. From it, carefully examined the ground at the
supplies can be transported in any lower end of the Rock Island, selected

direction and at any season of the year.
It is in the midst of a country teeming
with coal and wood, and especially
adapted to agriculture--an important
element in cheapening labor. The site
is elevated far above river floods, the
climate and situation are health(y), and
while the island is sufficiently isolated
to secure it from sudden attacks, it is
near enough to the cities of Rock Island
and Davenport to afford ample
accommodations for all necessary
employees.*?

by the War Department for a United
States arsenal, and recommend that the
front of the principal storehouse be on
the prolongation of a line drawn from
the southwest corner of a wooden
building, now occupied by a tenant,
(possibly the old General Winfield
Scott headquarters or one of the old
Fort Armstrong buildings) and that the
southwest corner of said storehouse be
placed at a point of this line 300 feet
distant from said wooden building, the
said line . . . (bearing) about south 40
degrees, west.43

The board of ordnance officers submitted the
following report to the Ordnance Office, dated In addition, the board selected two possible
May 18, 1863: sites for an ammunition magazine, aiso on the

The undersigned, appointed a board west end of the island. Once the officers’ final

under orders from the Ordnance Office, re_port was apprqved, Major Charle.s' .P'
dated May 6, 1863, to select a site for Kingsbury was appointed to command the initial

H 44
certain buildings pertaining to the construction of the arsenal.
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Left: An early etching of Storehouse A (Clock
Tower Building), a stable, and a wooden house
which served as General Winfield Scott’s head-
quarters during the Black Hawk War of 1832.
Right: Colonel Rodman purchased the Tower
Clock from A. S. Hotchkiss of New York City for
$5,000.00. The clockworks remain operating
today as installed in 1868 on the sixth floor of
the tower.

Ironically, in 1861 Major Kingsbury served as
superintendent of the Harper's Ferry Armory in
(West) Virginia for two days prior to the
destruction of the armory's weapons and the
abandonment of the installation in an effort to
prevent Confederate sympathizers from seizing
the supply when they arrived a few hours later to
capture the armory.s

Construction of the first building on the island
began in 1863, and in April 1864, the cornerstone
of the initial permanent building, storehouse A,
was laid. Builders using LeClaire limestone
erected a five story tower, nearly 120 feet in
height, which housed a clock with dials facing in
four directions. The clock’s four dials were 12
feet in diameter, with a minute hand six feet long
and an hour hand approximately 5 feet long.
Kingsbury’s successor, Brevet Brigadier General
Thomas J. Rodman, purchased the clock from its
manufacturer, A. S. Hotchkiss Company, New
York, New York, in 1867. Considered to be one
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of the finest in the country, the clock may be the
only timepiece of its kind still operating with its

original parts. The massive weights which
operate the clock hang the length of three floors,
and its clock bell weighs about 3,500 pounds.
The clock was purchased for $5,000.00. Begun
during President Abraham Lincoln’s
administration, the Clock Tower was the only
building erected from the original arsenal
plans.

On 19 April 1864, Congress passed into law an
act that authorized the army to reclaim the entire
island and to settle all legal land claims held by
others. This act, originally introduced as a bill on
the floor of Congress by lllinois Representative
Elihu B. Washburn, provided Major Kingsbury
with the capability to build an arsenal equal to
the Harper's Ferry Armory, and capable of
manufacturing ordnance stores. Earlier
legislation had only allowed the development of
a depot.” General Ramsey’s statements in his



Bglow: A map depicting the Rock Island land claims of Colonel Davenport, D. B. Sears, and others in 1857. Major
Kingsbury sought the removal of these settlers and others from the island during his command.
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letter to Secretary of War Stanton, confirmed the
intention of the act of 19 April 1864. Ramsey
wrote that the act authorized the secretary of war
to take complete and permanent possession of
the island on behalf of the United States. The act
stipulated that the island was to be held as a
military reserve by the War Department, and that
an arsenal for the construction, deposit, and
repair of arms and munitions be built and
maintained on the island.*®

A prerequisite, however, to the creation of a
large manufacturing arsenal was the removal of
settlers and manufacturing establishments on
the island. Between the two periods of military
occupancy on Rock lIsland, portions of Rock
Island had been settled by civilians. These
individuals believed the government would
eventually release the land for public sale. In the
meantime, they had already staked-out or
claimed the more valuable sites, such as those
sections at the eastern end near the dam.

21

However, once the U. S. Congress approved the
act of 11 July 1862, followed by the act of 19 April
1864, civilian domicile of the island was short
lived. A board of commissioners appointed by
the president of the United States reviewed and
settled the more legitimate claims. In 1865,
President Andrew Johnson appointed Major
General J. M. Schofield, Mr. James Barnes of
Springfield, Massachusetts, and Mr. Sheldon M.
Church of Rockford, lllinois, to this board.*®

The commission conducted hearings in
October of 1866, at which time witnesses
testified and presented evidence as to the validity
and value of their claims. The commission
adjourned on 19 October 1866, and on 4
February 1867, submitted its final report to the
Circuit Court of the Northern District of lllinois.
Judge Drummond reviewed the compensation
due each claimant and awarded the sum of
$237,429.00 as final payment to settle these
claims.50



Below: /n 1868 a wooden bridge, built by the city of Rock Island, to the Arsenal Island was carried away by ice.
The federal government had purchased the bridge and a sandbar known as Wilson's Island for $18,600 in 1866.

Colonel Rodman ordered a rope-ferry to operate between the city and the island until a new iron bridge was
completed.

The congressional acts of 19 April 1864 and 22
June 1866 empowered the secretary of war to
take complete and permanent possession of
Rock Island, including the island’'s access
bridges and water power. In dong so, the city of
Rock Island received $14,357.00 for its wooden
wagon bridge and causeway over Wilson Island
which connected the town with the island of
Rock Island. The city of Rock Island had erected
the bridge in 1863, but in 1868, a spring ice thaw
destroyed it. Major Kingsbury, while
commanding the construction of the Arsenal’s
Clock Tower Building, ordered a rope ferry
installed as a substitute bridge until a new bridge
could be constructed in its place in 1872.

The city of Moline, lllinois, received $2,000.00
for its bridge and the roadway that connected
Mill Street in Moline with the island. Mill owner
and land developer, David B. Sears, received
$145,175.00 for 35.45 acres of land on Rock
Island. His land was considered more valuable
than others because it was developed and was
located near water power from the wing dam at

22

the east end of the island. Sears had surveyed,
plotted, and lotted his island property in the
hopes of developing an island city. However,
only a few lots were sold by the time the
government had repurchased the property from
Sears.

The government also awarded Colonel George
Davenport's family $40,740.00 for its 150 acre
estate on Rock lIsland. The location of the
Davenport property, which was near the original
arsenal construction site, and the improvements
made on the property, enhanced its monetary
value and importance to the government.
Government payments were especially generous
considering both David B. Sears and Colonel
Davenport had originally obtained their island
properties for $1.25 per acre. With the exception
of the claims of George Stephens, Jonathan
Huntoon, and Timothy Woods, the remaining six
claims were small. The government settled these
smaller claims for approximately $1,000.00
each.’



Below: A /atter 19th century view of the Rock Island Arsenal approach to the government bridge to Davenport,

lowa, and Clock Tower Building.

In letters to the chief of ordnance, Major
Kingsbury approved the actions taken by the

commission, however, he encountered
difficulties with both the settlers on the island
and with the soldiers who had been building the
prison camp on Rock Island. Adding to these
difficulties was the fact the city of Rock Island
built a wagon bridge from that town to the island
without Major Kingsbury’'s permission. To add
insult to injury, the mayor of Rock Island,
anxious to capitalize on business from the new
prison barracks, now sought the major's
permission to construct a road from the wagon
bridge to the prison barracks on the north central
portion of the island. Major Kingsbury ironically
approved the request, but stipulated that the
road be built away from his construction
operations at the storehouse site near the ruins
of Fort Armstrong. But once the road was
completed, traffic between the prison camp and
the town of Rock Island frequently left the road
while taking a short-cut to the prison and
encroached upon the arsenal building site.
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These annoyances, and those created by
wandering horses, cattle, and other livestock
owned by the squatters on the island, hindered
Major Kingsbury's construction operations.
Major Kingsbury also had to deal with delays
in the shipment of limestone to Rock Island. The
contractor, Joseph Parkins, claimed he could not
continue to provide the stone at the contract
price of $7.50 a perch due to a sharp
depreciation in the dollar in 1864. (A perch is a
unit of measurement used in stone work, usually
16.5 feet (1 rod) by 1 foot by 1.5 feet, or 24.75
cubic feet.) Also, since the Mississippi River
level had become so low, it was not possible to
deliver the stone from the quarries by water.52
In addition to these difficulties, Major
Kingsbury was often called from his duty as
arsenal commander to personally attend to the
receipt and delivery of arms and supplies to
volunteer troops in lowa and Wisconsin, and
frequently had to travel to Milwaukee, and
Madison, Wisconsin and to Des Moines, and
Keokuk, lowa, to supervise the distribution of



Below: Sentry station, guard path and guard of probably the Civil War era. This photo was taken from a stereopt-
icon card that depicted the north shore of the island of Rock Island between the pump station and sun dial. The
location shown here was approximately at the northwest corner of the Rock Island Prison Barracks. Note the

guard is armed with a long musket.

W

arms. A detachment of soldiers of the 4th
Regiment, 186th Co., was assigned to guard
arsenal property and construction sites on the
island in April 1864. Conflicts between the
prison guards and the construction workmen
was an ongoing problem until the end of the Civil
War.

Soldiers of the Quartermaster Department,
who were building the prison on the interior of
Rock Island, also routinely encroached upon
Major Kingsbury's construction site; and their
actions caused friction between the two
commands. On 26 February 1864, Major
Kingsbury wrote to the prison barracks
commander, Colonel A. J. Johnson, to complain
about teamsters hauling supplies and materials
to the prison site and often leaving the road to
trespass through arsenal grounds. Major
Kingsbury notified the chief of army ordnance
that Colonel Johnson's men also had chopped
down an excessive amount of timber. Major
Kingsbury reminded the chief of ordnance that
the entire island would soon be permanently
reserved for ordnance purposes by
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congressional legislation, and that the prison
barracks served only a temporary purpose and
should have been placed on grounds which were
already cleared.5®

In further correspondence dated 17 March
1864, Major Kingsbury again complained to the
chief of army ordnance that the prison command
had once more encroached on his building site.
Colonel Johnson took control of the Colonel
Davenport House after the government
reaquired the property. The arsenal commander
requested that the chief of army ordnance
immediately transfer possession of the
Davenport House to the Ordnance Department.
Major Kingsbury viewed Colonel Johnson's
arbitrary action as another example of the
prison’s encroachment on arsenal grounds, and
argued that it was imperative the Davenport
House be retained by the arsenal as it would save
the arsenal the expense of building an office and
additional storage area. In accordance with
instructions from the chief of ordnance, Colonel
Johnson relinquished the house to the Ordnance
Department.5



Below: The relocation of the Chicago, Rock Island and Pacific Railroad tracks and bridge to the far western edge
of the island was critical to the success of Rodman’s plan for expansion of the arsenal over the entire island.
Rodman encouraged the building of a new bridge, a double deck bridge with a wagon deck beneath the railroad
deck. William Lamback’s sketch of this new iron bridge with the Clock Tower Building in background is shown

below.

Conflict continued, however, between the two
commands. On 10 June 1864 Major Kingsbury
again wrote to Colonel Johnson regarding the
activities and conduct of the commandant’s men.
He complained that men quarrying stone for the
U. S. Government on the other side of the river
were driven from their work by the musket fire of
the prison guards, and that the quarry workers’
lives were endangered by this practice.5s
Obstacles such as these, and the failure of the
contractor, Joseph Parkins, to deliver the
LeClaire limestone as scheduled, delayed the
completion of the storehouse building.

These delays and difficulties frustrated and
discouraged Major Kingsbury. He had already
begun construction of “storehouse A” prior to
congressional legislation which authorized the
army to reclaim the entire island. Less than a
dozen firms and individuals continued to use
portions of Rock Island after the passage of this
act. Reluctant to move, they persuaded Major
Kingsbury and government authorities in
Washington to allow them to remain as long as
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their operations did not interfere with the
arsenal’s construction plans.

In May 1865, the new chief of ordnance,
Alexander B. Dyer, visited Rock Island to inspect
the construction site and to discuss several
significant issues with Major Kingsbury which
impacted on the future development of the
arsenal. These issues were the removal of the
squatters; future use of the prison barracks;
plans for a greater arsenal; location of buildings;
and water power development. Removal of the
remaining private parties from Rock Island
proved more difficult than imagined. Tired after
two years of arguing with squatters, stone
cutters, and local authorities, Major Kingsbury
finally gave up. In June 1865 he requested and
received a release from his command at Rock
Island. Left unfinished was the partially
constructed Clock Tower Building, “storehouse
A”. On 27 June 1866, a full year after Major
Kingsbury’s departure from Rock Island, the
federal government acted upon the land claims.¢



Right: The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Rock Island District, has occupied the Clock Tower Building since the
building of the lock and dam at Rock Island in 1934. Note: the dial is approximately 12 feet in diameter, and the
hour and minute hands are approximately five and six feet long.

Edwin M. Stanton, secretary of war, acting
upon Major Kingsbury's request for
reassignment, switched the commanding
officers of Rock Island Arsenal and Watertown
Arsenal. Kingsbury’s successor, General
Thomas J. Rodman, obtained his superior's
approval for design changes proposed in the
Clock Tower Building, and in the overall plan for
an arsenal at Rock lIsland. The two major
changes approved were the placement of gables
in the ends of the building with windows in each
to light and ventilate the loft, and an increase in
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the height of the clock tower by 20 feet to
accommodate the change in the height of the
roof. The clock tower, completed in 1867, served
as a support for the main hoist which lifted
supplies to the floors of the main building.
General Rodman’s alterations in the design
increased the usefulness of the building and
created a more imposing structure. Since its
construction, the Clock Tower Building has
become one of the most visible and recognizable
landmarks of the Rock Island Arsenal and of the
upper Mississippi River.%



Right: Historians credited Rodman’s method of
casting gun tubes, which produced the Rodman
Gun, as being one of the most significant ad-
vancement in ordnance technology of the Civil
War period.

Below: Rodman’s revolutionary casting method
reversed all previous methods by having the in-
side of the gun tube cooled by flowing water
while the exterior side of the flask mould was
heated by the casting fire. His method cooled
the gun from the inside so the iron next to the
bore solidified first, thereby increasing the
strength of the gun tube.
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CHAPTER THREE
THE RODMAN YEARS AT RIA

The U. S. Army Ordnance Department decided
to build a manufacturing arsenal at Rock Island
and selected Brevet Brigadier General Thomas J.
Rodman to command it in 1865. Rodman, a
brilliant graduate of the U. S. Military Academy
Class of 1841, had an impressive record of
service prior to his assignment at Rock Island.
He had investigated and developed new
ordnance concepts in the field of metallurgy and
propellants, and his rank of Brevet Brigadier
General was bestowed on him for meritorious
and distinguished service in the Ordnance
Department during the Civil War. Rodman
maintained this honorary commission until his
death in 1871. However, his actual military rank

i
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THE RODMAN GUN: Outline of Casting Process

Side of pit dug in the earth.

Flask holding in shape the earth mould.
Mould, a mixture of earth and sand.
Core barrel.

Water.

Escape flue.

Gun.

Braces for keeping flask upright.
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was Lieutenant Colonel. Since a lieutenant
colonel was referred to as a colonel, Rodman’s
rank will be referred to as such from this point
on.

The “Rodman Gun”

One of Colonel Rodman’'s greatest
achievements was the development of the
‘““Rodman Casting Process,” which
revolutionized the art of casting cannons. His
casting method cooled an iron gun from the
interior, while keeping the exterior in a fluid
state. The inner walls of the gun solidified first
causing successive layers of metal to shrink one
upon another. The result was a stronger, safer
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Right: The Rodman Gun designed for
seacoast protection was also used to arm the
monitor-type Union vessels during the Civil
War. Note: the notches at the rear of the tube
were used to assist in elevating the weapon.

cannon that was more reliable, and longer
lasting than other guns of the era. The life of a
gun was increased 11 to 20 times when cast by
the Rodman process. The army adopted the
water-cooled, hollow casting of cannons in the
year 1859, 14 years after Rodman had conceived
the process.58

Colonel Rodman transformed the design of
cannons into a science. He consolidated the
ballistic knowledge of foreign military powers
and applied the science of his day to cannon
design. With the development of the steam
engine, methods of calculating pressure were
available to Colonel Rodman. Through his
scientific research of internal ballistics, Rodman
was able to determine the pressure curve for
specific guns. Based on this information, he
designed the Rodman Gun so that the gun tube
was cast thickest at the point of greatest
pressure and then narrowed as the pressure
decreased. The new “coke bottle” shape and the
new casting process made the Rodman gun a
major technological improvement over past
designs and placed the Rodman gun among the
most significant weapons advancements of the
Civil War. In fact, historians credit Colonel
Rodman and his gun with discouraging
European naval intervention in the American
Civil War. Installed as coastal artillery, the
Rodman gun was vastly superior to the European
naval weapons, and, therefore, served as a
deterrent to any European nation which
contemplated naval action against the American
continent.
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Rodman Gunpowder
Colonel Rodman's later work on gunpowder

also proved significant. He developed a new
gunpowder formula which laid the groundwork
for the modern pellet powder. By 1860, he had
begun to develop powder to fit the caliber of the
gun by devising a formula whereby gunpowder
could be compressed into disks. These disks,
referred to as perforated cake powder, were
approximately one or two inches thick and
pierced with holes. The perforated powder
burned slower than ordinary cannon powder.
Rodman’s perforated cake powder also provided
more thrust and a more uniform pressure along
the gun’'s bore, thereby reducing the strain on
the gun and increasing its firing distance.
Earlier experiments with different types of
powder led Rodman to the development of
“prismatic” powder. This prism-shaped powder
maintained chamber pressure at a greater level
than other gunpowder without increasing the



Right: Colonel Rodman earned the rank of
Brevet Brigadier General for his
distinguished work in the field of
metallurgy and propellants during his
command of Watertown Arsenal, in
Massachusetts, during the Civil War.

pressure or strain on the gun tube. The muzzle
velocity of the projectile was also increased
without an additional strain on the tube. This
concept increased the surface area of powder by
perforation, and made angles on the outer
surface of the gun thereby promoting rapid even
burning. Rodman may well be called the Father
of the Scientific Study of Internal Ballistics as the
result of his achievements in the field of ballistics
at Watertown Arsenal, Massachusetts, during the
Civil War.%®

At the close of the Civil War, Colonel Rodman
turned his engineering genius to the field of
architecture and building construction at Rock
Island Arsenal. As previously mentioned, in
1865, the secretary of war granted Major
Kingsbury his request for reassignment by
having Kingsbury and Rodman exchange
commands. Under Major Kingsbury’'s command,
arsenal improvements were confined to the small
quarter section of Rock Island which extended
west of the Chicago and Rock Island Railroad
tracks. The remaining three-fourths of the
island, east of the railroad tracks, was not
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The chief of ordnance instructed

developed.
Rodman to examine the island thoroughly
regarding future development of the arsenal.
Upon his arrival in August 1865, Colonel
Rodman inspected the island, and immediately
wrote to Washington. In his letter, he expressed
his belief that ongoing expansion of the facilities
would be necessary, and that the entire island
would have to be reserved for that purpose.

Rodman’s Master Plan

Rodman welcomed the opportunity to build a
well-designed, national arsenal at Rock Island.
His plans called for the development of an
arsenal larger in scale and scope than originally
designed. The War Department endorsed
Colonel Rodman’s concept of a large national
arsenal at Rock Island, which was centrally
located and easily accessible by rail and river.
Though not its first commanding officer, Colonel
Thomas J. Rodman is today considered the
“Father of the Rock Island Arsenal” because of
the critical role he played in the design and
expansion of the arsenal.



Below: Colonel Thomas J. Rodman, the second Rock Island Arsenal commander, has historically received credit
for the conceptual design of the 19th century Rock Island Arsenal. Rodman relocated the site of the arsenal to the
center of the island and inititated the relocation and improvement of access bridges to the island. While in the
midst of supervising the building of the Rock Island Arsenal, Colonel Rodman died on 7 June 1871, and was buried
adjacent to the National Cemetery on Arsenal Island.
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Below: Diagram noting the location of the buildings which formed the 19th century Rock Island Arsenal. Note the
bridge and artificial “lake” which served as a buffer between the arsenal manufacturing complex and the officers’

residential zone.

Two weeks after filing his report, Colonel
Rodman met with Brigadier General Alexander
R. Dyer, chief of ordnance, to discuss future
plans for the Rock Island Arsenal. After careful
scrutiny of Rodman’s broad plans for the
arsenal, General Dyer approved them. Rodman
returned to RIA and from October 1865 until
February 1866 developed more specific plans for
the arsenal. His plans and drawings for the
arsenal included designs for a manufacturing
complex, and officer's residential zone, and
water power plant. Rodman’s grand plan called
for the complete use of the island for building
purposes. He moved the site of the arsenal’s
construction to the high ground in the center of
the island to allow for future expansion, and to
make better use of the potential waterpower of
the Mississippi River.s0

Rodman’s master plan included the
construction of ten great stone shop buildings,
divided equally into two facing rows along the
main east-west thoroughfare, now designated
Rodman Avenue. These stone shops formed the
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core of the arsenal’s 19th century manufacturing
complex. Major ancillary buildings, such as the
post headquarters, fire station, barracks
building, and storehouse, bordered the
manufacturing shops. North of the
manufacturing complex Rodman placed the
military residential zone which consisted of the
RIA commanding officer’'s quarters and quarters
for his subordinates. Rodman designed the
commanding officer's quarters, known now as
Quarters One, in an Italianate villa style. The
assisting officer’'s quarters, built along Terrace
Drive overlooking the Mississippi River, were
constructed over the site of the Civil War Rock
Island Arsenal Prison Barracks and were of more
modest ltalianate design than was Quarters One.

Colonel Rodman’s plans also included the
construction of an arsenal dam and powerhouse
south of the manufacturing buldings on the
southern channel of the Mississippi River, now
known as Sylvan Slough. He conceived the use
of the teledynamic system of cables and towers
which mechanically transported power from the



Below: Note: The Old Map of Rock Island Arsenal included manufacturing buildings with enclosed court yards.
Contrast this map with the finalized master plan on page 31. Aiso note the outline of the Rock Island prison camp
which occupied the land primarily north of the manufacturing complex.
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river to the southern row of shops along Rodman
Avenue.

Rodman initially planned to construct
manufacturing buildings with enclosed court
yards. However, before finalizing his plans, he
revised the drawings and opened the court yards
to provide additional natural light. Natural
lighting was a major consideration in
architectural design prior to the advent of
electricity. Rodman also added protruding
portico entrances to the sides of the
manufacturing buildings which improved their
appearance and strengthened their walls. He
inserted a foot bridge and small artificial lake
into the plans to serve as a buffer between the
residential and manufacturing zones, and to
provide an attractive path by which the officers
could pass to and from work.

Rodman’s plans featured construction of a
manufacturing complex which combined both
arsenal and armory capabilities at one
installation. The five shops built along the
northern edge of Rodman Avenue, buildings 60,
62, 64, 66, and 68, formed the arsenal's small
arms plant and were collectively known as
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Armory Row. The buildings housed
manufacturing shops B, D, F, H, and K,
respectively. The five shops built along the
southern edge of the avenue, buildings 102, 104,
106, 108, and 110, formed Arsenal Row. These
shops were designated for general ordnance
manufacturing and included shops A, C, E, G,
and I. Each center shop was constructed of one
story with a gabled monitor roof. The middle
shop in Armory Row, building 64, functioned as a
rolling mill and forge shop; the center shop in
Arsenal Row, building 106, functioned as the
arsenal’s foundry and blacksmith shop. The
other eight shop buildings were uniformly
constructed with three stories. The ten
manufacturing buildings all had the same “U”-
shaped floor-plan with 300-foot wings extending
back from a 210-foot by 60-foot base. Each of
the eight three-story buildings covered slightly
more than an acre of land, with a little more than
three acres of floor space. The ten Rodman-
planned, symmetrically-designed, stone shops
still stand today along both sides of Rodman
Avenue.



Below: An 1878 view of shops G and | (buildings 108 and 110) under construction. All the stone shops were built
basically with identical floor plans. Note stone yard in the foreground and wire-cabie towers to the rear of the

buildings at extreme left.

A National Arsenal at Rock Island

Construction of the first manufacturing shop
buildings began in 1866 and continued until the
last stone shop, building 68, was completed in
1893.

Erected over a nearly 30-year period, the
arsenal’s stone buildings reflected the feeling of
Manifest Destiny which swept Congress and the

Mountains and beyond. When
completed and fully equipped as a
manufacturing arsenal, its capacity will
equal the supplying of all the armies
that may be organized in the
Mississippi River Valley in any war of
the greatest magnitude.5'

nation in the latter 19th century. This view was Earlier, Brigadier General Alexander B. Dyer
reflected in the comments of Brigadier General had written the secretary of war on 24 October
Stephen V. Benet, chief of army ordnance, in a 1871 that:

letter to William W. Belknap, secretary of war,:

The Rock Island Arsenal in its present
incompleted state, now supplies all the
militia of most states and territories
drained by the great river (Mississippi
River) and its tributaries, many of the
fortresses that guard the coast line of
the Gulf of New Mexico, and more than
one-half of our Army, now scattered
from the Mississippi River to the Rocky
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(Rock Island Arsenal) should be made
the great arsenal of deposit and
construction for the Mississippi Valley,
and that it should possess the
manufacturing capacities of the
national armory at Springfield,
Massachusetts, and of one of our
largest arsenals of construction, and it
was planned with that end in view, and
has been so built.e2



Below: A rare 1872 view of shop C (building 104) near completion. Note the industrial tower under construction
and the temporary factory buildings with monitored roofs to the left. The arsenal produced building hardware and

ordnance stores for troops stationed in the American West from these temporary buildings.

Once shop C

(building 104) and shop E (building 106) were completed, the temporary shops were razed.

Built-of-Stone:
Century RIA

The Construction of 19th

The story of the construction of the Rock
Island Arsenal shop buildings is one of the more
fascinating tales in the history of Arsenal Island.
The inception and growth of the arsenal stone
buildings occurred during the commands of
Major Charles P. Kingsbury (July 1863-July
1865), Brevet Brigadier General Thomas J.
Rodman (August 1865-June 1871), and Brevet
Lieutenant Colonel David W. Flagler (June 1871-
April 1886). By the conclusion of Flagler's
command in 1886, the arsenal’s direction of
development already was so firmly established
that it continued on for an additional decade or
so without significant change.

In 1866, Rodman ordered cheap temporary
shops with gabled monitor roofs be constructed
on the future site of shop A, building 102. He
also temporarily converted prison barracks
along Gillespie Avenue to serve as a make-shift
headquarters and officer’s quarters. From these
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inexpensive, temporary, wooden buildings, the
arsenal began initial construction work for the
permanent stone buildings.

19th Century Greek Revival Architecture of the
Arsenal Stone Shops

For nearly the first three decades, the arsenal
primarily concentrated on the completion of
Rodman’s ambitious construction program.
Shops B (building 60) and C (building 106) were
the first of the ten stone shops under
construction. The 19th century Greek Revival
architectural style of these and the eight future
buildings featured pillowed or rock-faced
limestone accented by pilasters, architraves, and
pedimented gable ends. The ten original shop
buildings were built of massive rock-faced
limestone.

Unlike his predecessor, Colonel Rodman did
not procure stone quarried from LeClaire, lowa;
instead he acquired stone from Sangers and
Steel of Joliet, llinois.® The stone derived its
name from the region in which it was quarried.



Below: A rear view of Arsenal Row with shop A (building 102) under construction in foreground. Shop A was built
1873-1876. The last building visible in the photograph is one-story and has small windows in entablature of
structure which indicates the building is shop E (building 106), the Rock Island Arsenal foundry. Note the typical
derrick or crane in the court yard of shop A.

Therefore, shops B and C, and several of the
other stone buildings, were said to be built of
Joliet limestone.

An immense project such as this required
enormous quantities of stone and the
manufacture of considerable amounts of
construction hardware. In the year 1869 alone,
2,925 railroad cars of stone were received for use
in building the shops, dams, and bridge. Stone
masons laid 5,510 cubic yards of stone in new
shop buildings, while an additional 6,100 cubic
yards of stone were laid in the dam wall project.
The stone work required the repair of 92,321
stone cutter’s tools during the year. The chief of
ordnance, in 1869, approved the building plans
for the commanding officer's quarters. Also
during that year, workmen erected the first
Rodman-planned arsenal building which was a
circular limestone reservoir, that exists today
only as a ruins.%*

Generally speaking,

the limestone was
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shipped by train to the Rock Island Arsenal from
the various quarries. Early maps of the island
showed a single railroad track that extended
from the main line at the western tip of the island
to the construction site of the manufacturing
buildings. The stone was unloaded from rail cars
and placed in a centrally located stone yard.
Workmen used tramways and derricks to
transport the stone from the yard to the actual
building site. A tramway, an open box-shaped
street car pulled by horses, operated on tracks in
single units. Derricks also operated on tracks
which ran the length of the construction site.
These large cranes, consisting of movable
booms equipped with cables and pulleys
connected to an upright beam, hoisted and
moved the heavy stones into place. The small
circular marks made by the ice-prong-like
clamps, which were embedded into the stone
prior to it being hoisted into place, are still visible
a century later.



Below: Letter from Sanger to RIA Commander Colonel D. W. Flagler requesting assistance in obtaining railroad
cars for shipment of stone to the arsenal. Mr. Sanger, who earlier defaulted on delivery of stone to the Rock Island
Arsenal, formed Sangers Quarries with a partner named Moody and again received the contract to provide stone

for the arsenal.
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Difficulties Procuring Stone

Delays in delivery of stone hindered the
construction progress of the arsenal and, on
occasions, resulted in stone-cutters and masons
being laid off until the next shipment arrived.
Rodman periodically stationed an officer at the
quarries to oversee the government’s interests.

These delays in particular affected the
construction of shops B and C, and the building
of the commanding officer's quarters.
Discontented with their contract, Sangers and
Steel sold stone originally quarried for the
arsenal to customers willing to pay a premium
price. The Joliet firm demanded an increase in
government payments and refused to ship any
more stone to the arsenal until its demands were
met. Sangers and Steel halted its stone
deliveries to the Rock Island Arsenal for the last
time in August 1870. Colonel Rodman eventually
purchased stone from Mr. Edwin Walker of
Lamont, lllinois, at an average price of 38'2 cents
per cubic foot, which was 1% cents less than the
price demanded by Sangers and Steel. Sangers,
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however, formed a partnership with a Mr. Moody,
and again received contracts to provide
limestone for the construction of the arsenal
buildings. This stone was nearly identical in
color, texture, and quality to the Joliet stone.®s

A local newspaper article of the period
provided insight into the size of the labor force
engaged in the construction. The Davenport
Daily Democrat issue of November 10, 1870,
noted the federal government employed about
1,000 men to work on various arsenal
construction projects including shops B and C,
and the commanding officer's quarters. The
article further stated that the commanding
officer of the Rock Island Arsenal was assisted
by an efficient staff of officers and civilian
supervisors. The newspaper article specifically
cited Mr. A. T. Fleming, master armorer; Mr.
Wiliiam Channon, master carpenter; Mr. R.
Lloyd, master mason; and Mr. George Downs,
foreman; as holding these supervisory positions
at the time the article was printed. In addition to



Below: One of the earliest group photographs of Rock Island Arsenal shop personnel dated 1873.

the workmen, a large number of horse and mule
teams were engaged in the construction
activities.s®

Labor Disputes

A labor force of this size did not operate
without some problems, and on occasion labor
disputes slowed construction of the arsenal.
Events happening elsewhere also had an impact
on Colonel Rodman's progress at Rock Island.
For example, congressional legislation passed
during the construction of shops B and C
established an eight hour work day for all
laborers, workmen, and mechanics employed by,
or on behalf of, the government of the United
States. The wages paid under the old and new
work plan were:®’

10-hour day 8-hour day
Laborers $1.80 $1.44
Masons $4.50 $3.60
Carpenters $3.00 $2.40
Machinists $3.00 $2.40
Teamsters $3.50 $2.80
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The daily wages of master workmen, which
ranged from $4.00 to $6.00, were not affected by
the new law. After being paid according to the
new wage plan, many laborers refused to
continue to work on the building projects. The
island temporarily became nearly deserted. The
Rock Island Union newspaper expressed the
opinion that:

The government pays pretty liberal
wages, and if the old employees refuse
to work under the rulings of the
Secretary of War, it is probable that
their places will soon be supplied by
others.8

However, Colonel Rodman met with the stone-
cutters and raised their wages so that they would
be compatible to those offered stone-cutters for
an 8-hour work day in Chicago, lllinois, and St.
Louis, Missouri.®®

The rebuilding of Chicago after the great fire
of 1871 drastically increased the demand for
stone and stone craftsmen. The arsenal,



Below: L[ocal contractors responded to advertisements requesting bids for various building materials such as
stone, iron, wood, and slate. The letter by Charles G. Hipwell, slate roofer, addressed to RIA Commander Lt. Col.
D. W. Flagler contained his bid to slate the roof of arsenal shop H. Note: The bid dated 6 July 1883 was accepted.
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therefore, was forced to increase its pay to
skilled laborers due to the flight of arsenal
workers to Chicago.

Procuring Building Materials from the East

Initially a large portion of the building
materials for shops such as B and C was
produced by private firms situated in the east.
The New York firm of Cooper & Hewitt furnished
most of the 15-inch iron “I” beams used in the
construction of the first and second floors of
shops B and C. Union Iron Milis of Pittsburgh,
Pennsylvania, provided 11-inch “I” beams that
were also used in the building of the first floors.
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The Phoenix lron Company of Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania, furnished 9-inch and 11-inch
beams, wrought iron columns, and cast iron
columns. It also manufactured caps and bases
for both shops, plus the wrought iron frames for
their roofs. Contractors shipped these
purchased columns in sections which were
riveted together by arsenal workmen.™

Local Tri-Cities Firms Awarded Contracts

Gradually, local and regional private
contractors received an increasing number of
arsenal contracts. The arsenal awarded James
Clark & Sons, of Utica, lllinois, the cement



Right: Charlie Hipwell arrived at Rock
Island Arsenal in the early 1870s as a
foreman of an east coast roofing firm.
Recognizing the opportunity at the
arsenal, Hipwell formed his own business
in Davenport, lowa, and prospered as a
slate roofer and dealer.

contract at $1.55 per 300-pound barrel; W. B.
Barnes, of Rock Island, lllinois, received the lime
contract for 90 cents per 200-pound barrel
delivered; F. Hass, also of Rock Island, provided
copper material at $13,000 per shop building;
Atkinson & Murdock, Rock Island, lllinois, laid
the fire-proof brick arches in shops B and C for
$15.50 per 1,000 bricks; and Mr. J. S. Keator,
Moline, lllinois, supplied pine lumber for $17.00
to $22.00 per thousand board feet. In addition,
several private firms, beginning with Sanger &
Steel, provided limestone from the quarries near
Joliet, Illinois, for the construction of the Rock
Island Arsenal.”

Colonel Rodman, and his successor Major
Flagler, aiso awarded contracts for building to
private firms in lowa. The firm of French &
Davies, Davenport, lowa, provided the oak
flooring for shops B and C at $41.00 per
thousand board feet. Mr. Charles C. Hipwell,
foreman of Aiken and Company, Pittsburgh,
Pennsylvania, after supervising the slate work of
these first two shop buildings, left that firm to
establish his own business in Davenport, lowa.
His Davenport firm slated practically all the stone
shop buildings and officers’ quarters. Initially
the slate contract was awarded to Lyman Bridges
of Chicago, lllinois, but within a short time the
roofing company of Knox, Kine, and Company of
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, had replaced Bridges.
Mr. Bridges had his contract with the arsenal
canceled after he failed to comply with the terms
of the agreement in regard to quality of material
or timeliness.
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Aiken and Company eventually replaced Knox,
Kine, and Company and completed the slate
roofing of shops B and C for $15.25 per square of
slate. This represented a savings of $5.75 per

square over the canceled contract price. Mr.
Hipwell received the remaining slate contracts
with bids under $10.00 per square.’

The arsenal also purchased all the lumber
required for building a particular structure in
advance so that the wood could be stacked for
seasoning before being used to make doors,
door frames, window sashes, and window frames
in the arsenal shops. The arsenal saved money
and time by manufacturing these items and their
accompanying hardware.

Rodman Tensile Test Machine

Acquisitioning quality building material to
construct the arsenal was a concern of Colonel
Rodman and his successor, Major Flagler.
Colonel Rodman, determined to procure high
grade iron for his arsenal, built a tensile test
machine which he used to test iron samples of
private contractors to determine if their samples
met government specifications.



Below: A rare view of arsenal workmen constructing the roof of one of the 19th century stone buildings. Note the

iron, Fink trusses being assembled which eliminated the need for columns as support and created an open bay-
effect in the attic.

Iron, Copper, Siate, and Other Building Materials

Besides limestone, arsenal builders used an
enormous amount of other material in the
construction of the stone buildings. For
example, shop B (building 60) alone was built
with more than 780 tons of wrought iron supplied
by eastern mills. Roofers originally covered the
building with a slate roof of 51,500 feet, with
heavy sheet copper gutters and iron snow
guards an inch thick. Stone-cutters formed the
upper tier of the shop building, and then lined
the gutters with copper. Shop B was furnished
with more than 1,000 feet of such guttering.
Wrought iron trusses were used to support the
roof. Builders fastened the rafters of the shops
securely on one end by mortising them into the
stone, and dowelled the opposite end upon iron
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ball bearings which rested in grooves carved into
the stone. A corresponding groove in the foot of
the rafters covered the ball bearing; this allowed
for seasonal expansion and contraction caused
by the heat of summer and the cold of winter
without damaging the wall of the shops.
Carpenters covered all but the third floor of the
shops with 1% inch thick oak. The third or attic
flooring was covered with pine of the same
thickness.™

Workmen constructed the shop buildings of
massive rock-faced limestone with
approximately three-foot thick walls starting at
the base of the building and tapering about six-
inches with each additional story. This tapering
created a step effect which provided a shelf or lip



Below: Drawing of rafters for shops G and | (buildings 108 and 110) signed by the RIA Commander Brevet

Lieutenant Colonel D. W. Flagler and dated June 1881.

Right: Ornate cast-iron staircases were a product of the 19th century RIA foundry and are still in use in the stone

shop buildings.
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upon which iron beams rested. The exterior
walls rested on a foundation built upon bed-rock.
The 76 piers of masonry and cement anchored
in the basement of the stone shops supported
the columns and floors of the above stories.
Each pier was partially imbedded beneath the
surface flooring of the basement and rested on
bed-rock. Brick layers constructed fire-proof
brick, vaulted ceilings beneath each floor of the
manufacturing shops, among the lattice of “I”
beams. The brick arches were then covered with
plaster. These fire-proof brick, vaulted or
arched, ceilings were designed to prevent fire
from spreading to the wood flooring of the next
story. Beneath each ceiling lay the open bay of
the machine shop.

The open bay interior of the shops provided
light and space for manufacturing operations.
The shop interior featured cast-iron, and a few
wrought iron columns; and ornate cast-iron
stairways which are still in use today.
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Improvements During Rodman’s Command

Colonel Rodman supervised the completion of
the Clock Tower and had three of the large stone
buildings near completion at the time of his
death in 1871. These three structures were:
shop B, known today as building 60; shop C,
building 104; and the commanding officer’s
quarters, now known as Quarters One, building
301. The Greek revival architecture of shops B
and C provided the style for subsequent
industrial and administrative buildings
constructed at the arsenal during the 18th
century.

Other improvements during Colonel Rodman'’s
tenure as commanding officer of the Rock Island
Arsenal, 1865-1871, included the settlement of
civil property claims on Rock Island and the
approval of his plans for a combined armory and
arsenal at the island. Colonel Rodman enhanced
access to the island by having a wagon bridge to
the city of Rock Island erected and by having the
Chicago, Rock Island and Pacific Railroad tracks



Below:
island.

relocated to the western edge of Arsenal Island.
He initiated the construction of a double deck
bridge from Rock Island to Davenport, which
was completed a year after his death. He also
contracted for water power; had the arsenal
grounds cleared for new buildings; and laid a
network of roads throughout the island.

Rodman’'s Funeral

Colonel Rodman’s habit of working long hours
as RIA commander took its toll on his health.
Ignoring his doctor's warning, he continued his
demanding daily routine which led to his death at
the age of 56 on 7 June 1871, His funeral service
was conducted inside the nearly completed
commanding officer’'s quarters which he
designed. Rodman was buried on Arsenal
Island, as he requested. His gravesite is adjacent
to the National Cemetery, which was once the
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Monument marking Rodman’s grave adjacent to the National Cemetery at the far eastern edge of the
Note the two Rodman-type guns protecting the site.

old post cemetery.

The respect bestowed upon Colonel Rodman
by the arsenal and surrounding communities
was reflected in the size of his funeral
procession. The funeral was conducted in
elaborate style. An army band led the funeral
cortege, followed in succession by a military
escort, the horse drawn carriage on which lay the
coffin, a number of carriages containing the
Rodman family, and more than 1,000 civilian
mourners - many of whom had worked for
Colonel Rodman. Before Rodman’s death the
army had assigned a young captain named
Daniel W. Flagler as his assisting officer. Flagler
succeeded Rodman as the arsenal’s third
commanding officer and proceeded with
Rodman'’s plans for the construction of a grand
arsenal.’™



Right: Lieutenant Colonel Daniel W.
Flagler succeeded Rodman as Rock
Island Arsenal commander and was
largely responsible for implementing
Rodman’s conceptual plan of the
arsenal. He served as arsenal
commander from 1871 to 1886. During
the Spanish-American War Flagler held
the position of chief of ordnance.

CHAPTER FOUR
THE FLAGLER YEARS AT RIA

The Commanding Officer's Quarters

Among Flagler's first tasks as Rock lIsland
Arsenal commander was the completion of the
commanding officer's quarters begun by
Rodman. Although begun in May 1870, the
commanding officer's quarters was not
completed until October 1871, nor was it
landscaped until the Spring of 1872. Delays in
procuring stone slowed work on the quarters
during the summer months and forced work to
be continued into the winter season. Fire, hot
water, and salt were used to prepare the mortar.
The building walls were finally completed in
January 1871.75

Day workers were hired to complete the
remainder of the structure. Army Ordnance
officers supervised these workmen who were
hired primarily by the day, due to the shortage of
building stone caused by delays in procurement
and delivery of quarried stone from the
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The officers also conducted the
necessary engineering work which included
tests, experiments, and calculations for the
project.

Once completed, the commanding officer’s
quarters’ features included a massive |-shaped
main core, a west wing, and an observation tower

contractor.

above the east side of the main block. The
building’s foundation was constructed of two
foot thick limestone masonry. Its exterior walls
were built of Joliet limestone, and its interior
loadbearing walls were made of plaster brick
masonry. Large wrap-around piazzas, or
porches, which stretched around the east and
north sides of the building, featured girded iron
grillwork forged at the Rock Island Arsenal.
Also, most of the building’'s brass fixtures,
including door knobs, hinges, and other metal
hardware, were produced in the arsenal shops.
The structure was covered with a hipped roof
which contained skylights and a tall square
observation tower. The nearly 20,000 square feet
of floor space within quarters one was divided



Below: The Rock Island Arsenal commanding officer’s quarters, now designated quarters one, was completed in
1871. This structure, built of Joliet limestone approximately two feet thick, contains over 50 rooms and is today
considered the largest family residence owned by the U.S. Army.
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Below: Quarters four, circa 1880s. Subaltern officer’s quarters 2, 3, and 4 built 1872-1874, east of quarters one,
along Terrace Drive overlooking the Mississippi River. These quarters were scaled-down Italianate villas modeled
after the commanding officer’'s quarters.
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Below: The Rock Island Arsenal iron-melting furnaces situated in shop E (building 106) during the late 19th
century. The foundry initially poured castings of hardware used in the construction of Rock Island Arsenal
buildings.
Right: Constructed in 1874, shop E continuously functioned as the Rock Island Arsenal foundry until 1988, when
the operations were relocated in the new Kingsbury Manufacturing' Complex.

into over 50 rooms which explains why the
quarters is today considered the largest
government residence next to the White House.
The commanding officer’'s quarters became the
architectural model for the scaled-down
ltalianate design of the subaltern officer's
quarters built east of quarters one. These
subaltern officer's quarters consisted of quarters
two, three, and four.’®

Workmen began erecting shop E (building
106) and the RIA blacksmith shop in 1871, and
finished shortiy after the completion of shops B
and C in 1873. After the completion of shop E,
workers transferred the machinery in the
temporary structures to the recently finished
shops C and E, and then razed the temporary
structures. In 1871, Colonel Rodman ordered
cupolas (cylindrical shaft type blast furnaces
used for remelting metals such as iron before
casting) for the foundry. These new furnaces
allowed the arsenal to produce iron columns,
angles, and other necessary parts for the
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construction of buildings. From this time on, the
arsenal foundry and blacksmith shop were
actively engaged in the production of building
materials or ordnance supplies.

The continued acquisition of commercially-
produced iron which repeatedly failed to meet
specifications of the contract frustrated Major
Flagler. As a result, he instructed Lieutenant W.
P. Butler to test iron samples sent to Rock Island
by N. S. Bouton and Company of Chicago.

The tests proved the iron samples to be inferior
in strength, weight, and character. The arsenal
sent a record of the testing results to N. S.
Bouton and Company. The Chicago firm
proceeded to have its iron retested by another
firm the American Bridge Company.
Lieutenant Butler traveled to Chicago to inspect
the testing procedures after the American Bridge
Company had asserted that N. S. Bouton and
Company’s iron tested satisfactorily. He found
their methods questionable and stated in his
report that:



Below: Drawing of cast iron columns for shop A cast in RIA foundry. Columns such as these were made of iron
recycled from Civil War era horseshoes, cannonballs, and gun tubes. The Doric columns which are visible in the
old manufacturing shops were forged at the RIA. The riveted columns visible in buildings 60 and 104 were
purchased from private eastern firms and shipped unassembled to Rock Island.

Right: Rodman tensile testing machine was still used at the RIA after 1900.
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... On examination, the machine of the
American Bridge Company was found
to be a heavy hydraulic cylinder, using
glycerine instead of water. The piston
is 17 inches in diameter. The gauge is
the ordinary mercury gauge, very
carelessly used. No allowance was
made for friction. Its results should not,
therefore, shake confidence in the
machine (Rodman’'s tensile testing
machine) at Rock Island Arsenal. All
measurements were made roughly, by
an ordinary two foot rule, in the tests of
the American Bridge Company while
those at the Arsenal were to within
0.0001 inch.”

The Rodman tensile test machine measured
the capacity of a metal to resist force, whether
tensile, transverse, torsional, or crushing.
Internal force could also be applied by the
machine to test strength of cylinders. The
machine had a testing range of 50 to 100,000

47

2
!
%
i
f
P

pounds. In 1899, the Rodman tensile machine
was still in operation, and was being set up in
shop D, in anticipation of the establishment of an
armory at Rock Island to manufacture rifles.”

Scrapped Civil War Relics Recycled into Iron
Columns

Major Flagler, anxious to reduce construction
costs and eliminate delays caused by delinquent
deliveries, decided the columns could be
produced in the arsenal shops. He wrote the
chief of ordnance for approval of his idea to
convert tons of old horse shoes, cannons, and
other accumulated Civil War scrapped metal into
wrought iron bars. These bars could then be
cast into the iron needed for construction of the
stone shops. Previously, it was the government'’s
policy to sell all scrap metal to dealers.

Once approved, the salvage operation proved
successful. Flagler boasted that the metal
produced by his arsenal’'s blacksmiths and
foundry masters was of superior quality



Below: A /ate 19th century view of machinists at work in shop C (building 104). The commercially-made, riveted
columns, and the machines being driven by a center source of power indicate that this is an interior view of shop
C. Note: the fire-proof brick-vaulted ceilings typical of all the 19th century RIA shops.




Below: Cross section drawing of ceiling and floor construction of shop A, dated 1885, and traced in 1944. Note:
Tapering of the exterior wall by six inches at each story furnished a lip or shelf upon which the beams rested. Also
note the fire-proof brick vaulted ceilings which were plastered over, and the position of the columns placed
directly above each other to support the ceiling and floor above.
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Right: Arsenal gun yard #1, situated along Main (Rodman) Avenue, at the present site of the headquarters building
(building 390). A collection of United States guns and foreign guns captured during the Mexican War, 1846-1848;
the Civil War, 1861-1865; and the Spanish-American War, 1898 were placed on display in two arsenal gun yards.
Left: RIA shot yard. After the Civil War the U.S. Army closed several of its depots and transferred their ordnance
stores to the Rock Island Arsenal.

compared with the metal available
commercially.”™

The foundry only made castings, which
resulted in savings that paid for the pattern
forms, thereby contributing to the uniformity and
symmetry of the original stone buildings. By
recycling the island’s supply of scrapped metal
into iron columns, the arsenal saved the
government approximately 50 percent or more of
a private contractor's price. Iron pipes for
sewers mains, fences, roof trusses, and
various other fixtures were produced from this
recycled metal. Arsenal workers aiso salvaged
brass saved from artillery projectiles, along with
other metals. Brass rotating bands from these
projectiles were turned into hinges, locks and
other hardware used in the building of the stone
shops.®

The Moline Review newspaper of 1 November
1879 printed a descriptive paragraph, about the
work being accomplished at the Rock Island
Arsenal during late 1879.
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Col (Brevet) D. W. Flagler, the
commandant of Rock Island Arsenal, is
pushing his vast building operations
with commendable energy. Acres of
huge stones are scattered over the
grounds and the click of the hammer
and chisel is heard from hundreds of
busy mechanics. In the foundries the
serviceable shot and shell accumulated
and captured during the war are being
worked up into iron railings and
stairways, bronze doorknobs, sash
weights and pulleys and the hundreds
of other metal appliances required in
the erection of the immense shops.
The closest economy is practiced and
every available piece of metal is applied
to some use. The machinery of the
shops is all run by the water power and
the longer it is used the more its
usefulness is demonstrated.®



Belqw; Arsenal workmen removing scrapped canteens, cups, and other metal items from courtyard of shop C
(building 104). The arsenal initially sold the scrap metal to salvage dealers until RIA Commander Flagler received
permission to melit-down the metals and recast into building hardware.

Difficulty Securing Bed-rock For Shop D, 1871-
1872

Shop D’s (building 62) excavation in 1871-72
had uncovered a pocket or cavern beneath the
surface of the building site. Lieutenant Charles
Shaler, Jr., ordnance officer in charge of the
excavation, submitted in his report a description
of the character of the pocket and the method
used to secure the foundation. He stated that the
excavation began in early May 1871.

The foundation was laid with considerable
difficulty and at great expense. According to
Lieutenant Shaler, what had initially appeared to
be solid rock often turned out to be a thin sheet
of clay. A seam of clay ran through the north end
of each wing which, when moist, was very
loose, but when dry was so hard that a pick was
required for its removal. The seam of clay was
about 30 feet in width. As the excavation
reached 34 feet beneath the surface, water
poured into the excavation. Lieutenant Shaler
wrote that:
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A sewer, built to carry off water from
the roof of shop B, burst one evening
after a heavy rain and by morning had
flooded the excavation. The water
seeped into the ground and was carried
off by a subterraneous passage not
apparent before the incident.
Continuing rain halted work for that
day, and by the next morning a large
area of ground had sunk into the
opening. Arsenal workmen cleared out
the opening and used sheathing boards
to support the walls against future
collapse. Again, heavy rains interfered
with work, making the clay too plastic-
like causing large limestone boulders,
some weighing over three tons, to slide
toward the excavation, caving in the
sheathing. It was necessary for the
third time to remove the material, and
the broken sheathing boards and
beams which considerably slowed the
operation.8?



Left: The post building (building 225) built in 1874 of Stone City limestone, quarried near Anamosa, lowa, by
convicts imprisoned at the lowa State Penitentiary. The building still functions today as the RIA’s police and fire

stations.

Right: A copy of a stereoscopic photograph showing a typical 19th century quarry operation at Stone City, lowa.

Lieutenant Shaler went on to report that this
third attempt at excavating the site was
successful down to the water level. Further
excavation, however, revealed a wide cavern or
pocket that passed through the center of the
west wing across the foundation site in a
southeasterly direction. The floor of the cavern
was covered with sand, and according to Shaler,
“ripple marks were found that showed it to have
been a water course.” To obtain a sound footing
for the walls of shop D, a “core of beton,”
concrete mixture containing round pebbles, was
laid in a convex arch of seven consecutive layers
that abutted the side walls of solid rock. In this
pocket alone, 270 cubic yards of stone were laid.
Lieutenant Shaler also found it necessary to
conduct arches of this type in five different
places. The actual foundation for shop D was
made of stone from a quarry on Arsenal Island
located near the ferry boat landing.®

1873, lowa Convict Labor Quarry Stone for RIA
in 1873, the Rock lIsland Arsenal procured
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stone for the construction of the post building
(building 225), in addition to the subaltern
officer's quarters (quarters 3), from quarries in
Stone City, lowa. Convicts from the lowa State
Penitentiary in Anamosa, lowa, quarried the
limestone. The price paid for the stone, which
was delivered by railroad car to the arsenal, was
$8.00 per cubic yard. Martin Heisey and J. A.
Green, both of Anamosa, lowa, received
contracts to provide rubble stone (irregular
fragments or pieces of rock used in masonry);
pilaster blocks of stone (used in rectangular
columns with capital and base that were set into
walls as an ornamental motif); and dimension
stone priced at $12.50 per cubic yard delivered
on rail cars to the arsenal. On one occasion, the
delivery of stone was slow due to the difficulty
experienced by contractors in securing
transportation. Railroad companies originally
arranged to deliver the stone, but the agreement
did not last. Trains from Anamosa ran only to the
Duck Creek rail station on the west bank of the
Mississippi River. Stone shipped by rail to the



Below: The old barracks building built in 1873, now designated building 90. The building was designed to quarter
200 soldiers and functioned as a barracks through World War |.

Duck Creek station was unloaded and
transported by wagon teams over five miles to
the arsenal.®*

Construction of Barracks Building

In addition to the shop buildings, plans called
for the construction of ancillary structures such
as the barracks building (building 90). Though
originally designed similar to the architecture of
the shops, design changes in the barracks were
made to reduce construction costs. The walls
were built of range rubble, without the tool marks
characteristic of the heavy ashlar stone used in
the construction of the shop buildings. Even
with these alterations the cost of the building
exceeded its original estimate. The labor
situation at Rock Island Arsenal and the
subsequent cost of construction was also greatly
affected by the irregularities in the procurement
of stone. Because of the unsettled labor picture,
it became necessary to leave the third floor of the
barracks building, designed to accommodate
200 soldiers, partially unfinished for a time. As
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an aside, its floor plan included a kitchen, mess
rooms, sewerage, water supply, heating,
pantries, storerooms, and water closets in
addition to sleeping bays. Nearby an additional
mess, a bakery, and laundry buildings were
constructed as auxiliary structures to the
Barracks Building.®s

1879-1880, Difficulties in Finding Bed-Rock for
Shop H

Other problems hindered and delayed
construction of the Rock Island Arsenal. Major
Flagler considered the excavation of building
foundations among the most difficult work
encountered in his tenure as arsenal
commander. He cited the excavation of the
foundation for shop H (building 66), which
occurred in 1879-1880, as the most
troublesome.®® To support the immense weight
of the stone buildings, each shop structure's
foundation was constructed upon solid bed-
rock. The foundation supported the stone walls
preventing the building from sinking under such



Below: Each of the stone shop buildings were anchored by 76 piers partially embedded in the basement floor and
resting on solid bed-rock to provide support for the upper floors and columns directly above.
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tremendous weight. Furthermore, in each
building, 76 stone piers were constructed to
support the interior floors. The columns that
secured the upper stories of the buildings were
placed directly in line with the stone piers
below.

The difficulties that had to be overcome in
order to obtain a secure foundation for pier #26
of shop H were drastically more serious than any
of the other similar cases. Workmen on pier #26
excavated to a depth of 74 feet while operating in
a space only 10 by 12 feet wide® This
excavation was considerably deeper than those
dug for other shop-buildings. A network of
sheathing timbers, irregularly wedged into place
to prevent the pit walls from collapsing,
consumed even more space. The timbers had to
be especially strong to resist pressure from loose
sliding boulders. Steam pumps, pipes, and plank
tubes further cluttered the floor of the excavation
trench, and workmen had to hoist material
through the plank tubes.®®

Major Flagler ordered that deep vertical

— % %

soundings be conducted from the bottom of pier
#26's excavation pit. Workmen used sledge-
hammers to drive steel-pointed, jointed iron bars
and drills into the floor of the excavation in
search of solid rock. The drills passed through
layers of soft clay that alternated with loose rock,
sand, and gravel. According to Flagler, “the ooze
or wash of the soft clay through the sheathing
sometimes left vacant places behind the
sheathing till caving in filled them up.” The
loosely-filled, clay mixed with stone was so soft
in places that workers and tools were in danger
of suddenly sinking out of sight. Sounding rods
striking these isolated large boulders produced
false soundings, thereby adversely affecting the
trained ear of the workmen. In addition, the
workers discovered irregularly-shaped crevices
or pockets that had been formed by undergound
water presure. It appeared a ravine, carved by an
ancient waterway, ran diagonally in a southeast
to northwest direction through the construction
site of the shop buildings. This ravine affected
the excavation of several shops, in particular,
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Right: R/IA Commander Colonel
D. W. Flagler’s notes on excava-
tions for foundations of piers in
shop H, dated October 1879.

two-thirds of shop |, nearly all of shop H, half of
shop K, and a corner portion of shop D.
However, it was during the excavation of shop H,
specifically pier #26, that the builders had
greatest difficulties due to the discovery of the
largest of these crevices. In their search for good
solid bed-rock to secure shop H's pier
foundation, arsenal workers had excavated
below the water level of the Mississippi River.8?
Steam pumps were used to pump out water by
the gallons which had flowed into the
excavation trench. The inflow of water made
deeper excavation impractical, and further
sounding attempts seemed useless. Flagler
stated in his report to the chief of ordnance that:

| (Flagler) would then have filled up
the hole, abandoned putting in a pier,
and have substituted therefor(e) the
iron column and truss described a few
pages back, had not the careful
soundings made at this point led me to
fear that the foundations of the
adjacent main wall of the building, put
in the previous year, were not as secure
as | had supposed.®®

Major Flagler realized that the foundation work
done the previous year, in 1879, was not built
upon solid bed-rock as he had earlier thought.
Flagler decided to excavate as far as possible
and do whatever was necessary to secure and
strengthen the “old foundation”. Unsuccessful
in attempts to find solid rock to support the
foundation of pier #26, Flagler ordered that
heavy beams of timber, called piles, be driven
into the earth as a substitute bed-rock for the
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pier foundation. Atthe bottom of the excavation,
piles were driven with the use of a timber tube
which guided the drop-weight among the
sheathing timbers, and prevented accidents to
workmen. The drop operated within the 30-foot
tube and protected the men working in the
excavation trench from being struck by the drop-
weight as it hammered down on the piles. The
900-pound drop-weight, powered by steam,
continued to strike the pile until its drop of 27
feet could no longer move the pile. The loose,
water-saturated clay was a poor material to
sustain piles. The bottom end of the piles were
shod with heavy sharp-pointed iron shoes to
split, break, or push aside boulders embedded in
the clay. Twenty-six twelve-inch square piles
were driven to depths varying from 14 to 17
feet.®



Below: Rock Island Arsenal Commander D. W. Flagler's notes pertaining to the excavations of foundations and
piers for shop H (building 66), dated October 1879. Note the cross-section view of excavation of Pier #26, showing
the depth of the excavation to the left and the cross-section of the pier’s foundation to the right. Also note the 26
pilings used to provide footing for the foundation at the bottom of the excavation. Published originally in the RIA
Commander’s Annual Report to the Chief of Ordnance for the years 1879-1880.
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The flow of water into the trench increased the
difficulties of finding a footing for the piers and
created serious problems which hampered the
excavation of the foundations for shop H. Steam
pumps were placed at low places in the trench
to drain and discharge water through pipes and
troughs into sewers. Numerous hand pumps
were used to reduce the cost of exclusively using
steam pumps. The removal of water from so
many pits over such a large area was a difficult
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task.
operate the pumps until the masonry was raised

After excavating, it was necessary to

above water level. The workmen doing the
digging had to stand in one to two feet of water,
especially after the excavation passed below the
water level of the Mississippi River. A couple of
small pumps operated around-the-clock
discharging approximately 180 gallons of water
per minute from the pits.%?

Major Flagler described the procedures



Right: The facade of the entrance to
shop H. Note the massive rock-faced
limestone blocks accented by pilasters
(columns partially embedded into the
wall), keystone arches, and small
windows encased in the entablature.

followed by the workmen in securing the footing
for the (old) foundation of shop H in his report to
the chief of ordnance ending 30 June 1880. He
stated that:

Arsenal workmen cleaned the loose
rock and mud from the crevice which
ran beneath the old foundation, before
they drove in the piles. Workmen used
long hoses and other devices to clear
the space and to re-fill it with well-
rammed concrete. A pump operated
continuously, keeping the water low
enough so that the piles could be
driven with an inclination under the old
foundation. Using this method, the bed
of concrete and loose fragments of
rock were jammed more firmly into the
crevice.

Once the workmen finished driving
the piles, they evenly sawed the tops
off. The interstices or spaces between
the piles were cleaned out to a depth of
four feet and then refilled with
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concrete, well-rammed with iron
tamping bars. On top of the concrete,
workmen placed footing stones, twelve
feet thick. Upon the footing stones,
laborers laid ordinary masonry with
occasional courses of footing stones,
till the surface of the ground was
reached. The work continued until
heavy frost set in. Hot water was used
at times for mixing the mortar and
keeping it warm till it could be lowered
in the pit below the frost line. Workmen
brought the masonry up to within seven
feet of the surface. Then laborers filled
the hole with clay till warm weather
arrived. Inthe spring, workers removed
the clay and completed the pier. The
workmen commenced the excavation
on August 1, and completed it on
November 4, 1879. The arsenal
finished the pile driving on November
16, and the masonry work on December
4 of that same year.®



Right: The repair and replacement of
cracked wall in East wing of shop H. The
foundation was not secured on solid bed-
rock which over a period of years caused
the wall to sink under the tremendous
weight of the massive stone wall. The wall
was repaired and secured 35 years later at
a cost of $65,000.

Alternative layers of concrete and Joliet
rubble-stone masonry were laid and held in
place by large footing stones. Major Flagler
cited in his report to the chief of ordnance that it
took seven weeks to excavate and fill the crevice,
during which time 402 cubic yards of masonry,
including concrete and stone rubble, were used.
Despite the use of pumps while putting in the
masonry, much of the concrete had to be laid in
water. Flagler reported that: “gangs of men”
were employed at night and during the weekends
a portion of the time. He credited Mr. W. A, P.
Totten, foreman of laborers, in charge of the
excavation and sheathing work, and Mr. Robert
McFarlane, in charge of the masonry work, for
their efforts in supervising the project.®

By the end of June 1800, a total of 4,292 cubic
yards of masonry had been put into the
foundations of shop H (building 66), followed by
an additional 4,647 cubic yards used for the
foundations of shop H the next fiscal year. The
two year total amounted to 8,939 cubic yards
which measured over a 1,000 more yards of
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masonry than would be later used in the walls.%

in 1880, Major Flagler wrote a final report to
the chief of ordnance pertaining to the
difficulties that his workmen had encountered in
securing foundations for shop buildings, in
particular, shop H. He concluded the report with
his opinion as to the worst foreseeable scenario
that could possibly happen in regard to these
foundations. He stated that the foundation of
shop H would settle only a little and would occur
very slowly. He felt that since the foundations
could not give way to endanger the structure the
worst that could possibly happen would be
sufficient settling of the wall foundation to cause
serious cracks in the wall. f that occurred,
Flagler believed the only remedy would be to
disassemble and rebuild the wall.

Thirty-five years later, Major Flagler's
prediction as to “the worst that could ever
happen’’ occurred. By 1912 arsenal
photographers had begun to document cracks in
the wall of shop H. By 1915, the east wall of the
east wing of shop H was dismantled and rebuilt.



Below: The Rock Island Arsenal manufactured artillery battery wagons from the early 1890s through 1918. In the

photo below a turn-of-the-century battery wagon drawn by arsenal horses stands ready for road test during the
midst of winter.

1880, Appropriation Law Changed

Another major hindrance to the building of
the arsenal had nothing to do with procuring
stone; maintaining skilled laborers; or finding
bed-rock to build upon. Rather, it had to do with
federal law which required that appropriations
made in June of one year had to be used before
June of the following year; in essence,the funds
had to be used within the same fiscal year that
they were appropriated. Any unspent balance
had to be returned to the U.S. Treasury
Department. This law caused extreme
difficulties because it was hard to finish a
building in one year. Little outside work could be
accomplished during the long winter months;
therefore, work was often suspended during cold
weather, and was further delayed while waiting
for new appropriations from Congress. Colonel
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Rodman and Major Flagler both complained to
their superiors regarding this method of funding.
Not until 1880 did the government finally exempt
buildings at Rock Island Arsenal from this legal
restriction. Before this the arsenal lost several of
the best working months of the year while
waiting for congressional appropriations to be
passed and made available on the first of July of
each fiscal year.%

1880, Announcement for Bids for Building
Material

With the use of local newspapers, such as the
Moline Review, announcements that the Rock
Island Arsenal was accepting bids for building
material was widely disemminated. On the
following page is an announcement of this
nature which ran on 16 July 1880.%



Below: The Rock Island Arsenal Commander placed notices in local newspapers announcing that the arsenal was
accepting bids for specific building materials. The Moline Review carried the announcement below on 16 July
1880.

Proposals for Wrought Iron | Beams.
Rock Island Arsenal, lll., June 24, 1800.

SEALED PROPOSALS are invited to furnish, delivered on cars at this Arsenal, about -- 830
pounds 15 in. | Beams, 200 Ibs. per yard.

430,000 pounds 12 in. | Beams, 200 Ibs. per yard.

480,000 pounds 12 in. | Beams, 125 Ibs. per yard.

480 pounds 12 in. | Beams, 125 Ibs. per yard.

127,000 pounds 4 in. | Beams, 30 Ibs. per yard.

90,000 pounds 7 in. Deck Beams, 58 Ibs. per yard.

20,000 pounds Angle and T irons.

Full bills and specifications can be obtained from the undersigned. All the Iron must be delivered
\F/)vliégisr;;i.ve months after date of contract, but the contractor may deliver it as much sooner as he

The successful bidder will have to enter into contract, and give good and sufficient bonds.

The Government reserves the right to reject any or all bids, and if necessary, bidders must show
that they are able to perform the contract.

Bids from irresponsible parties who are not members or agents of firms competent to perform
the contract, will not be considered.

Bids will be opened at 10 a.m. July 14th, 1880, and bidders are invited to be present.

D. W. FLAGLER
Major of Ordnance
Commanding
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Below: A jate 1800s photograph of 7-inch siege howitzer and RIA-made carriage. Probably the artillery harness
equipment on the horses was manufactured at the Rock Island Arsenal. Note the high water tower which once
stood just south of the multiple-sided water reservoir. Possibly a road test on a newly completed carriage model
documented by the photograph.

To further illustrate the difficulty the arsenal
encountered in obtaining stone during its major
construction period of the latter 19th century, the
arsenal made announcements in local
newspapers stating that it was again seeking to
procure building stone. One such advertisement
soliciting bidders appeared in the 15th August
1881 issue of the Moline Review-Dispatch. It
explained the bidding procedure in the following
manner:

PROPOSALS FOR STONE

Rock Island Arsenal Ill., Aug. 15,
1882. SEALED PROPOSALS are
invited to enter into contract to furnish,
delivered at this arsenal, about 1800
cubic yards of Dimension, Ashlar,
Rubble and Footing Stone for the
construction of one store-house.

The architecture of this building is to
be similar to the barracks already built
at this arsenal. Bidders should not
make bids until after examining
drawings and specifications, and
obtaining full information at my office,
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and should also examine the work of
the building mentioned above.

Bidders must state the name and
location of the quarries from which
they will furnish stone; be prepared to
show that they have such control over
quarries as to insure their ability to
furnish the stone, and the quarries must
be opened sufficiently to show that the
required amount of stone can be
obtained from them, the stone must be
of known good quality and endurance,
and not differ greatly in appearance
from that in the shops and adjoining
buildings.

The successful bidder must give
good and sufficient bonds for a faithful
performance of his contract. The U.S.
reserves the right to reject any or all
bids. Proposals must be in triplicate,
and will be opened Sept. 20, 1882.
Bidders are invited to be present.

D. W. FLAGLER,
Lt. Col, of Ord, Comd.®®



Right: A U.S. Army corporal standing
guard possibly at an entrance to post
headquarters building (building 360).
The belt and bayonet worn by the guard
indicates the photograph was taken in
the Jate 1800s. Cheveron strips
remained “V” shaped until 1902, when
they were officially inverted.

Innovations in Construction of Arsenal Buildings

During the course of a building project that
took 30 years to complete, some innovations
appeared in the construction of the arsenal stone
buildings. As early as 1872, Major Flagler had
experimented with the use of concrete for paving
and construction. He reasoned that if a mixed
concrete with the proper toughness and
hardness could be produced at the arsenal, it
would be more economical and more durable
than stone. Major Flagler's early tests, however,
failed to produce a consistently hard concrete.
To be noted is the fact that Flagler was promoted
to the rank of Lieutenant Colonel in 1881.

It was not until 1883 that Flagler’s
investigations and experiments in producing a
suitable concrete proved satisfactory. The
successful concrete mixture was initially used in
the construction of storehouse “A”. Storehouse
“A” was the first of a series of storehouses
originally planned to be erected behind each of
the manufacturing shop buildings. Storehouse
“A”, located to the rear of shop A (building 102),
measured 254 feet by 60 feet, with two porticos
15 feet by 60 feet. The four-story building had a
total area of 63,600 square feet. This storehouse
was the first Rock Island Arsenal building built
with an all-concrete foundation. From this time
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on, all arsenal foundations, basement floors, and
most sidewalks were constructed in concrete.
The concrete replaced the more costly flag-
stones used in earlier construction.®®

Flagler's experiments with different types of
cement led him to recommend the use of “South
Bend” Portland cement produced in South Bend,
Indiana. He found it superior to the best English
cements available. Not only was the quality
superior, but the cost of the South Bend cement
was more economical at $2.85 per barrel of 400
pounds delivered. Flagler, in describing the
methods employed by his workmen, provided
some insight into how the stone buildings were



constructed. He reported that:

... The arsenal obtained sand, of good
quality, from local contractors for 63
cents per cubic yard delivered by
wagons at the work site. The rock, a
very hard limestone containing large
quantities of flint, which had been
excavated from the water power canal
project in the south channel of the
Mississippi river, was hauled across the
river on ice during the winter. The
limestone cost, delivered at the work
site, .50 cents per cubic yard.
Workmen used a Totten crusher to
pulverize the stone. For foundation
work, the crusher was placed at the
edge of the basement excavation and
the rock was poured from the crusher
onto a plank at the edge of the
basement, a drop of seven and a half
feet. A sprinkler kept the pile of broken
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Below: Rock crusher in operation on Arsenal Island pulverizing stone possibly for mixing with cement and paving
roads.

rock thoroughly wet. Workmen then
shoveled the rock into barrows and
dump boxes for thorough mixing with
sand and cement. Eventually the
workmen became expert enough to
measure the ingredients with their
shovels.

Wheelbarrows were used to transport
concrete to foundation work nearby
When transporting the concrete over
distance, workmen pushed it in dump
boxes of one cubic yard capacity, on
tramway cars. These cars were
afterwards used for delivering stone
and mortar to the derricks for building
walls of the stone shops. Workmen did
not wet the concrete until it arrived at
the place of use, and just prior to
dumping it, water was added. A layer of
concrete was thoroughly rammed and
tamped until its surface was just
covered with water.'®



Below: Water sprinkier (appears to be in back of shop A, building 102) used to water down the road to keep the

dust down.

CONSTRUCTION COSTS

Flagler included the following breakdown of
material and cost in his report so that in the
future, the Army Ordnance Department would
use it as a guideline in determining construction
costs. 1

INGREDIENTS AND COST

1 cu. yd. crushed rock-cost before crushing
$0.50

1 cu. yd. sand at 63 cents $0.21
1 cu. yd. cement (1 barrel) 400 lbs. $2.85
Cost of material per yd. $3.56

Capacity of crusher 33 yds. per day.

Labor to lay 33 cu. yds. of concrete: 2 men at
crusher; 2 mixing sand/cement and bringing to
crusher; 2 mixers; 2 wheelbarrow men; 2 tampers
10 men in all, at $1.50 per day each . . . .. $15.00

Cost of running crusher $2.75

1 mason superintending $2.75

Miscellaneous expenses $2.00

Total for 33 yds. $22.50

Labor for 1 yd. $0.68

Material for 1 yd. $3.56

Cost per yd. $4.24



Below: Three different Arsenal commanders closed out the 19th century following Flagler’s departure in 1886.

Left:

Middle:
Right:

Improvements During Flagler's Command

Following Rodman’s master plan, Flagler
supervised completion of the commanding
officer's quarters in 1871, shop C in 1872, and
shop B in 1873. Between 1874 and 1886, Flagler
built seven stone buildings on Main Avenue:
shops A, B, E, F, G, H, and |. Also, Flagler added
to the manufacturing core several ancillary
buildings, including a magazine, barracks, fire
station, lumber shed, storehouse for shop A, gate
house, and officer’'s quarters 2, 3, and 4 during
his command of the Rock Island Arsenal. After
Flagler's departure in April 1886, Colonel
Thomas G. Baylor, (1886-1888); Colonel James
M. Whittemore, (1888-1891); and Colonel
Adelbert R. Buffington, (1892-1897) commanded
the Rock Island Arsenal. The arsenal’s last stone
buildings were completed during the tenure of
these three arsenal commanders.
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Colonel Thomas G. Baylor, RIA commander, 1886-1888.
Colonel James M. Whittemore, RIA commander, 1888-1891.
Colonel Adelbert R. Buffington, RIA commander, 1892-1897.

Construction After Flagler Departs RIA

The close of Lieutenant Colonel Daniel W.
Flagler's term as commanding officer in 1886
virtually brought to an end the first great
construction period of the Rock Island Arsenal.
Flagler had basically completed the original plan
of General Rodman. Few important construction
projects were concluded at the arsenal after his
departure and before the turn-of-the-century.
However, the following projects from the late
19th century do merit recognition.

Following Flagler's term as commander, the
construction of the final Rodman-plan buildings,
shop K (building 68) and storehouse K (building
56) lagged and continued to drag on slowly
through the commands of Colonels Baylor,
Whittemore, and Buffington. Arsenal workmen
had completed the storehouse for shop K in
1893, seven years after its foundation had been
laid. In that same year, skilled laborers applied
the finishing touches to shop K, a good 12 years
after its initial construction.



Below: The Rock Island Arsenal Commander’s office and desk situated in the old post headquarters (building
360). This 1898 view of Colonel Stanhope Blunt's office reveals an assortment of RIA-made ordnance stores such
as saddles, saddlebags, haversacks, tin cups, ammunition belts, horse curry brushes, and fencing mask displayed
in front of, on, and around the commander’s desk.

Building 360, The Oid Post Headquarters 1889-
1922

in 1888, Congress appropriated funds for the
construction of a new headquarters building,
later designated building 360. The Rock Island
Arsenal maintained its headquarters in this
building until after World War One. In 1922,
arsenal operations were reduced and
consolidated into fewer buildings. As part of this
return to peace-time status, the arsenal
headquarters was transferred to shop B (building
60)."2  Though not an arsenal structure, the
rebuilding of the government bridge from
Davenport in 1895-1896 should be inciuded as a
major construction project of the late 1800s
because of its impact on arsenal transportation.
One project that Rock Island Arsenal
commanders repeatedly requested appropriat-
ions for, during the last decade and a half of the

66

19th century, was the building of a new post
hospital.

Quarters 34, The Old Post Hospital

The building then used as a hospital was a
drafty old frame confederate prison building.
Colonel Buffington expressed his frustration and
defended the necessity of replacing the arsenal’s
old hospital building in his report to the chief of
ordnance dated 1896. He argued that:

. . . Previous reports have been made as
to the inadequacy of the post hospital.
It is an old frame structure, erected
during the Civil War, about thirty-five
years ago (for prison purposes). It is
drafty and leaky, and the timbers are
decayed. Patients placed in this
building for treatment must have
blankets hung around their beds in cold



Below: The old Post Hospital, a drafty old wood frame Rock Island Prison barracks building functioned as the

Rock Island Arsenal Hospital through the close of the century. Congress finally approved a request for a
replacement building in 1907.

weather to keep off the draft, and the
beds must be moved from place to
place in wet weather fo avoid the rain.
The Inspector General had reported
that this building is utterly unfit for
hospital purposes and not worth
repairing. Estimates have been
repeatedly submitted, and are again
included this year. It is really a cruelty
to place a sick man in this structure.'®

Unfortunately this project did not receive
congressional approval until after the turn-of-
the-century. In 1907, a brick building was
constructed as the new hospital. Today this
building functions as officer's quarters (building
81) for the Rock Island Arsenal.
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The RiA’s First Great Period of Constructions
Comes to a Close

A decline in appropriations for construction at
Rock Island coincided earlier with Flagler's
departure from the arsenal. Basically the
arsenal’'s building phase had been completed,
and the conclusion of Colonel Rodman'’s original
plan was in sight. Congressional priorities
turned to providing appropriations that would
furnish shop machinery; provide adequate
sources of power to the shops; maintain arsenal
roads and grounds; and improve the access
bridge from Davenport, lowa. The first great
construction period of the Rock Island Arsenal
was brought to a close in the decade and a halt
prior to the turn-of-the-century.



Below: The first dam built on Mississippi River in 1841; it stretched from Moline across the south channel of the
Mississippi River to Arsenal Island.

CHAPTER FIVE 3
WATER POWER AT ROCK ISLAND

The Mississippi River's potential water power
at Rock Island and the island's access to water
and rail routes made Rock Island a choice
western site for an armory or arsenal for
manufacturing of supplies. These natural
attributes also made Rock Island an attractive
plum for commercial development.

In the late 1830s, long before the construction
of the arsenal, private enterprise began
developing water power in the south channel of
the Mississippi River, now known as Sylvan
Slough. In February 1837, the legislature of
lllinois granted to David B. Sears and John W.
Spencer a charter to build a dam across the
south channel of the Mississippi River near the
head of Rock Island, across from Moline, lllinois.
Mr. Sears and associates controlled the water
power for several years. In 1851, the firm of Pitts,
Gilbert, and Pitts of New York acquired the dam
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and remained in control of its water power until
1859. After a scheme to raise money for
improvements and repairs through the sale of
bonds failed, the entire property was turned over
to the stockholders. Horace K. White and his
New York associates then purchased bonds for
improvements and repair of the dam, which
eventually led to White's acquisition of the
property on 25 April 1864,

As previously mentioned, on 19 April 1864,
Congress approved an act which authorized the
Rock lIsland Arsenal commander to clear the
island of all property claims made by private
parties and local communities. This act provided
for establishment of a board of commissioners,
appointed by the president of the United States.
The board reviewed the legitimate claims and
made recommendations as to their settlement.

In February 1865, Charles Atkinson and
associates obtained a charter from the state of
Illinois for the Moline Water Power Company,
and by December of that same year they



Below: Portion of Rock Island Arsenal map which shows the plans and development of water power at Rock
Island, signed by Bravet Lieutenant Colonel D. W. Flagler, RIA commander.
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purchased the water power franchise at Rock island earth dike, the stone dike, the
Island.?04 canal, and wing dam were carried on

Rock Island Arsenal’'s water power history simultaneously and although an
spanned more than 50 years, from 1865 to after account of expenditures on the water
the-turn-of-the-century, and during those years power was carefully kept, the cost of
at least eight major water power-related projects the different parts of the work was not
were completed by the Rock Island Arsenal. The kept separately.'%

eight projects included: construction of a stone
lateral dam wall in the south channel of the
Mississippi River; excavation of a tail race canal
through solid rock; building of a stone dike along
Sylvan Island; construction of the arsenal dam,;
building of an arsenal power house; digging of
tunnels and erecting of towers to transmit the
power to the shops by wire cable; building a
stone dike at the edge of the island’s shore to the
head of the island along the south channel; and
extending a wing dam off the main channel of the
Mississippi River from Benham'’s Island. Flagler

Colonel Rodman initially planned to use
condensed air to power the machines in his
arsenal shops. His plan called for transmitting
condensed air from Benham'’s Island dam on the
north channel and from the old Moline dam on
the south channel of the Mississippi River to the
arsenal shops. He quickly abandoned this idea,
and developed a new plan to mechanically
transfer power from a dam on the south channel
of the Mississippi River, which was nearer the
construction site of the arsenal manufacturing

AT buildings.
mraot'fe in his History of the Rock Island Arsenal As early as 1865, Colonel Rodman proposed
' using water power derived from the Moline Water
Work on the upper (dam) wall, the Power Company to drive the machinery in his
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Right: Charles Atkinson,
president of Moline Water Power
Company.

arsenal shops. He suggested building a masonry
dam and allowing Moline Water Power Company
to use its water at the east end of the dam, while
the Rock Island Arsenal used its water
downstream at the west end of the dam.

As earlier stated, Congress passed another act
on 22 June 1866, which further empowered the
arsenal commander to take complete and
permanent possession of Rock Island, including
the island’s access bridges and water power. On
27 June 1866, Congress appropriated $100,000
to secure water power at Rock Island.'%¢

Authorized by the above congressional
legislation, Colonel Rodman notified the Moline
Water Power Company to vacate by 1 September
1866 all portions of the south channel that
separated Rock Island from the lllinois shore.
After lengthy negotiations, Charles Atkinson,
president of the Moline Water Power Company,
agreed to relinquish to the federal government
his company’s rights to the water power and
property, north of the south channel's mid-line.
This included sandbars (deposits of sand),
stone, or other materials adjacent to Rock Island.
In exchange, the government agreed to provide
in perpetuity, free of cost, one-fourth of the water
power derived from existing or subsequent
plants to the Moline Water Power Company. In
addition to the above agreement, the Moline
Water Power Company reserved the privilege of
renting to customers any surplus power not
needed by the arsenal. On 22 September 1866,
the Moline Water Power Company received
authority from the chief of ordnance to collect
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rent or fees from nearby factories using their
water power.'?’
Filagler reflected in his History of Rock Island

Arsenal, that the one-fourth agreement, in
exchange for the arsenal’s use of three-fourths
of the water power was the key to the
government's difficulties with the Moline Water
Power Company. Flagler wrote:

... Itis presumable that the right of the
company could have been purchased
for less sum that this ($500,000) and the
United States would have been left sole
owners of all the power, and would
have been free from a troublesome,
‘entangling alliance’ with a private
corporation.08

Congress passed a joint resolution
empowering the secretary of war to administer
the recommendations of the 1864 and 1866



Below: Moline lateral dam and water power pool, looking northeast. The development of waterpower by the Rock
Island Arsenal attracted businesses to the area. John Deere and others relocated their businesses in Moline,

Hlinois.

commissions to adjust claims stemming from
actions taken by the government to regain
complete possession of the island.

The joint resolution enabled the acting
Secretary of War General Ulysses S. Grant to
enter into an agreement regarding water power

for the arsenal at Rock Island. In accordance
with this resolution, the United States and the
Moline Water Power Company signed a contract,
dated 18 June and 20 August 1867. The contract,
which included the recommendations of the
commissioners, became the basic agreement
between the federal government and the Moline
Water Power Company.’®® The Moline Water
Power Company later, however, filed several
complaints against the United States
Government for not fulfilling the terms of this
contract. In 1869, the plan for water power
development at Rock lIsland was modified to
include the construction of two dams: the
Moline (lateral) dam; and the Rock Island
Arsenal dam.'°
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The lateral dam stretched from the Moline
shore, at the point where the buildings of the
Moline Water Power Company were situated,
downstream approximately one mile to a portion
of the Moline mainland which jutted out into the
slough. Colonel Rodman selected the narrowest
point in the slough for construction of the
arsenal dam across the south channel.

Before the use of electricity, power had not
been transmitted over a great distance very
successfully. The crude technology of the 1860s
and 1870s precluded the long distance use of
electricity. Only those buildings and factories
situated in the immediate vicinity received
adequate power. For this reason two dams were
necessary, the lateral dam at Rock Island was
constructed parallel to the Moline shore so that
private factories along the shore with river
frontage to the slough could directly receive
water power.

Likewise, the Rock Island Arsenal needed its
dam constructed nearer to the arsenal shops.



Below: A rear sectional view of the complete power assembly with power-house as designed by RIA Commander
Lieutenant Colonel D. W. Flagler. Note the two water wheels at the bottom right of photograph. When the gates
were opened, water rotated the vertical shaft from the wheel to power-house which, through the use of gears,
rotated the horizontal main drive shaft which turned the large 15-foot drive wheel. A series of pulley-like cables
operating on towers mechanically transferred the power from the station to the southern row of shops on Rodman
Avenue.
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The Moline and Benham's Island dam sites were
too far from where the arsenal shops were being
built to be considered adequate sources of
power for these shops.

John Deere, DeWitt Dimock, John Gould, and
Charles Atkinson were among the investors that
had an interest in the development of Moline's
river front property. The government's drive to
regain possession of the entire island of Rock
Island included the accesses and water power to
the island which forced several private firms
operating on Rock Island to relocate. Dimock &
Gould, and Company, a woodenware and lumber
firm, moved its business from the island and
reestablished it along the Moline shore to take
advantage of the water power under
development.
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The Spring flood of 1868 partially washed
away the old Moline dam. The Moline Water
Power Company urged the Rock Island Arsenal
to remove the damaged dam and to construct the
proposed lateral dam. The remaining portion of
the old Moline dam accumulated dirt, timber,
rock, brush, garbage, and silt deposited around
the dam.

In addition to developing water power, another
objective of the parties involved was to control
the flood waters of the Mississippi River. Besides
carrying away portions of the old Sears dam, the
flood of 1868 also washed away the old wooden
bridges which connected Moline to the island,
and connected the city of Rock Island to the
island.”" Moline investors viewed the results of
the flood as an opportunity to replace the



Below: Sketch of powerhouse and drive wheels of the power assembly as designed by Brevet Lieutenant Colonel

D. W. Flagler.
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crudely constructed old Moline dam with a new
federally built one, which would increase the
value of Moline's river front property.

After the Spring flood of 1868, the work of
removing the old dam and building the new
Moline (lateral) dam was done simultaneously.
Unfortunately, flood waters struck again in the
fall of 1869 and carried away portions of the
coffer dam walls being erected. Moline Water
Power Company, anxious to have the water
power project advanced to the point where it
could begin using the power, offered to share in
the repair of the dam. Colonel Rodman,
representing the government, reached an
agreement with the Moline Water Power
Company on 28 October 1869. Under the terms
of the agreement Moline Water Power Company
replaced the coffer dam walls, and the arsenal
agreed to remove the old Moline dam and begin
work on the new lateral dam wall. In order for
these projects to proceed, portions of the slough
were drained of water at the work sites. Coffer
dams made this work possible by creating a
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temporary watertight enclosure. The enclosed
area then was pumped dry exposing the river
channel bottom so that the work could proceed
at the old and the new dam sites. Mr. S. W.
Wheelock, Moline Water Power Company,
supervised the Moline firm's part of the project,
and Captain Morris Shaff of the Rock Island
Arsenal was in charge of the government’s work
at that time.

The dam wall was completed in December
1869, with the exception of 100 or so feet at the
wall's lower end, which was not built until 1871-
1872. The coffer dams were removed in the
spring of 1870, and Moline Water Power
Company began using the water power in
August 1870.'"2

Moline's lateral dam contained a series of
flume openings or chutes, each with its own gate
house. Each gate house contained an individual
turbine or wheel which transmitted power
mechanically by turning a shaft or cable that led
directly to the factory. In a sense, each factory
had its “own miniature” water power plant.



Below: The 1874 plan of the Telodynamic Power System at Rock Island Arsenal. Lines “MR" in front of each row
of shops depict proposed underground shafts whereas lines designated “QPS” represented the reduced system
which was eventually installed. Under this plam lines of wire rope were used to transmit 300 horse power to the

arsenal shops for immediate use.
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Unfortunately for Moline, the south channel was
lower towards the Moline shore than towards the
Arsenal Island’s side of the channel, and this low
water area behind the lateral dam became a
stagnant collection point for debris and dead
animals which caused sanitation hazards.''

In 1869, the original plan was revised to
include the excavation of a tail race canal
constructed by the Rock Island Arsenal to carry-
off the stagnant water and debris that had
collected behind the dam wall. Under this
agreement, the government was required to dig a
canal through that portion of Moline which jutted
into the slough. In addition to the canal, the
government had to construct dikes along the
Moline shore to protect against high water. The
digging of the canal turned out to be a major
undertaking for arsenal commanders, Rodman
and Flagler. In June 1871, Colonel Rodman died,

TRANSMISSION o POWER.
U.S. WATER POWER

AT

ROCK ISLAND ARGENAL.
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and his successor, Major Daniel W. Flagler,
inherited the unfinished water power project.
The project included blasting a canat 2,000 feet
long and 200 feet wide through solid rock to the
depth of the river bed. Once completed, that
portion of the land cut off from the canal formed
an island known as Sylvan Island. Major Flagier
later wrote that: “Rock was found generally two
feet under ground, and nearly the whole
excavation (of the canal) was through limestone
containing flint, and difficult to work.”"'* Flagler
provided the following details pertaining to the
work performed in the slough. He recalled that:

. .. The rock taken from the canal and
not used in the dike was deposited in
large mounds or “dumps” on the
Moline Company’s land near the canal,
and has been used very considerably



Right: Telodynamic tower and
wheels used to transmit power
over wire cables to the rear of
shops on south side of Rodman
Avenue. This tower was situated
east of East Avenue and south of
Rodman Avenue.

since in building roads, foundations
etc., for the arsenal. Large quantities of
it have also been used in the same way
in (cities of) Moline and Rock Island.

The rock had to be blasted
throughout, and was hauled in wagons
both to the “dumps” and the dike. A
good deal of expense was incurred in
maintaining roads for hauling over the
rough deposited rock on the dike,
movable plank ramps were required to
enable the teams to get down off the
dike and another road along the foot of
the dike was required for returning
teams."®

Captains Morris Schaff and A. Mordecai were
in charge of the excavation and dike work. They
were assisted by Captain M. L. Poland,
Lieutenant Charles Shaler, and Lieutenant
Wright.

The federal government undertook the
expense of excavating a canal and building dikes
in such a manner as to meet the terms of its
agreement with the Moline Water Power
Company. The cost of building the 4,000 feet
long dam wall and excavating the 2,000 feet long
canal was nearly $500,000 in 1872. The
workforce building the dam and dikes, and
excavating the canal increased to 900 workmen
and 75 teams during the fiscal year ending 30
June 1872.11¢

Work on deepening the canal continued into
the latter months of 1871. Heavy rains and cold
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weather delayed the progress of the arsenal

workmen. On 23 December 1871, high water
broke the coffer dam, and a few days later the
temperature plunged to 16 degrees below zero
fahrenheit. The pumps stopped operating due to
the cold weather and work was abandoned until
the next spring.'"”

The canal was finally completed in the Fall of
1872, but not without strained relations. Mill
owners whose businesses were interrupted by
the loss of power caused by the closing of their
chute openings during the excavation of the
canal challenged the arsenal commander’s
authority to close the gates. Taking matters in
their own hands, several mill owners reopened
the gates without the arsenal commander’'s
permission and discharged water through the
canal. As incoming water forced Major Flagler's
workmen to suspend their work and as the water
threatened to collapse the coffer dams, the



Below: Arsenal workmen installing cable to towsrs which stood behind the south row of shops, known as Arsenal
Row. The I_?ock Island Arsenal initially used this method of cables and towers, known as the telodynamic system,
to mechanically transfer power from the powerhouse adjacent to the arsenal dam to these shops, particularly

shops C (building 104), and E (building 106}.

Mill
threatened to shoot anyone who tried to close

situation became volatile. owners
the gates. In turn, Major Flagler resorted to
using soldiers to secure the gates. Considering
the expense and difficulties encountered by the
arsenal in its efforts to meet the terms of the
agreement, it might have been more economical
for the government to have purchased the
complete rights of the Moline Water Power
Company, than to have entered into a joint
enterprise with them.®

Arsenal Dam and Power Systems

In July 1872, the secretary of war approved
construction drawings of an arsenal dam
between Rock Island and Sylvan Island. A board
consisting of three ordnance officers, appointed
by the chief of ordnance, visited the Rock Island
Arsenal to examine plans for the arsenal dam
and water power system. A major obstacle in
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devising a transmission system was the distance
between the source of power and the buildings
where the power was to be used. Electrical
power was not yet feasible and steam was too
expensive to use on such a large scale. The
arsenal, therefore, devised a system by which
power could be transmitted mechanically from
the dam to the arsenal shops.

Initially, four methods of transmitting power
to the arsenal manufacturing buildings were
considered: Compressed or condensed air; a
rigid covered shaft system using tunnels to
connect to the shops; a telodynamic or wire-rope
(cable) system; and a combination wire-cable
and shaft arrangement. After four days of
review, the board of officers approved combining
the telodynamic wire-cable system with the shaft
method. By combining the two systems, the
Rock Island Arsenal could temporarily set up a
wire-rope or telodynamic system that would be



Below: Rear view of Arsenal Row, showing the telodynamic system. Shop E (building 106) had a cable stretched
from the tower to a large wheel attached to the rear of the building. Note small RIA produced 3.2-inch gun

carriage in foreground.

economical to install and would allow time to
further develop the more complicated rigid shaft
system.''®

Using the telodynamic system to transmit
power over a great distance had yet to be tried in

America. Major Flagler corresponded with
several European firms that had manufactured
wire-rope and had built telodynamic systems in
Germany and other European countries.

The telodynamic system mechanically
transmitted power to the arsenal shops by using
water, which passed through openings at the
dam, to rotate turbines. The rotation of the
turbines was transferred through gears which, in
turn, rotated a large drive wheel. This wheel, 15
feet in diameter, functioned as a large drive
pulley from its location inside a powerhouse
adjacent to the dam. An endless cable loop
extended from this ground station northward
along First Avenue to a pulley at the top of a
tower. From there, wire-cables, one-inch in
diameter, formed loops which turned additional
elevated wheels at the rear of the shop buildings
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situated south of Rodman Avenue. Long main
drive shafts ran just below the ceilings of each
shop area, constantly rotating when the
telodynamic system was activated. Individual
machines were powered by engaging a clutch
drive belt connected to the overhead shaft.?°

Beginning in 1874, Major Flagler had all gear
work and shafting for the power system
manufactured at Rock Island Arsenal’s foundry
and shops, and in conjunction with the power
system, Major Flagler ordered metal to produce
the castings needed for the power system.

In the mid 1870s another controversy between
the federal government and Moline Water Power
Company occurred. Brigadier General Stephen
V. Benet, chief of ordnance, visited Rock Island
Arsenal in May 1875, and made a complete
inspection of the water power projects at Rock
Island. The following February, Major Flagler
traveled to Washington, DC, to participate in
discussions with officials of the Moline Water
Power Company, their attorneys, the secretary
of war, and the army’s chief of ordnance. No



Below: Rock Island Arsenal dam, circa 1879. Note location of shops in background to dam.

solutions to the conflicts between the
government and the Moline Water Power
Company were arrived at as a result of these
discussions. The Moline Water Power Company
was anxious about the completion of a variety of
water power-related improvement projects.
During Major Flagler's term of command the
following water power related projects were
completed:
1. A stone dam wall 2,307 feet long,
18'% feet high above the river bed; 8 feet
thick at the bottom, 3% feet at the top,
strengthened by buttresses 3 feet wide
and 3 feet thick at the bottom and

placed 13 feet apart. The wall had at
least 37 openings or chutes for use by
the Moline Water Power Company.

2. A tail race canal carved through
solid limestone 2,000 feet long and 200
feet wide.

3. A stone dam dike along Sylvan
Island which connected the lateral dam
wall with the government dam.

4. A masonry dam wall, laid with
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dressed stone, extending from the end
of the dike to the shore of the island of
Rock Island, near the shops. This dam
wall had 40 openings for water wheels.

5. A power house and line of towers to
transmit the power from the dam to the
shops by means of wire-cable.

6. A stone dike about one-and-a-half
miles long, edging the shore of the
island to its head to protect against
flooding in low places.

7. A wing dam extending up the
Mississippi River approximately 2,000
feet.'?!

However, Major Flagler’'s achievements did not
escape criticism from the Moline Water Power
Company. Throughout Major Flagler's and his
predecessor, Colonel Rodman’s terms as
commanding officers of the Rock Island Arsenal,
the Moline Water Power Company contended
that the government had not fulfilled its
contractual obligations.

In an effort to resolve these differences,
Congress passed a resolution on 3 March 1877



Below: A close-up view of the 15-foot high drive wheel inside the Rock Island Arsenal powerhouss.

This

that formed yet another commission.
commission reviewed all contracts entered into
between the United States Government and the

Moline Water Power Company. George W.
McCravey, secretary of war, appointed three
officers to the commission: Brigadier General A.
A. Humphries, chief of engineering, U.S. Army;
Lieutenant Colonel H. G. Wright, U.S. Army,
Corps of Engineers; and Major Henry L. Abbot,
U.S. Army, Corps of Engineers. They were
appointed by Special Order No. 72, dated 5 April
1877. After concluding its study, the commission
submitted its report to Congress in June 1877.
The report essentially stated that the allegation
by the Moline Water Power Company that the
United States Government had not complied
with the terms of its agreement of 1867, could not
be supported.’?> The Moline Water Power
Company countered the decision of the
commission by filing a lawsuit in the U.S. Court
of Claims against the United States Government.
The case was eventually dropped by the court
due to lack of prosecution on behalf of the
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Moline Water Power Company. The telodynamic
system was installed in 1878, and the first use of
arsenal water power in the shops occurred in
February 1879. All the shops that comprised
Arsenal Row on the south side of Rodman (Main)
Avenue, with the exception of shop A, had
access to the power carried by the telodynamic
system. However, only shops C and E actually
received power from the wire-cable and tower
arrangement. Of the two, shop C consumed the
greater amount of the power since the arsenal’s
early manufacturing operations took place in
that building. Shop E, being the foundry, did not
require as much power. The U.S. Government
and the Moline Water Power Company
negotiated a new contract which was signed by
the president of the water power company and
the secretary of war on 28 August 1882. The new
agreement listed work yet to be performed by the
government and the funds necessary for those
projects. The work included improving the water
power pool; deepening the canal; placing six
new openings or chutes for water wheels in the



Below: A view of the Rock Island Arsenal water power dam under construction, dated 19 October 1889. Note: The
crew in the right foreground operated in teams of three while “double jacking” or driving the iron spike into the
bed-rock. One workman held the spike and rotated it as the other two drove it in the rock with sledge hammers.
Also note the arsenal stone shops and power tower visible among the trees in the background.

wall or dike; and reserving any unused balance
of funds for future development and
maintenance of the water power system.
According to the Moline Water Power Company,
once this was accomplished, the company would
fully discharge the United States Government of
any further obligations to develop water
power.'23

Water Power Related Projects Provided Jobs for
Tri-Cities

Practically on an annual basis, from 1867 to
well past the turn-of-the-century, Congress
appropriated funds for the construction of water
power related projects at Rock Island. The tri-
cities communities which then surrounded
Arsenal Island benefited economically from the
federally-financed projects. For over a 40-year
period, Congress had appropriated more than a
million dollars for development of water related
improvement projects at Rock Island. A large
share of that sum went to local tri-cities firms and
laborers hired as day workers or contracted for
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longer periods of time on these projects. At
times, close to a thousand workmen were
employed by the Rock Island Arsenal to work on
the various improvement projects being
completed in the south channel of the
Mississippi River and above Benham's Island in
the Main Channel.

Advertisements soliciting sealed bids for a
variety of labor appeared routinely in local
newspapers. As an example, the Moline Review-
Dispatch printed the following announcement
inviting bids for blasting and hauling rock from
the water power pool at the Rock Island
Arsenal.'?

PROPOSALS FOR BLASTING AND
HAULING ROCK

ROCK ISLAND ARSENAL, IL, May

14, 1881
Sealed proposals are invited for
blasting and hauling in wagons, about
20,000 cubic yards of rock, from the
water power pool at this Arsenal,



Below: Workmen laying first course of stone at the east end of construction for the arsenal dam, dated 28 October
1889. Note the roof of the main pulley house in background.

between August and November 1881.

Plans and drawings can be seen and
specifications and forms for bids can
be obtained at this office.

The successful bidder will be
required to give good and sufficient
bonds for a faithful performance of the
work.

The United States reserves the right
to reject any and all bids. Bids will be
opened at 10 A.M., May 31, 1881, and
bidders are invited to be present.

D. W. Flagler,
Major of Ordnance
Commanding

By 1890, the combination of wire-cable and
rigid shafting to generate power was inefficient
and obsolete. The arsenal's makeshift
arrangement, at best, provided only limited
power to a portion of the arsenal shops.
Frequently power failures occurred due to
friction which jammed the shafts; and at times,
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due to cables which snapped or developed too
much slack.

Also by 1890, technology in the transmission
of power had advanced to such a degree that it
became feasible to update the Rock Island power
system. Arsenal Commander Colonel James
Whittemore in 1830 recommended to the chief of
ordnance that the arsenal’'s telodynamic and
shaft system be abandoned in favor of electricity.
His recommendation did not receive immediate
action by the chief of ordnance other than
ordering additional studies be done of the
arsenal’s water power system. The arsenal's
wire-cable and rigid shaft system had at that time
provided enough energy for the relative light
arsenal workload being done in shops C and E.
Despite improvement to the dam and
construction of a frame powerhouse in 1892, it
became apparent the arsenal’s water power was
no longer adequate. In 1899, a fire destroyed the
arsenal’'s wooden frame powerhouse, thereby
placing the installation’s power plant out of
commission. The army, not wishing to expand



Right: A copy of a photograph included in
the Annual Report of Chief of Ordnance,
1892, depicting workmen operating elec-
tric drills to break up the solid rock
portions of the river bed and deepen the
water power pool.

Left: Workmen building coffer dam during
winter of 1891. Coffer dams were used to
hold back the water so that construc-
tion of the dam and deepening of the water
power pool could be accomplished.

an inadequate, obsolete power system, decided
instead to modernize the Rock Island Arsenal’s

entire power to

hydroelectricity.

system by switching

Additional Water Power Related Projects

In 1896, a new concrete dam was constructed
for the Moline Water Power Company between
Sylvan Island and the Moline mainland. The old
Moline dam tail race, no longer needed, was
filled in and was used as a railroad bed. All that
remains today of the Moline’s lateral dam are a
couple of gate houses. The extension of the
wing dam up river nearly two miles to the Duck
Creek chain of rapids in the Mississippi River's
main channel was completed in 1899.1%5
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At times, the annual appropriation for water
power-related projects was greater than that
appropriated for the construction of the arsenal
itself. Congress passed the following acts for the
development of water power at Rock Island
Arsenal:12

ACT APPROPRIATION

Act of June 27, 1866 $100,000
Act of June 8, 1868 80,000
Act of March 3, 1869 150,000
Act of July 15, 1870 20,000
Act of March 3, 1871 20,000
Act of June 10, 1872 110,000
Act of March 3, 1873 18,000
Act of June 23, 1874 5,400



Below: /n 1892, the coffer dam collapsed under the pressure of high water caused by an ice gorge; repairs delayed
the completion of the water development project.

CONTINUED:
Extraordinary repairs to the Rock Island Arsenal
ACT APPROPRIATION water power were provided by the following
Act of March 3, 1881 50,000 appropriations:'#
Act of August 7, 1882 100,000
Act of March 3, 1883 20,000 ACT APPROPRIATION
Act of July 7, 1884 18,500 Act of October 2, 1888 $25,000
Act of October 2, 1888 275,000 Act of August 18, 1894 30,000
Act of August 30, 1890 101,000 Act of March 2, 1895 37,500
Act of July 1, 1898 45,000 Act of June 4, 1897 28,150
Act of March 3, 1899 21,350 Act of June 6, 1900 97,000
Act of March 3, 1901 130,000 Act of May 27, 1908 28,500
Total $1,624,750 Total $246,150
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Right: The Rock Island Arsenal provided
ordnance stores to troops stationed along the
western frontier. From the Battle of the Little
Big-Horn in 1876 through the Battie of
Wounded Knee in 1891, the RIA manufac-
tured and supplied weapons and equipment
used by frontier soldiers, such as those
pictured guarding captured hostile Sioux
Indians who had participated in the massacre
of Custer and a portion of his 7th Cavalry at
the Little Big-Horn, in Montana.

Left: A /ate 19th century view of RIA gun
yard, probably taken on a Sunday afternoon
outing on Arsenal Island.

CHAPTER SIX
19th Century RIA Operations

During its first decades from 1863 to 1893,
Rock Island Arsenal’'s activities consisted
primarily of building construction; water power
development; and organization of a storage
depot. However, as early as 1869, with barely
more than the Clock Tower Building completed,
Colonel Rodman had arsenal workmen
cleaning, repairing, and packing breech-
ioading rifles, infantry accouterments, and
artillery equipment. In his report to the chief of
ordnance for fiscal year 1869, Rodman alluded
to the fact that Rock Island Arsenal workmen
cleaned and repaired 55,361 pieces of infantry
equipment and 503 sets of artillery harnesses.
Practically all of this work was completed by
hand.'?8

Noteworthy was the fact that Rock lIsland
Arsenal depot operations developed earlier than
the arsenal’s manufacturing operations. The
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Union Army began storing military equipment on
Rock Island at the end of the Civil War, and its
depot activities expanded into the 1870s. After
the Civil War, the army reorganized and closed
several storage depots in different states. The
Army’'s Ordnance Department then transferred
the holdings of those closed depots to Rock

Island. Because of its strategic location, the
arsenal served as a repository for ordnance
stores which, in turn, could easily be shipped by
river or train to western military posts during
times of Indian hostilities. After 1875, the Rock
Island Arsenal supplied practically all the
ordnance stores required by the army in the
west.

While depot activities expanded during the
1870s, construction of the Rock Island Arsenal
continued. By 1875, manufacturing shops B
(building 60), C (building 104), D (building 62),
and E (building 106) had been completed. In
addition, shop A (building 102) and shop F
(building 64) were under construction. In May



Right: A still life of the leather ac-
couterments produced by the RIA
Harness and Accouterments Shop. The
Rock Island Arsenal manufactured har-
ness and cavalry leather equipment
from 1875 to 1921 when the mission
was transferred to Jefferson Depot in
Indiana.

1875, Brigadier General Stephen V. Benet, chief
of ordnance, arrived at Rock Island to inspect the
construction at the island and was impressed
with the progress. He then instructed Major
Flagler, the arsenal commander, to begin
manufacturing operations.'®

At first, items such as waist-belt plates were
produced at the arsenal in limited quantities.
Eventually, orders for other military equipment
increased in volume and in importance. New
missions or functions were also awarded to the
Rock Island Arsenal and some of the arsenal’s
current functions were expanded.

In November 1875, General Benet sent the
Rock lIsland Arsenal commander an order for
3,000 sets of infantry equipment and 3,000
saddles.®®® On 7 December 1875, an article
appeared in the Rock Island Argus newspaper
announcing that:

... Some 50 to 60 men are employed at
Rock Island Arsenal manufacturing
infantry equipment, covering saddles
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and doing miscellaneous leather work
for the cavalry arm of the service. This
is the first manufacturing ever done in
the way of equipments for the Army at
this Arsenal.'®

In 1875, Brigadier General Montgomery Meigs,
quartermaster general, directed a board of
officers to develop army standards for heating
buildings, and at the same time established
general specifications for size and construction
of army stoves. In November 1875, officers
completed their design of army-issue stoves
which included cast iron and wrought iron wood
and coal heaters and cooking ranges.

On 28 August 1876, the Quartermaster
Department solicited bids for the production of
160 heating stoves and 40 cooking ranges. The
Ordnance Department submitted the low bid on
the cast iron heaters, and received a contract to
produce 100 stoves at the Rock Island Arsenal.
The arsenal also received production orders for
60 wood and 40 coal heaters. In addition to the



Right: Ornate brass door hinges and knob sets
cast by the RIA foundry still accent the
Commanding Officer's Quarters. Note the key
hole cover below the knob in the photo.

Left: Mr. David C. Thompson was the Rock
Island Arsenal’s first foundry foreman. He
started supervising the shop in 1871, and retired
at the age of 81in 1910. He had a fine reputation
as a molder.

Rock Island Arsenal, two private contractors
were awarded contracts to manufacture stoves
to army specifications.

In 1878, the Rock Island Arsenal produced 201
heating stoves and became the army’s primary
producer of stoves. Two years later, in 1880, the
arsenal delivered 256 stoves for army-issue and
subsequently received an additional order for the
production of 276 stoves to be completed in
1881. By the mid-1880s, many army barracks
were heated by general issue stoves
manufactured at the Rock Island Arsenal.'32

Earlier, in 1875, the Rock Island Arsenal’s
manufacturing operations included a harness
shop, a carpenter's woodworking shop, a cloth
and canvas shop, and an equipment shop. The
arsenal also had a machine shop, blacksmith
shop, foundry, and polishing and plating
departments. Prior to the Spanish-American
War, Rock Island Arsenal manufacturing focused
primarily on the construction of arsenal
buildings. The arsenal’'s carpenter shop
produced doors and window frames for the
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Arsenal

buildings under construction.
carpenters also made furniture for the officers’
quarters and desks for the offices.

The Rock Island Arsenal foundry fabricated

construction material and shop equipment
during the latter part of the 1880s. Castings of
brass hardware, such as hinges, roof straps, and
pulleys, had been initially produced in the old
temporary wooden forge shop during the late
1860s. Once building 106 (shop E) was
completed in 1873, the casting of iron trusses,
columns, beams, and staircases were also
produced at the island. From 1873 to 1988,
building 106 was in continuous operation as the
Rock Island Arsenal’s blacksmith shop and
foundry.

Harnesses were produced at the arsenal from
1875 until the harness department was
transferred to Jeffersonvilie, indiana in 1921.133
In addition to harnesses, Rock Island Arsenal
leather workers covered wooden saddle trees
and hooded stirrups with leather. Arsenal
workmen also manufactured army leather gun



Below: An oldtimer engaged in the die-cutting of leather used in saddle construction. The worker positioned the
leather so that the best possible cut could be made. One of two safety handles which the worker must lower to

operate the drop press is visible just to the right of machine.

belts, straps, cartridge pouches, saddle bags,
gun slings, rifle scabbards, and revolver holsters.
The number of harness makers employed at the
Rock Island Arsenal prior to the Spanish-
American War fluctuated from 12 to 40 with the
size of orders received by the arsenal
commander. However, the work force of the
arsenal harness shop rose to slightly over 1,000
employees during the arsenal's peak
manufacturing period of the Spanish-American
War. 134

Because of the demand for harness hardware
and repaired rifles, a metal polishing and plating
department was established at the Rock Island
Arsenal. Workmen in this department polished
all sizes of buckles, hooks, buttons, hinges, bites,
handles, and scabbards. In addition, rifle
barrels, swords, and bayonets were plated and
polished by workers in the department. By
1876, arsenal workmen had begun to fabricate
and repair haversacks and other canvas cloth-
made accouterments for army-issue. During the
late 19th century, the woodworking shop
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produced wooden saddle trees and arms chests.
Besides parts for harness and saddlery repairs,
arsenal workmen made buttons for McKeever
cartridge boxes, and casts for an order of 1,000

spurs in 1881."%5 In 1882, a power press for
manufacturing metal meat-can handles was
installed in the tin shop. As early as 1882, the
arsenal was engaged in experimental research
and development. The arsenal commander's
report to the chief of ordnance for that year
included details of an experimental entrenching
tool (a spade) manufactured at the Rock Island
Arsenal. 3¢

In 1885, a jewelry department was added to the
equipment shop. Arsenal jewelers produced
pins, badges, trophies, and insignias for saddle
gear. A total of 5,000 silver marksmen'’s pins, and
2,000 sharpshooter’'s badges were manufactured
by the jewelry department in 1885."%7 Also in
1885, the first electroplating at the Rock Island
Arsenal was performed in shop C. The shop had
a small electroplating machine with a wash tub
and pumice stone tray, plus stone jars for



Below: A view of a 7" siege howitzer and metal carriage assembled at the Rock Island Arsenal. The all-metal
carriages for this weapon and the extra strength artillery carriage wheels were manufactured at the arsenal.

cleaning and dipping metal. In this shop, officer
saber scabbards and metal parts to sabers belts
were repaired and replated. Other
manufacturing worthy of mentioning during the
1880s included the production of metal skirmish
targets and the fabrication of gun carriages. By
1884, steam hammers, heavy punch presses, and
shear forging and machine shop equipment for
heavier manufacturing were being produced in
shop C. In 1886, the arsenal produced harness
pack outfits for the Hotchkiss mountain gun
carriage.'3®

During 1886, the infantry equipment, cavalry
accouterments, horse equipment, material for
target practice, artillery harness, field and siege
carriages, caissons, battery wagons and forges,
and many other articles required by the army,
were manufactured at this arsenal.

In the 1890s, the Rock Island Arsenal received
additional responsibilities as a result of a
reorganization in the army’s manufacturing
program. The reorganization was spurred by
technology developed during the Civil War. In
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the 1880s, the Army Ordnance Department
designated Watervliet Arsenal near Albany, New
York, as the site of the army’s new gun tube
factory for heavy-caliber seacoast defense
cannons. Watertown Arsenal near Boston,
Massachusetts, did not have the capacity to
produce the heavy carriages for the new
seacoast guns and maintain its old production
schedules. To expedite work on the heavy
carriages, the army selected Rock Island Arsenal
to manufacture a portion of the carriages
formerly produced at Watertown Arsenal. The
RIA began to manufacture field and siege
artillery carriages in 1892. In 1893, the RIA
completed the last Rodman planned stone shop,
shop K, building 68. By 1894, the RIA was
producing machine gun carriages; limbers,
caissons, battery wagons, and carriages for
siege guns. Initially, RIA’s machine shop and
field gun carriage shop were established in shop
C, building 104. However, this peacetime
arrangement of equipment and operations were
inadequate for the sudden demand caused by



Below: The Rock Island Arsenal machine shop crew, in 1896. Note the “old world” appearance of several of the
workmen. The number of employees in the machine shop totaled only a few hundred prior to 1898. During the
Spanish-American War RIA employment reached a pre-WW! peak of nearly 3,000.
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Below: A gathering of Rock Island Arsenal day foremen a few of which, like George Patterson (first on the right,
front row) transferred from Springfield Armory and helped establish the RIA’s small arms plant after the Spanish-

American War.

the Spanish-American War.

To accommodate
the increased quantity of production orders for

leather, tin, cloth accouterments, and gun
carriages, the arsenal’s machine and field gun
carriage shops were moved to shop G, building
108. Mr. George Patterson, master machinist,
was credited with organizing the gun carriage
operation once it was moved to building 108.
Colonel Stanhope Blunt, RIA commander,
requested that Mr. Patterson be transferred to
RIA from Watervliet Arsenal for precisely that
mission. The production of artillery carriages
remains one of the RIA's primary areas of
specialization to the present time.

The Spanish-American War's Impact on the RIA

On 15 February 1898, the U.S. battleship Maine
blew up in the harbor of Havana, Cuba. Many
Americans believed that Spain, to whom Cuba
belonged, blew up the Maine. Congress on 19
April 1898 passed a resolution declaring that the
people of Cuba should be free and independent
from Spanish rule. It also authorized the
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president to use military force to carry out the
resolution. On 24 April 1898, Spain retaliated by
declaring war on the United States: 24 hours
later the United States Congress reciprocated
with its declaration of war against Spain.

Demand for War Materials and Supplies

Subsequent to the sinking of the Maine, the
army discovered it did not have sufficient
carriages and harnesses for the field guns it had
on hand. Moreover, production of field and siege
guns, along with their carriages, needed to be
drastically increased. On 9 March 1898, the chief
of ordnance sent an urgent message to RIA.
The telegram read, “work (should) be pushed (at
RIA) on all existing orders as rapidly as possible,
and extra shifts of workmen (should) be
employed.”'“® As the job orders increased, so did
the arsenal’'s employment, and by the end of
March 1898 the arsenal’s manpower increased to
608 employees. In early Spring of 1898, the RIA
commander hosted a conference attended by the
commanding officers of Alleghany, Indianapolis,



Below: The Rock Island Arsenal tin shop, circa 1898. One of the arsenal’s earlier missions was the manufacturing
of metal accouterments such as tin cups, meat cans, and eating utensils for use by the army.

and Columbia Arsenals. The purpose of the
meeting was to organize the war effort, and as
the result of this conference, each arsenal was
assigned parts to manufacture. Many of these
parts were then shipped to RIA for assembly.

On 26 March 1898, RIA received orders to
produce 25,000 complete units of infantry
equipment. Within two weeks after receiving this
order the RIA commander was sent a directive to
“press work on all field gun and siege gun
carriages as rapidly as possible, employing extra
shifts of men as far as economical.”'*

On 21 April 1898, four days before the United
States declared war against Spain, RIA received
instructions to increase its output of infantry
equipment to 75,000 units and to begin
producing 10,000 sets of horse equipment. The
next day, the RIA equipment department began
working day and night on two ten-hour shifts.
On 5 May 1898, the chief of ordnance ordered an
additional 54,000 units of infantry equipment;
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5,000 units of cavalry accouterments; and 5,000

units of horse equipment. Thereafter, the RIA
continued to receive orders, practically on a
weekly basis. Some were for major items of
production such as the 9 May order for the
manufacture of 102 field carriages and limbers;
150 caissons and limbers; 17 battery wagons and
forges; in addition to the production of 48
carriages for siege guns.'?

By 16 June 1898, the demand for equipment
became so critical that the army had to order RIA
to procure from private contractors, an
additional 10,000 complete outfits of cavalry and
horse equipment. As the demand for orders
grew, so did the number of items procured from
private firms. By July 1898, 46 private
contractors were delivering finished ordnance
products to RIA during the Spanish-American
War. A total of 131 private contractors delivered
the following principal stores to the RIA: 351,400
yards of dyed duck material for covering



Below: Rock Island Arsenal tin shop, showing a workman making metal meat-can handles during the 1898
Spanish-American War period. Accouterments such as meat cans, forks, knives, and canteens were produced by
the arsenal during the war with Spain and later during World War .
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Below: Artillery carriage assembly during the late 19th century in possibly the basement of shop C (building 104)
or shop G (108). Note the stone piers, fire-proof brick vaulted ceilings, and hoist to lift and move heavy objects,
visible in top right corner, and workers' lockers in background.

canteens; 1,008,000 yards of cotton webbing for
haversacks, blanket bags, etc.; 654,000 pounds
of tin plate for meat cans, canteens and tin cups;
79,900 pounds of brass wire for buckles, rings,
hooks, etc.; 89,500 pounds of sheet brass for
buckles, rings, hooks, etc.; 954,000 feet of linen
rope for lariats; 205,300 pounds of harness-
leather backs; 1,262,000 square feet of leather for
collars, bridles, bars, and straps, saddles,
carbine scabbards, saddlebags, etc.; 1,161,900
pounds of steel and iron for gun carriages;
133,000 feet of basswood and ash for
saddletrees; and 690,000 feet of additional
lumber for ammunition chests, packing boxes,
work benches, etc.'4

Production at RIA during Spanish-American War

The United States Army was not prepared for
war in 1898. It operated primarily with Civil War
era technology and supplies, and was
undermanned. A small workforce of
approximately 500 men and boys were employed
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in the Rock Island Arsenal shops at the
beginning of the Spanish-American War, many
of whom were temporary employees. They were
hired only for the period it took to complete a
particular order. Nevertheless, by the time the
war ended, the arsenal’'s manpower had
increased to six times its prewar figure. At its
peak employment of 2,900 in August 1898, the
RIA turned out 6,000 complete outfits of infantry
equipment every day.'#

The Spanish-American War was the RIA's first
major test of its capabilities to meet emergency
wartime production. The arsenal performed
well, although the production potential was
barely tapped. Only the equivalent of one and a
half of the ten stone industrial shops contained
machines for manufacturing. Practically all of
the RIA’s production by machine was performed
in shops C and E, now designated as buildings
104 and 106.

The RIA used the vast floor space in many of
the vacant buildings for a variety of projects



Below: During the Spanish-American War practically all the RIA manufacturing occurred in shop C (building 104).

Work that did not require machines and could be performed by hand was conducted in other buildings. Although
the 1898 war with Spain was the RIA's first major test, only shop C and E (building 106) were heavily engaged in
manufacturing. Not until World War | would all the ten stone shop buildings be used in production of ordnance

stores.
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Bglow: _Arsena/ workmen and boys covered canteens with felt and sewed duck cloth covers over them. When
dipped in water, the felt would absorb water and keep the contents inside the canteen cool. The canteens piled on
the table in the foreground have already been covered with felt.

which could be performed by hand labor. The
first floor of shop A, building 102, became the
receiving and issuing center for masses of raw
material shipped to the RIA. In the east wing of
shop A, carpenters built only the portions of
ammunition chests which required no machine
operations. Unserviceable stores, items needing
repair, were mostly stored and repaired in shop
B, building 60. In September 1898, the repair and
cleaning of Springfield rifles initially took place
in the east wing of shop C, but as the work
increased, the operation was transferred to the
first floor of shop D, building 62. A 40 horse-
power engine and boiler placed in the court of
the shop furnished the steam power which
operated a line of shafting with 20 polishing
-wheels and two lathes with wire brushes used to
repair or refurbish parts of the rifles. In July
1898, 85 men and boys cleaned and repaired
approximately 600 rifles per day. At the
conclusion of this project, arsenal workers
completed work on nearly 50,000 rifles and
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carbines with a cost for this maintenance work of
68 cents per weapon. The rifles received from
the field were in bad condition, and most were
very rusty with numerous broken parts. At peak
output, the crew also completed approximately
7,000 bayonet scabbards per day. Harness
makers occupied the second floor of shop G,
where nearly 700 men and boys made leather
equipment and sewed felt and duck covers over
canteens. Shop G was used for these activities
because it had water and restroom facilities
which the north row or armory row shops did
not. In shop H, building 66, workers painted gun
carriages, limbers, and caissons. However, not
until World War | would all ten of the arsenal 19th
century-built stone shops be equipped with
machinery and used as industrial buildings.'*

During the Spanish-American War, Rock
Island Arsenal Commander Colonel Stanhope
Blunt placed his subordinate officers directly in
charge of specific operations. Captain O. B.
Mitcham was responsible for the repair of



Below: RIA employees loading artillery carriages, 1898, shop A, (building 102) in background, looking northeast.
The carriages final destination was Cuba to be used in support of U.S. troops engaged in the Spanish-American

War.

unserviceable stores, including the Springfield

rifles. He also served as the installation’'s
quartermaster and paymaster. Captain W. S.
Peirce was in charge of the blacksmith shop and
foundry, plus all gun carriage and equipment
work performed in the machine shop. Lieutenant
O. C. Horney was the officer in charge of tin,
polishing, carpentry, and harness shops. He also
supervised the expansion of shop operations
from shop C to other shops.'#

The RIA literally equipped the American
soldiers who fought in the Spanish-American
War. Blanket bags manufactured by RIA were
used by soldiers as a type of duffel bag in which
to carry personal belongings. Other items
produced at the arsenal for the soldiers’' personal
use were haversacks for carrying rations;
canteens fashioned from sheet tin and covered
with felt and a heavy thick duck cover; meat cans
used by soldiers as frying pans; and plates, tin
cups, eating utensils, and bayonet scabbards.

The arsenal also produced a variety of cavalry
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and horse equipment. These included items
such as wooden saddle frames or saddle trees,
an assortment of rings, hooks, straps, and other
paraphernalia used for carrying or holding
cavalry articles. Other leather items included
carbine scabbards, saddlebags, saddles,
surcingles (a girth that binds a saddle, pack, or
blanket to the body of the horse), bridles, halters,
straps, and artillery harnesses. The RIA
produced in large numbers other horse
equipment such as picket pins, nose bags, horse
brushes, curry combs; and pistol holsters, spurs,
and saber belts.

In addition, the arsenal functioned as a depot
during the Spanish-American War. Much of the
ammunition and small arms made elsewhere,
along with articles produced by RIA, were held in
reserve on the island before delivery to troops in
the field. During the Spanish-American War the
arsenal’'s labor force operated two ten-hour
shifts, six-seven days a week. Earlier, during the
Indian uprisings of the 1880s and early 1890s, the



Below: The RIA commander ordered the construction of a special route for bicycles, to reduce the rising number

of accidents between horses and bicycles in 1899.

RIA met urgent production demands for
ordnance stores by running portions of the shop
operations at night. Because the shops were not
equipped for night work, arsenal workmen
functioned under inadequate, temporary lighting

provided by candles and lamps. During the
Spanish-American War, the RIA received a small
appropriation for extension of the electric
lighting beyond the limited lighting already
available in one office and a shop. However, this
lighting was not sufficient to provide direct
lighting for the workers. Candles and lamps
were still used as supplementary lighting for
most night operations. The arsenal commander
stated in his annual reports to the chief of
ordnance during the war that it was essential to
extend the electric lighting to other shops, some
other buildings, and to the principal roads of the
arsenal.'#’

Although the RIA devoted its energy toward
the war effort, the arsenal continued to maintain
the island’s grounds and roads. In 1898, over 200
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young trees were planted along Main Avenue,
now designated Rodman Avenue, and along the
side of shop K, building 68. Arsenal roads,
especially Main Avenue from the manufacturing
shops at the flagstaff to the principal western
entrance, were damaged during the war due to
the heavy increase of vehicular traffic. Bicycles
and wagon teams transporting employees to and
from the arsenal by way of Main Avenue not only
damaged the arsenal’s main thoroughfare but
also accounted for the increase in accidents on
the island. To lessen the traffic on Main Avenue,
the RIA commander ordered the construction of
a special route for bicycles just south of and
parallel to Main Avenue. Arsenal employees
signed a petition for an extension of a single
track of the Tri-City Railway Company onto the
island to a point just south of the RIA shops.
Recognizing that the track would alleviate the
arsenal’s traffic problems, Colonel Blunt sought
and received approval from the secretary of war
for a revocable license granted to the company



Below: Rock Island Arsenal workmen cleaning and overhauling the standard army issue Krag-Jorgensen rifle
used by U.S. troops during the Spanish-American War. In 1899 the RIA received appropriations to establish a
small arms plant for the fabrication of rifles.

The RIA built the target printing press pictured below in 1881.

Right:

as long as it met specific arsenal conditions.
Also because of the heavy traffic, the RIA
commander recommended to the chief of
ordnance that Fort Armstrong Avenue, located at
the west end of the island and connecting the
bridges leading from the island to the cities of
Rock lIsland, lllinois and Davenport, lowa, be
covered with granite pavement rather than
macadam.48

Impact of Spanish-American War on RIA

The Spanish-American War led to the
permanent expansion of workforce operations
and facilities at the RIA. During the war, the
arsenal rearranged its machinery and began to
install automatic machines to improve
production. After the war, the RIA constructed a
brick water power plant which replaced the old
small powerhouse destroyed by fire. In 1901, the
first electrical power generators used at the
arsenal were installed. Electric wires replaced
the telodynamic system of towers and brought
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electrical power to the shops through
underground passages.'®

Additional lights were installed in the shops
and offices to provide a safer work environment
for the arsenal’'s second work shift. Arsenal
grounds and buildings were also improved
during the war; and additional roads, bicycle
paths, and trollies were added to improve
transportation.

RIA Begins to Make Rifles

As a result of the Spanish-American War, the
Rock Island Arsenal periormed valuable
production work by manufacturing personal
soldier accouterments; infantry, cavalry, and
horse equipment; and field and siege artillery
carriages. This experience provided the basis for
technological achievements accomplished at the
arsenal in later years.

Largely due to its outstanding production
record during the Spanish-American War, the
arsenal acquired a new mission which was to



Right: Lieutenant Colonel Stanhope E. Blunt,
Rock Island Arsenal commander from 1897-
1907. Blunt commanded the arsenal during the
Spanish-American War.

Left: /n 1899, the United States Congress
appropriated $500,000 for the establishment of a
small arms plant at Rock Island Arsenal. A few
years later machines such as these Pratt-
Whitney lathes were installed in shop B
(building 60). These machines were eventually
used to produce the U.S. Army standard issue
rifle, the Springfield 1903.

manufacture a new rifle.
American War,
dissatisfied with
Jorgensen Rifle. The weapon was obsolete and
slow to reload. The army began a search for a

In the Spanish-
the U.S. Army became
its standard-issue Krag-

replacement, one whith could be clip or
magazine loaded. To expedite the production of
a new weapon, Congress, in 1899, appropriated
funds to equip the nearly empty armory shops at
Rock Island with small arms machinery.
However, due to the army’s delay in selecting a
new rifle, it was not until December 1904 that the
Rock Island Arsenal’'s small arms plant began
producing the new standard-issue model
Springfield 1903 Rifle.'s°

In 1897, Brigadier General Daniel W. Flagler,
chief of ordnance, himself a former commanding
officer of the Rock Island Arsenal, selected Major
Stanhope Blunt to command the arsenal at Rock
island and to direct the development of its new
armory. General Flagler was well acquainted
with the physical plant at Rock Island Arsenal
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and was aware of the original plan to combine
armory and arsenal facilities at the Rock Island

installation. In fact, as the third Rock Island
Arsenal commander, General Flagler had earlier
supervised the construction of the majority of the
arsenal’'s stone manufacturing buildings that
formed the arsenal’s industrial core. When the
need for an additional armory surfaced, he
quickly persuaded Congress to appropriate
funds to equip the empty buildings at Rock
Island Arsenal’s armory row.

The 19th century came to a close with the
Rock Island Arsenal finally realizing the plan of
Colonel Rodman, the first arsenal commander to
propose a combined arsenal and armory at Rock
Island. During the early 1900s, the United States
Army’s transformation from horse to auto drawn
artillery occurred at the Rock Istand Arsenal.
Part three of An lllustrated History of the Rock
Island Arsenal and Arsenal Island, will chronicle
that transformation and other key events.



Below: Saddles made, tin cups formed, and gun carriages assembled; 19th century arsenal employees board
horse-drawn taxies during an evening rush hour before the turn-of-the-century.
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Below: Main west entrance gate and gate house to Rock Island Arsenal. The gate house, built in 1876, was used

as a place of temporary confinement for persons arrested for infractions of government regulations on the bridges.
Circa, 1898.
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Below: Arsenal employees enjoying a noon-hour baseball game during the late 1800s. The building in the
background to the left is storehouse K (building 56), behind shop K (building 68).
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..... “The charming island of Rock Island, three miles long and a half a mile wide, belongs to
the United States, and the government has turned it into a wonderful park, enhancing its
natural attractions by art, and threading its fine forests with many miles of drives. Near the
center of the island one catches glimpses, through the trees, of the vast stone four-story
buildings, each of which covers an acre of ground. These are the government workshops; for
the Rock Island establishment is a national armory and arsenal.”

Mark Twain (Samuel L. Clemens)
Life On The Mississippi River
First Published 1874
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Foreword

N LAYING the ground plan for this story of Rock Island Arsenal,

the desire has been to weave into the fabric of material fact some-
thing of the spirit of romance which is so intimately connected
with its history. So, in the background of the picture, as viewed
through the long vista of the years, will be seen the Indian wig-
wams of a vanished people, the heroic figure of Chief Black Hawk, the
grim outlines of old Fort Armstrong, on a strategic point of the Illinois
shore, and glimpses of the Mississippi river, dotted with the war canoes of
the Sacs and Foxes. It is true that these things relate to a time far remote,
but they belong in the picture, nevertheless.

The building of Fort Armstrong in the year 1816, as a frontier post
of the United States army, is very properly regarded as the starting point
in the History of Rock Island Arsenal, and as the opening of the four
periods in which its story may be told. Col. Lawrence superintended the
fort’s erection, and he was retained on the Island in command of the Eighth
U. S. Infantry. This may be classed as the first epoch in the history of the
Arsenal.

In the second period of Arsenal history—that of development—it made
rapid strides under Gen. T. J. Rodman and Gen. D. W. Flagler, embracing
the time covered by and immediately subsequent to the Civil War.

During the third period the Arsenal had its first real test of useful-
ness in the Spanish-American War, when Col. Stanhope E. Blunt was
commandant, and justified every hope of its founders. Succeeding Col.
Blunt was Col. Hobbs, now deceased.

Then came America’s entrance into the World War, in early April,
1917, with the Arsenal during this period first in charge of Col. George
W. Burr, and then of Col. Leroy T. Hillman. Its activity during this time,
which may be called the fourth period in Arsenal development, is a matter
of history that finds no parallel in the world’s annals, and at the time the
publication of this work was undertaken Rock Island Arsenal was the
center of post-war activities under Col. Harry B. Jordan, as commandant
of the Arsenal, later succeeded by Col. D. M. King in the same position.

As in modern journalism it is the custom to chronicle at the head of
a story the big event, and to lead with it, although it may in reality come
last in chronological order, so the publishers of this volume deem it proper
to feature in the opening chapters the remarkable part played by Rock
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Island Arsenal in the World War. In that struggle this great military
establishment fully demonstrated to the nation its supreme importance in
meeting the exigencies of armed conflict.

Briefly, then, this may be said to be the outline of the manner in which
the history of Rock Island Arsenal is covered in the story here presented
to the public. The results achieved for the nation in the face of the
gravest crisis the world has ever seen are in themselves the best arguments
for the continued support by congress of this great military plant. The
matter of location alone gives the Arsenal that pre-eminence which was
recognized by General Ramsey, United States Chief of Ordnance, in 1864,
when in his report to the War Department he said:

“After a careful study of the question of location, there is no position
which, to my mind, affords so many advantages, and at the same time pre-
sents so few objections, as Rock Island, in the Mississippi river.”

For many years its possibilities had been recognized by a few who
foresaw the part that location, manufacturing resources, distributive facil-
ities, and other factors might be made to play in a great national emergency.
Only the stress of actual war, however, could bring it the general recog-
nition that it always had deserved. When the gate of circumstance opened
it was revealed as the key to the military strength of the United States,
and its rapid development was promptly provided for. Not only was the
manufacturing plant greatly expanded, but storage facilities were mul-
tiplied many times over, so that now, in time of peace, it is enabled to
shelter complete equipment, immediately available, for an army greater
than was even thought of before the World War.

Besides being always ready to resume manufacture of war material
at full capacity within a few weeks, this Arsenal is supplied with standard-
ized tools and patterns designed to quickly transform many privately-owned
industrial plants from a peace to a war basis. Thus the foresight of the
founders has been fully vindicated.

And so, in the telling of this story, the last shall be placed first, giving
priority to that which transcends all that has gone before. The European
struggle supplied the acid test of the great Arsenal established by the
United States on the Mississippi river at Rock Island, Illinois, and opposite
the city of Davenport, Towa, in 1862, and therefore deserves first consider-
ation in this volume.

Indicative of and bearing out the importance of this mid-western military
establishment, the official records show that from the day the United States
entered the World War, on April 7, 1917, until the Armistice was signed,
on November 11, 1918, the government authorized the expenditure at Rock
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Island Arsenal of $108955974.07. Of this amount, due to the cessation of
hostilities, $19,612,133.48 was revoked, leaving an actual expenditure of
$89,343,840.59 by the Arsenal during the period of the war. In the total
expended in this period, $66,526,540.31 was devoted to the manufacture of
war materials and purchases for this purpose, this item also including $17,-
120,515.51 for labor; increased {facilities, new 'machinery, alterations and
new buildings, $17,341,487.69; storage, temporary barracks, guard houses,
and other incidental buildings, $3,915,812.59; and Savanna, Illinois, proving
grounds, $1,560,000.00.

With the problem of reducing armament receiving the earnest consid-
eration of the nations, and indications pointing to the ultimate adoption
of a policy of material retrenchment in military expenditures, the question
naturally arises as to the probable effect upon future activities at Rock
Island Arsenal.

Main entrance gate at west end of Island.
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Location and Advantages

5| OCK ISLAND ARSENAL occupies an island in the Mississippi
1| river lying on the Illinois side of the channel between Rock Island
and Moline, I1l., and Davenport, Iowa. The tract comprises 896.62
acres of almost level land, all but a small part lying well above high
water mark. The name was derived from the island’s bed of lime-
stone, into which the stream has cut on all sides, leaving projecting ledges
exposed to view. This stone not only adds a picturesque effect, but lying
near the surface, it furnishes an ideal foundation for the heavy construction
required in an institution of this kind. The natural beauty of the spot has
been commented upon from the days of the earliest white settlers. It is
exceeded at but few points in the middle west.

Being located on an island used almost exclusively for its purposes and
all owned and controlled by the War Department, the Arsenal is set apart
by nature from the surrounding community and is easily guarded and
singularly free of danger from machinations of enemy agents in time
of war. Its central location is of the utmost strategic value, since it is
practically inaccessible to an outside enemy from any possible point of
invasion, and it is in position to forward military supplies with equal
facility to all national frontiers, east, west, north, south. Its transporta-
tion resources include three great railroad systems that spread a network
over the middle section of the country, with through service to the Pacific
and direct connections to the Atlantic and Gulf coasts. These systems
have several local branches and there are, in addition, lines tapping two
other trans-continental systems crossing the river within a radius of 50
miles.

Water transportation facilities are exceptional, including the great
Mississippi and its navigable branches, giving access to the Gulf of
Mexico and much of the interior of the country, and canal connections,
about to be much improved, opening the way to the Great Lakes and thence
out to the sea. %

Location of the Arsenal, in short, is such that manufacturing may be
conducted and war equipment stored with a minimum risk, while, when
need arises, supplies may be distributed to all parts of the country with a
maximum of efficiency and speed.

The Arsenal is practically a complete unit in meeting the nation’s
military needs. Its storehouses contain everything, with a few exceptions,
that the soldier uses in modern warfare, and its shops make the vast
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majority of the articles included. At no other place in the country is the
variety of production so broad and the output so extensive, when in full
operation.

As far as it is practicable to make it, the Arsenal is independent of
the civil community surrounding it. It has its own water power plant,
which is sufficient for ordinary needs. In an emergency it can buy power
in any quantity. There is also boiler capacity on the island sufficient to
meet present requirements, and wanting only installation of engines and
electrical equipment. Development of the water power has been largely
incidental with the government project for the improving of the Rock Island
rapids for purposes of navigation. The hydro-electric plant has a rated
capacity of 4,400 horse-power, while the eight steam boilers are capable
of developing 4,000 horse-power. The Arsenal has its own water and sewer
systems and a complete and modern fire fighting equipment, manned by
experts. Shipping facilities include no less than 156 miles of railroad
track, covering the shop and storehouse districts and giving means of
quick and economical handling of all materials. There are 23 miles of
of wagon roads, 9.4 miles of which are permanently improved. There are
quarters for the housing of officers and enlisted men, a hospital, cafeteria
and buildings for recreation and welfare work among both service men and
civil employes.

Facilities for testing field equipment made and assembled at Rock
Island Arsenal were made complete by the purchase and improvement of
an extensive tract for proving grounds. These lie near Savanna, I1l., 60
miles north. Tke project was begun in 1917, and includes large storehouses,
erected since the World War, and used for housing vast quantities of
the heavier kinds of war material.

Rock Island, Illinois, is the Arsenal postoffice, and express, freight and
telephone business is also handled through that city.

Valuations placed upon the Arsenal, its equipment, and material stored
there run into large figures. Here are the latest estimates under the head-
ings given:

Permanent buildings .o $ 18,005,730.00
Hemporatys buildingss =5 =it 304,795.00
Machinery and equipment ... 19,627,709.00
Railroad trackage (including bridges) ... 3,571.500.00
Roads and walks (including bridges other than

gailicoad ) R i i ol e Rk 300,000.00
Grounds (including all fences and improvements)  4,000,000.00
Sewer and water distributing system ... 1,301,600.00
Light, heat and power distributing system......._.._.. 1,457,000.00
G B R HEE =7 e D T N WSt s 299,235,384.00
SR R B N 0 1 ot e S e S e o el ol 11,485,132.00

Altote e ot T T T R e, R $359,288,850.00



Record During the World War

5 O adequate idea of what Rock Island Arsenal accomplished during
the World War can be gained from mere statistics. Neither can
the record of any one department, nor, indeed, of several depart-
ments, be taken as indicative of the extent of the.aid given the
government in its military effort. To start with, the new methods
of fighting and the vastly increased scope of activities involved——all com-
ing with such surprising suddenness—found the Arsenal, like the rest of
the country, laboring under the handicap of unpreparedness. New ma-
chinery and tools, new manufacturing specifications, were required, and
new buildings were needed to meet the necessity of immediate expansion.
Under the fearful pressure of a great emergency activities were begun
or speeded up in a myriad of directions. With all possible haste the
force of workers was increased, ultimately reaching ten times the number

Bottling destroction in the form of molten trinitrotoluol, which is being poured into howitzer shells.

employed normally before the war. ILeaders were selected from among
the experienced and skilled artisans already engaged in Arsenal production,
and thus was created the nucleus of the augmented organization.

Supplies already on hand and constantly being received from various
sources were distributed, experimental work conducted, standardized tools
made and forwarded to private manufacturers to enable them to turn out
war material, schools of instruction for workers in private factories and
also for soldiers untaught in the use of modern weapons were organized,
contracts let for a vast expansion of manufacturing and storage facilities
at the Arsenal and a great deal of other work undertaken with the least
possible delay.
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Obviously, it was impossible for maximum shop production to be
attained at once in all lines of work, and so the total output during the
war of some varieties of finished work may seem small. That, however,
is of minor importance. The significant fact is that the Arsenal was the
key to a great part of the military production of the country, organizing
and directing it and supplying its standards. Deprived of its aid, the
country would have required much more time than it took to get on a
war-producing basis. As a result of what was done during and immedi-
ately after the war, the Arsenal is relatively much better fitted than ever to
cope with any similar situation that may develop in the future.

. In the absence of anything more impressive to show how production
was accelerated, it is necessary to resort to figures relating to expendi-
tures and number of employes.

Analysis shows that during the period from August, 1914, when the
European nations began fighting, until April, 1917, when the United States

e
L R : | $ -

Loaded shells in the shipping room, ready to be issued to the army.

entered the struggle, the total expenditures at Rock Island Arsenal was
$11,759,935.90, of which purchases amounted to $7,115849.53 and labor
$4,644,086.37. The average monthly expenditure during this period was
§222.370.29 for purchases and $145,127.69 for labor, or a total average
expenditure for each of the thirty-two months preceding the entry of the
United States into the war of $347,497.98.

But in striking contrast to these amounts are the figures for the period
this country was in the war. The total amount then expended for purchases
and labor was $58,587,390.18, and this was divided thus: Purchases, $42,-
466,874.67 ; labor, $17,120,515.51.. The average expenditure per month was
$3,077,861.05, and of this -average $2,193,536.91 was for purchases and.
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$884,324.14 for labor. It must be understood, however, that these figures are
for the manufacturing department of the Arsenal, and do not include the
huge sums expended for labor and material by the construction companies
at work there.

For some time prior to the outbreak of the World War in 1914, the
employees at Rock Island Arsenal totaled approximately 1800 men and
175 women, the latter all office workers, typists and stenographers. From
that time until the spring of 1916 there was little tendency to increase
the number of workers, but the disturbance on the Mexican border started
increased activities at the Arsenal, and by July 1, 1916, there had been
added to the force about 100 men and 25 women, the latter still being
confined to clerical positions. From then until the United States entered
the war, employees were added at the rate of about 200 per month, and’
on April 6, 1917, there were employed 3,600 men with 300 women office
workers.

High speed and maximum production then became the watchword,
and employees were added at a rate close to 250 or 300 each month. On
December 31, 1917, the total was 6,100 men, and 375 women office workers;
and on May 31, 1918, this total was increased to 8926 men, and 450 women
office workers. As a new departure, about 100 women shop workers had
also been employed. The first of these were taken on May 20, 1918, and
when the Armistice was signed somewhere near 1,500 women were em-
ployed in the shops. ‘

The following table shows the increase in the number of employees

during the war period:
Men Women

August, 1014 e 1,800 175
7 B ) e e e 1,900 200
Apnly 1917 SN e W 3,600 300
January, 1918 6,100 376
May, 1918 e 8,926 450
July, 1918 . N TR (. 10,268 572
August, 1918 e 11,244 722
September, 1918 11,899 902
October, 1018 e 1,227

November, 1918 1,417

Succeeding chapters deal in order with the detailed record of pro-
duction during the war, the construction program made necessary by the
war’s demand, manner in which workers were found and trained, the
military personnel and means taken to guard the Arsenal.

AMERICAN ARTILLERY THE MOST EFFECTIVE
IN THE WORLD

Artillery developed by the United States: Army Ordnance Corps, like
the small arm, has no equal in range and effectiveness. This was true during
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DEVELOPMENT OF UNITED STATES FIELD GUN
Weight of projectile—U. S. model 1906, 45 pounds; U. S. model 1920,

50 pounds; German gun, 36 pounds.
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Storehonse W-I above, and group of original shops below, contrasting new and old types of construction.



Main Items of Production

Y |[RINCIPAL articles manufactured at the Arsenal during the war
were artillery vehicles, recoil cylinders, artillery wheels, spoke
shoes and spoke shoe plates, artillery harness, arm repair chests,
rifles, loaded shells and personal equipment items, in addition to
test tool sets furnished to other manufacturing firms throughout the

country.

The harness manufacturing department was the greatest and most
completely equipped in the world. Up to August 1, 1918, all the artillery
harness supplied to the United States forces was manufactured here.
Between April 6, 1917, and November 15, 1918, 24,212 sets of artillery harness
were manufactured and 74,207 sets were assembled. In 1920 the harness
department was taken out of the hands of the Ordnance Department and
placed in charge of the Quartermaster’s Department, making necessary its
removal from this Arsenal. It was transferred to the depot at Jeffersonville,
Indiana. With the coming of motorized artillery and transport, use of har-
ness and saddles has come to play a relatively unimportant part in army
equipment.

Manufacturing of rifles was one of the principal industries at the
Arsenal. During practically the entire period in which this country was
involved in hostilities 3,500 men and women were employed in the small
arms plant. In that time there were manufactured or furnished as repair
parts an equivalent of approximately 113,670 rifles, model of 1903. High
water mark was reached in October, 1918, when parts sufficient to make
30,455 complete arms were made.

In round numbers, 790,000 complete sets of personal equipment for
the soldier were produced during the period of hostilities. The largest
single item was bacon cans, 1,512,190 of them. There were included 354,770
knives, 649,457 canteen covers, 858,344 haversacks and 400,256 pack carriers.

Among the larger items of production in heavier ordnance stores were
159 75mm. gun carriages. Unofficial reports also include 194 4.7-inch gun
carriages, six 3-inch gun carriages and two 6-inch howitzer carriages. Gun
caissons made numbered 121 and gun and forge limbers 446. There were
also 255 battery and store wagons turned out. This Arsenal furnished to the
Supply Department and to various other manufacturing concerns 264 4.7-inch
recoil cylinders, complete. The supply division and outside contractors
received from the Arsenal during this time 9,718 artillery wheels, all of
which were manufactured here. The same disposition was made of 218,650
spoke shoe plates, also produced at this place.
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Acres and acres of storchouses are packed with guns and carriages, the lighter parts being
racked up in tiers several deep.
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There were manufactured and assembled during the period of hostili-
ties 13,241 arm repair chests, and 167,195 155mm. howitzer shells were loaded,
without adapters and boosters.

In March, 1918, two 75mm. gun carriages were manufactured. The
same number was turned out in April. In May production increased to
sixteen, in June to twenty, with twenty-two in July, twenty-three in August,
twenty-eight in September and forty-six in October. The 4.7-inch gun
carriages reached maximum production in September, when fifty-eight
were manufactured. Out of 194 which had been made at this Arsenal after
the declaration of war, 183 were turned out after January, 1918,

A comparative statement of production at this Arsenal during the last
year of the war indicates that at the time the armistice was signed the
establishment was just reaching a point where maximum production could
be attained.

Reduced to figures, the expenditures made at Rock Island Arsenal and
the work done during the war may be summarized as follows:

Appropriated for Arsenal.................coooo $108,955,974.07
REvokedEpee o Bae M ins DaleSes Tt ™ T 19,612,133.48
Spent at Arsenal durmg WAL e s 89,343,840.59
Purchases and making war materials.__.___. ... 66,526,540.31
RS TOMM Ao, & e RTINS e 17,120,515.51
New buildings, machinery, etc...................... 17,341,487.69
- Spent on Savanna Proving Grounds................. 1,560,000.00
Average monthly expenditure ... 3077 ,861.05 -
Number of employees August, 1914 1,975
Number of employees, July, 1916, 2,100
Number of employees November, 1918 14,778
Number of French 75mm. gun carriages made............. 159
Other gun carriages made..............._.......... 202
HoyrelhmberSe made SRt 1 = ol T s 446
Battery and store wagons made..................._...... 255
4.7 recoil cylinders completed ... 264
pstillcryswheelSimadef s e v e RS L 9,718
Spoke shoes and spoke shoe plates..............._..... 218, 650
Seromantililenyhasnesstimader a2 T fh ol S se L 24,212
Sets artillery harness assembled............................. .. 74,207
N S D e S ik ey et S R S e e S 13,241
RifleshsModelf 905 made s~ 2. Jieml =l o £ T 113,670
155mm. howitzer shells loaded.........ocooiiiiiimiiieeeee. 167,195
Bacongcansmmade et Lk e 1,512,190
EiGCSamadel e s  cmies. 1 04 2 o b e #1854 770)
@anteen covers .made. .. ...t 649,457
REncaCRomaderess. L A JE - s e e 858,344
Rl eaRIERS AU e . s L e R 400,256
Subscribed for bonds and war charities..................._.. $4,000,000.00

In addition to the usual work of the Arsenal involving the manufacture
and issue of stores, there devolved upon it at the outbreak of the war new
duties in connection with the education of prospective bidders on ordnance
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materials. The heavy demands made upon the government for equipment
occasioned by the rapid mobilization of troops necessitated the placing with
private manufacturers contracts for large quantities of personal and horse
equipments, with the manufacture of which the great majority of contractors
were unfamiliar. At the time the first contracts were placed over 600
persons, representing over 200 firms engaged in various activities, received
information at the Arsenal in person pertaining to ordnance material.
These firms were furnished over 1,000 samples and more than 20,000 draw-
'ings, route sheets, assembly charts, etc., to aid them in the manufacture of
the equipment called for under their contracts.

Various schools, known as the Motor Instruction Section, Supply Sec-
tion, American Ordnance Base Depot in France, and Machine Gun Section,

WALNUT FOR GUNSTOCKS IN STORAGE.

A survey was made by the War Department while hostilities were in progress to discover all available sources of supplies of
walnnt.  Seasoned walnut in quantities sufficient to equip millions of rifles is now on hand at Rock lsland Arsenal.

were established at the Arsenal, to which were assigned many officers and
enlisted men for the purpose of receiving instruction in various duties to
fit them for work in the field or at the front. The number assigned throughout
the year varied, averaging, approximately, 1,2C0 enlisted men and 150
officers. '

Aside from the actual work in the shops for the production of war
material, employees of Rock Island Arsenal hung up a record for war



REECHIe TR SEIAAENEIDE BAS RESTIEINEARTE 23

.

service that has not been surpassed by any manufacturing plant in the country
in proportion to size. After the declaration of war they subscribed the
enormous sum of $4,000,000.00 to the various war charities and to the Liberty
bond issues. The bonds, of course, constituted the principal investment of
the workers, sales totaling $3,050,000.00. The Red Cross campaigns netted
more than $11,000.00, the Salvation Army $10,000.00 and the Allied war
drive 20,000.00. The sale of War Savings and-Thrift Stamps, of which no
record has been kept, brings the total well over the four million mark.

Commandant’s Headquarters.



Vast Program of Construction

) IOCK ISLAND ARSENAL was literally transformed by construc-

4| tion projects undertaken immediately prior to, during, and just
following the period in which this country was involved in the
World War. One familiar with the premises before that con-
flict would scarcely recognize them after the work was completed.
All construction was done under high pressure, but most of it was of a
permanent character and detracts nothing from the impression of dura-
bility, as well as of architectural beauty and practical utility which the
institution always has given the visitor.

Several months before this country actually declared war, congress,
vielding to the urgent recommendations of the War Department, provided
for some minor extensions of the Arsenal plant. This work was only fairly
started when the country entered the struggle, and from that time until
after the close of hostilities the Arsenal grounds were literally alive with
construction forces of every description, and new structures sprang up
as if by magic. Work was done under contract, some on a lump sum and
some on a cost plus basis, with the exception of a number of storehouses
built by the Arsenal organization after the close of hostilities and needed
to shelter the immense quantity of war material returning from the armies
in France and from the training camps in this country.

Much additional shop room was needed, and, all told, the additions to
the plant amounted to more than one and one-half millions of feet of floor
space, costing more than seven millions of dollars. Chief among the new
structures built for manufacturing uses were the artillery vehicle plant and
the artillery ammunition assembiing plant. The former consists of a main
crection shop 120 x 605 feet, with three wings, each 80 x 200 feet, and all
four stories high. The latter is 360x400 feet, in three sections, one three
stories, one two and the other one story in height. The ammunition as-
sembling plant cost $2,093,000 and the artillery vehicle plant $2,225,000.
Both are of reinforced concrete construction.

As output increased, storage space, both for raw material and com-
pleted goods, became totally inadequate, and steps were taken at once to
supply the deficiency. All told, nearly one and one-half million feet of
additional floor space were provided at a cost of more than three millions
of dollars. Chief among these projects were thirty ammunition storehouses,
each 50x200 feet, and costing together $490,000; eight vehicle storage
buildings aggregating 452,500 feet of space and costing $865,000, and what
is designated as Storage Building W-I, which is 140x540 feet, six stories
high, and cost $1,560,000.
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Of course much miscellaneous construction was necessary. A central
steam heating plant was built at a cost of $610,000. The hydro-electric
plant was enlarged and modernized at a cost of $748,000. Additional bar-
racks, offices, a cafeteria, hospital and other buildings, mostly of a tempo-
rary character, were provided.

The chronological order in which the various projects were undertaken,
names of contractors and other information in connection -with them are
summarized in the following:

BUILDINGS AND PROJECTS SINCE 1916

In the fall of 1916 a high steel tank for the water supply of the Arsenal
was started by the Rock Island Bridge and Iron Works, but little was
accomplished before the next year, in February, when work was resumed.
The tank was completed November 22, 1917, although its use began on
September 25, 1917. :

Shop M, one of the largest of the new buildings, viewed from front and rear.

January 8, 1917, a lump sum contract was awarded to the Heman Con-
struction Company, of St. Louis, for the erection of seven nitrate and eight
ammunition storehouses. These have stuccoed tile walls, steel trusses,
slate roofs, concrete floor and platforms and also necessary trackage. Work
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started February 12, 1917, and on February 1, 1918, it was turned over to
the Stone & Webster Corporation, then engaged on other work on the
Island. This work was completed June 12, 1918,

About this time a temporary wire fence was erected around the Arsenal
shops, this work being installed by the Outside Department of the Arsenal.

January 6, 1917, a lump sum contract was awarded Lovell & Co., of
Minneapolis, Minn., for the erection of one vehicle storehouse (now des-
ignated as Storehouse “I”), a concrete and steel construction building.
This was completed November 23, 1917.

April 14, 1917, the St. Paul FFoundry Co. started work on an addition
to the steel lumber shed, let under a lump sum contract and completed
December 5, 1917.

April 16, 1917, the Ammunition Assembling Plant (Shop “M”), a re-
inforced concrete structure, was started by the Westinghouse-Church-Kerr
Company, New York, on a cost plus 10 per cent basis. This work
included, also, 13 storehouses for explosives, a T. N. T. loading building,
incinerator, railroad trackage and roads. These buildings were partially
occupied on February 9, 1918, and beginning about February 15, 1918, a
battalion of the Tenth U. S. Infantry was temporarily quartered in the
ammunition assembling building, temporary plumbing having been installed
in the same. Other buildings erected by the Westinghouse-Church-Kerr
Company were:

Temporary Barracks “B”.....___._......... begun 9-24-17, completed 11-27-17
Temporary Barracks “C”.___..______.._.__.begun 12-17-17, completed 1-15-18
Storehouse “BA” begun 10-23-17, completed 11-30-17
Dry Kiln (Wheel Stock). ..o begun 11- 5-17, completed 11-30-17
Dry Kiln (Gun Stock) ..o begun 12-12-17, completed 7- 1-18
Temporary Garage and Testing

Labratory oo begun 2-15-17, completed 4- 4-18
Post Exchange and Y. M. C. A begun 4- 1-18, completed 4-23-18

This firm also instalted the plumbing in the present Shops “B”, “D”,
and “F”, which was c()mplete_d.August 10, 1918.

May 9, 1917, Henry Kohlsaat started work on a non-commissioned
officers’ quarters, of brick and wood.

The building of the assembling plant by the Westinghouse-Church-
Kerr Company necessitated the relocation of the street car track by the Tri-
City Railway Company, started June 12, 1917, completed October 31, 1917.

Barracks “A”, started June 17, 1917, was completed July 17, 1917.
This work was done by Arsenal forces. This building was later transformed
into a hospital for enlisted men.

June 21, 1917, Stone & Webster started building operations for the
Tield and Siege Building (Shop “M"™), a reinforced concrete structure, on
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the cost plus 5 per cent basis, and made a record-breaking time in progress,
completing the work August 15, 1918. The building was partially occupied
December 19, 1917. This project includes a duct line from the old tunnel
to building. Other buildings built by Stone & Webster are:

B-D Connection....................._..._.. Started 7- 1-17, completed 5-24-18
G-1 Connection.................._..._._... Started 9-17-17, completed 6- 1-18
H-K Connection...........__..._...._.._..._ Started 10-24-17, completed 5-24-18
A-C Connection....ooooeoo.......Started 11-24-17, completed 7-14-18
Central Heating Plant...........__._.._ .. Started 7-21- 17 completed 7-31-18
Boilers placed ... Started 11-28-17, completed 7-31-18

All these buildings were fire-proof construction, and the connections
were all stone faced to match the present Arsenal shops. August 15, 1917,
the first nitrate was shipped to this post, and this was unloaded by Stone
& Webster into an old storehouse, and later, by the same firm, unloaded
by trucks and chutes into the nitrate storehouses started by the Hemen

Co. and completed by Stone & Webster June 12, 1918.
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Typical shop interior, being the craneway in the field and siege bnilding.

The Stone & Webster Co. also installed a new floor on the Moline
bridge, September 7, 1918, to September 22, 1918; built the Plating and
Tinning Shop, of fire-proof construction, starting March 18, 1918, com-
pleting August 1, 1918; Storehouse “MA”, started December 13, 1917,
and completed April 9, 1918; Gun-Stock Dry Kiln addition, started June
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24, 1918, and completed December 3, 1918. This company also repaired
stone cornices, remodelled old coal shed into a paint shop, and did consider-
able plumbing and heating in all shops from time to time.

The contract for the erection of an Ice Making Plant was awarded
the Frazier & Davis Co., of Rock Island, on a lump sum contract;
started June 17, 1917, finished October 4, 1917. This company later in-
stalled a new filtration bed, sedimentation basin, etc., on a lump sum con-
tract, starting March 11, 1918, and finishing August 8, 1918. They also
placed new gas mains at various points, starting May 15, 1918, completing
August 6, 1918; remodelled the front of the fire station, starting August 15,
1918, completing October 15, 1918, placing a new sidewalk and driveway
in connection therewith.

On June 25, 1917, the Arthur Neuman Co. of Des Moines, Iowa,
started an addition to Stone Barracks on a lump sum contract, finishing
May 15, 1918.

The Central Engineering Co., of Davenport, Iowa, was awarded a
contract for sub-structure of the addition to the Water Power Dam, on
a unit price basis, started July 31, 1917. They were later awarded a super-
structure of brick and steel construction on a lump sum basis, started
August 5, 1918, completed December 2, i918. They later contracted for
taking out the old cofferdam and old dam.

On February 18, 1918, the Walsh Construction Company, of Davenport,
Towa, started on several projects under a cost plus 7 per cent contract:

Office Building No. 2. ... Started 4-18-18, finished 5-15-18
Bakenys s = s s n S il AL Started 4-22-18, finished 5-20-18
Civilian Hospital ..o Started 4-23-18, finished 6-15-18
Ward and Isolation Hospital................. Started 4-23-18, finished 6-15-18
Remodelled Barracks “B”............ ... Started 5-17-17, finished 6-24-18
Remodelled Barracks “C”. i, Started 6- 1-18, finished 7- 1-18
Remodelled Y. M. C. A Started 6- 1-18, finished 7- 1-18
Five Vehicle Storehouses........cocoooeeieeeieeeeen. Started 2-18-18, finished 9- 7-18
Concrete General Storage Bldg............... Started 2-18-18, finished 3- 1-19

With the exception of the Vehicle Storehouses and General Storage
Buildings, these buildings were of frame and of a more or less temporary
nature.

Before building operations could be made possible, it was necessary,
in most cases, especially at the sduthwestern and northwestern parts of
the Island, to clear the land from trees, as a large portion of these sections
were well wooded with trees ranging from three feet in diameter to brush
size. Also land levels had to be graded to suit conditions, roads had to be
built, and at many parts of the Island proper drainage facilities had to be
effected. Considerable excavating was especially necessary at the grounds
of the General Storehouse, W-1., as will be seen under that heading.
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In general, Rock Island Arsenal is laid, as the name implies, on an
island of rock, crusted with its own disintegrated, eroded and finely
pulverized deposits, this intermixed with sedimentary organic substances,
mostly of a vegetable character. The rock, like that of nearly all of this
part of the United States, is a lime-stone, partially oolitic, but mostly
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Above, Shop R, equipped for the mannfacture of recuperators. Below, New Steam Heating Plant, honsing boilers capable of
supplying steam sufficient in quantity and pressure to operate the machinery of the Arsenal,
serving as an anxiliary to the water power.

sedimentary, extremely finely grained. Outcrop of the rock has been en-
countered at nearly all parts of the Island, but an average of three feet of
excavation is necessary in order to reach its bed. At various parts of
the Island, especially the western part along Main avenue, rock was not
encountered at over six feet depth of excavation, and in the south center,
near Storehouse “G”, thirty foot tests were made to reach rock. This has
led, therefore, to the policy, for each project, of establishing rock grade at
the site of buildings by digging to or sounding rock.

The entire sewage from the Rock Island Arsenal is drained through
sanitary drains of vitrified tile, of concrete and of brick. At a point in
the basement of Shops “A” and “B” there is a 24-inch brick arched sewer
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extending east to the intersection of Shops “H” and “K”, and all the
temporary barracks on Ifast avenue, thence south on Fourth street to the
center of Fourth street and South avenue, where the laterals from Shops
“A”“Cr CE7, “G7, “17, Storehouse “A” and the main Guard House are
connected. From this intersection the main 36-inch sewer is laid in a
diagonal line to the power house tail race, into which it empties about
100-feet south of the power house. It also takes the sewage from the
Truck Garage and the Temporary Testing Laboratory.

In August of 1917 the Stone & Webster Company constructed a 30-
inch vitrified tile sewer to the Artillery Vehicle Plant, draining surface
water from the low ground around the Powder and IFulminate Caves, the
sewage from the Ammunition Assembling Plant, the Central Heating Plant
and the new Cafeteria. This is a very good and properly constructed sewer,
all laid in a graded trench with iron-covered man-holes at intervals of
400 feet.

The west end of the Island is drained through a sanitary sewer in-
stalled in 1918 by the Walsh Construction Co. The sewage disposal from
the six-story Storage Building drains off to the northeast through a six-
teen-inch tile sewer and connects to the thirty-six inch just southwest of
the Commanding Officer’s quarters. Man-holes are provided in appropriate
places, with a perforated iron cover.

The upper or east part of the Island is drained by a surface drain
which empties into the water power pool about 3,000 feet from the Power
House.

The Steel Storage Building, built by Stone & Webster, is located at
the west end of the Field and Siege Building (Shop M), is a one-story
steel-framed building on concrete foundation, and with an outside concrete
wall to the height of the lower window sills. The superstructure walls are
of hollow tile, plastered on the outside. The front walls of the building
are entirely of concrete, to match the architecture of the Field and Siege
Building as viewed from the Main avenue. The roof is of wood, supported
on steel trusses. The building is 107 feet wide and 322 feet long, with a
row of steel columns down the center. Two crane-ways are provided for,
running the whole length of the building, one on each side of the center
row of columns.

The new Cafeteria building is of frame on concrete foundation, 96
feet by 256 {feet, and contains a men’s dining room at the east end,
ladies’ dining room and officers’ dining room at the west end, and kitchen
and store room in the center. It is designed for serving meals on the
cafeteria plan. A small cellar for storage is provided. The building is
constructed with 6-inch studding, sheathing and drop siding and has a
monitor 32-feet wide down the center. The floors are maple. The inside
walls are finished with yellow pine sheathing and the ceiling with wall
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board. At one end there is a cement floor porch 20 feet by 40 feet, en-
closed, for the sale of candy and cigars. The service equipment was furnish-
ed by Albert Pick Co., of Chicago, but was installed by Stone & Webster,
who also installed the plumbing and heating. The electric lighting was
also installed by Stone & Webster, and a refrigerator plant for cooling
three boxes—meat, dairy and vegetable, and drinking water—has been
installed in the basement. About 2000 feet of dining tables were assembled.
All the kitchen, refrigerating and service counter equipment was bought

Shop L is also an imposing structure. Here are two views of it.

by the government and installed by Stone & Webster. The building re-
quired approximately 275000 board feet of lumber. Work was started
October 1, 1918, and the first meal was served January 6, 1919.

The Parkerizing Plant is a frame building with concrete floor on
concrete foundation, 36 feet wide by 76 feet long. Work was started
August 22, 1918, and completed October 17, 1918,

The first duct line built by Stone & Webster at the Arsenal ran from
the present service tunnel near East avenue, along the south side of the
old shops, and west to the new boiler house to Shop M. This duct line was
built to provide the light and power to Shop M and to the Ammunition

 Assembling Plant south of the boiler house. The line consists of eight 3V2-
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inch fibre duct, encased in concrete, with manholes approximately 300 feet
apart. Branches from this duct were constructed into the rear of the
south shops, where transformers were installed by the government. The
second duct line consisted of a continuation from the government service
tunnel west of Shop “K”, around the north side of the north shops, with
branches into the courts of the north shops, where transformers were also
to be -installed. Cable was installed in these ducts so that high tension
current could be brought close to the shops, where it was to be transformed.
This work was completed during the summer of 1918.

A new concrete tunnel 4 feet by 4 feet 6 inches, containing an 8-inch
high pressure line and a 4-inch return line and 1V5-inch drip line, was
constructed by Stone & Webster from the Central Heating Plant to the
new Warehouse W-I on Main avenue, to supply steam for heating that
building. This tunnel is approximately 1360 feet long.

A new system of water mains for fire protection was designed by the
Maintenance Department at the Arsenal during the summer of 1918. This
system is designed for high pressure service (215 lbs. per square -inch),
which is obtained by the installation of two pumps at the new Hydro-
Electric Power House. This system consists of class “F” cast iron water
pipes, ranging from 14 inches to 6 inches, and runs from the Power House
north along East avenue to Main avenue, west on Main avenue to a point
about 300 feet west of the Davenport gate. At the junction of Main and
West avenue there is a branch running north to the new temporary offices
and a branch running south to connect with the present main at the Nitrate
Storehouses and the Ammunition Assembling Plant. There is also a main
south of the south shops from East to West avenues. At the junction of
Main avenue and East avenue there is a branch running to the Hospital.
From the main south of the south shops there is a branch running to the
dry kilns. There is alsoran extension north from the main on Main avenue
running along the west side of the new warehouse, and extensions around
the Artillery Vehicle Storehouses and the new Steel Warehouses north of
Main avenue. ‘

The Main avenue line has also been extended, as contemplated in
the original scheme, to point opposite the old Arsenal Building. Ap-
proximately 19,600 lineal feet of pipe has been installed, and there are more
than 70 hydrants. All mains are laid so that there shall be a minimum of
five feet covering over the top.

The General Storage Building W-I was erected by Walsh Construction
Company. Plans and specifications were prepared by the Supply Division
of the Ordnance Department at Washington, D. C. This building covers
a ground area of about 96,000 square feet (including platforms) and has
a cubical content of about 5,496,000 cubic feet. No special difficulty was
encountered in the purchasing or delivery of materials. The arrival of -
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material being sufficiently in advance of work started not to delay normal
progress of work. Excavation was started March 4, 1918. The floor level
of the first floor was established about eight feet below the natural grade,
in order to obtain proper track grades. A most unusual condition of rock
grade was found, beds of shell rock, sometimes of considerable length
and thickness, were frequently encountered imbedded in clay, and very
accurate tests had to be made to determine whether bed rock had been
reached. The construction is reinforced concrete four-way flat slab, with
steel sash and frames. It is equipped with five elevators and one suspended
tray elevator, furnished by the Link-Belt Company, of Chicago. Provisions
were made for two other elevators: A feature of the building is the
three stationary spiral chutes, ten feet in diameter, carried from top floor

Artillery Vehicle Storehouses, covering many acres of ground near west end of the Island.

to first floor. This building cost twenty cents a cubic foot and $2.33 per
square foot of ground area. The plumbing and electrical work was_ in-
stalled by sub-contractors of the Walsh Construction Company, and the
heating was let under an emergency form of contract to the Henry Ewinger
Plumbing and Heating Company, of Burlington, Iowa, the Arsenal furnish-
ing the material. é

OTHER BUILDING OPERATIONS

Vehicle Storage Buildings.—Plans and specifications were prepared
by the Supply Division, Ordnance Department, at Washington, D. C.
These buildings each cover an area of about 54,500 square feet, with the
exception of Number 9, which covers about 44,200 square feet of floor
area. Excavation was started September 15, 1918. The footings are of
rock, from three to seven feet below the surface, but no tests were made
as to whether the rock was bed rock or shell rock, as struck at the General
Storage Building W-I. These buildings cost about 125 cents per cubic
foot and about $1.99 per square foot of ground area. They are one-story
structures built of brick, wooden posts and griders and rafters.

North and South Avenue Paving.—Plans and specifications were pre-
pared by the Rock Island Arsenal Construction Department from sug-
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gestions and data given by the Portland Cement Association, which co-
operated with the Arsenal by having a representative on the work during
a large part of the time. North avenue paving was already started before
the Construction Division took charge, and was, therefore, 'not reported
with South avenue. Cost accounts were, however, handled by the Walsh
Construction Company as one job for the two avenues.

Motor Truck Garage—DPlans and specifications were prepared by the
Rock Island Arsenal Construction Department engineering forces, and
were completed about July 2, 1918; rock was struck close to the surface
on the north end. During the process of excavation, it was deemed
necessary to alter the position of the building as originally staked out,
and an extra of $565.00, covered by specifications, was allowed the contractor.
An extra of $175.00 was also allowed for column spirals, making the total
cost $32,000.00. This building has a ground area of 7,000 square feet and
a cubic area of 206,500 cubic feet. About 90 per cent of the material for
this building was bought locally. The remainder, steel frame work and
steel sash, was obtained from the Illinois Steel Company, Jacksonville,
Illinois, and the David Lupton Sons Company, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

Three steel frame warehouses were authorized in January, 1919. These
buildings are located adjacent to the vehicle storehouses on the north-
western part of the Island. Owing to the fact that a number of the former
Arsenal war workers were deprived of their positions on account of the
signing of the Armistice, it was decided to erect these buildings with
Arsenal workmen, thereby giving employment to over three hundred and
sixty men at one time. These buildings were erected more econom-
ically than if let under a cost plus type of contract, as no overhead or
purchasing expense was necessary, this work being handled by the Purchas-
ing and Time Division of the Arsenal.

These warehouses were originally intended to be erected in France
for war purposes, and all the steel was fabricated and cut to the proper
lengths with all holes for connections drilled, and all that was necessary
was to erect the buildings in place.

WATER SUPPLY, GAS MAINS, ETC.

During the summer of 1918 to meet the demand for more filtered
water, there was installed a new filter bed, which has a capacity of 500,000
gallons of water per day. This gives now a total supply of 1,500,000 gallons
of filtered water per day of 24 hours. There was also installed at the filter
plant a high tank, which has a capacity of 300,000 gallons of water, and is
one hundred and twenty feet high from the ground line. All of
the water system is now supplied from this new high tank, which gives a
constant pressure of 55 lbs. at the base.

During the summer of 1918 a new ice plant, which has a 10-ton
refrigerating capacity, was put in service. The ice plant was used
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principally for cooling drinking water to supply all the shops through
sanitary bubbling fountains.

During .the summer of 1918 it was found, on account of the rapid
expansion of production in the shops, that the gas main supplying city
gas for furnaces, hardening, etc., was not large enough for the demand.
The old gas main location was from the Forty-second street bridge, Rock
Island, and through the new Nitrate Storage building site. This was
considered dangerous, in addition to its being too small. An allotment was
made to install a new 6-inch gas main from the Forty-second street bridge
in Rock Island, following the street car track around to the east of Shop

Temporary Office Building No. 2. It was necessary to provide quarters for hundreds of extra office workers during
. the war. This is one of the buildings erected for that purpose.

“G” and then north to Shop “H”. After this was completed the Arsenal
was then in a position to take care of all the furnaces that were required.
This gas is furnished by the Peoples Power & Light Company, of Moline,
and is metered in each shop.

In June, 1917, there was installed in the west wing of Shop “F” one
Sullivan high pressure air compressor. Previous to this time there were
only two small air compressors in service. These not being large enough
for war work, it was necessary to greatly increase the air capacity. There
were also installed in Shop “M” one high pressure Worthington air com-
pressor of 2500 feet capacity and one low pressure Worthington compressor
of 2800 feet capacity. It was found during the summer of 1918 that it
would be necessary to move the low pressure machine from -Shop “M”
to Shop “F” to supply enough air for the additional furnaces installed in
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this building. After this was done there was plenty of air to take care
of all requirements.

There are eight 500 horse power Babcock & Wilcox boilers, ar-
ranged in batteries of two units each. The eight boilers are served by
one stack, 12-foot inside diameter, and extending 210 feet above the grates.
The working steam pressure of the boilers is one hundred and fifty
pounds, and there are four four-inch Ashton safety valves on each boiler,
set at 150 pounds. Each boiler has 5080 square feet heating surface, 252
four-inch tubes and 108 square feet of grate surface.

PROTECTIVE_LIGHTING

A series incandescent light circuit was installed on the fence surrounding
the manufacturing shops and storehouses—one circuit for the Nitrate Store-
houses and one circuit for the Ammunition Plant. The illumination is Such
that a guard patroling the fence is able to see the entire length, which is,
in some cases, 2,000 feet, approximately. Flood lamps were placed on the
power house, lighting the river on both.the north and south sides. The
avenues are lighted with a series incandescent light circuit, eighty candle
power lamps being installed every two hundred feet. ; :

For inter-communication between the various shops and departments, a
three hundred line two-wire local battery automatic telephone ex-
change has been installed. This system not only takes care of the manu-
facturing shops and storehouses, but affords communication between the
outlying guard houses, pumping station and power houses.

An electric time system was installed in many of the departments, which
takes care of the job cards of the employees on piece and day work;
electric time recorders are also used for employees, registering their time
of arrival and departure.

An electric signal system, which consists of klaxons installed in each
shop, are controlled by the master clock through a series of relays. These
klaxons are sounded automatically for the working hours of the shops.

On June 30, 1912, the following roads were in use on the reservation:
8.88 miles of macadam, 11.61 miles of cinder, 0.57 mile of taroid.

At the end of the fiscal year 1916-1917 the following roads were in
use: 5.27 miles macadam, 11.61 miles cinder, 4.21 miles taroid.

Roads on reservation in March, 1919, consisted of : 8.85 miles macadam,
5 miles taroid, 6 miles concrete, and 6.33 miles cinder.

At the beginning of the war there was 3.13 miles of railroad trackage
on the reservation. During the year 1918 approximately 16 miles of
finished track was laid, all light rails in the old tracks having been re-
placed with 80-pound rails, switch lights installed, etc.
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SUMMARY OF CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS COMPLETED AT
ROCK ISLAND ARSENAL SINCE APRIL 7, 1917

Name of Project Type of Construction ’urpose Cost
Steel  Water  Supply | Steel, 300,000 gals. capacity Water supply
Tank $ 21,400.00
Ice-Making Plant Brick and concrete Ice for shops and
refrigeration for
drinking water
system 24,500.00
Non-Commissioned Of- | Hollow tile, stuccoed Quarters for Non-
ficers Quarters Commissioned Of-
ficers 10,600.00

Toilet Addition to Stone
Barracks

Stone building with reinforced

floors, slate roof

Toilet facilities for
Ordnance person-
nel

32,500.00

30 Nitrate and Ammuni- | Hollow tile, concrete construction, | Storage of sodium

tion Storehouses Bach building 50'x2007, Steel nitrate and artil-
trusses lery ammunition 490,000.00

Artillery Vehicle Store- | Reinforced concrete construction | Storage of artillery
house 2-story and attic; 53'x140". vehicles 31,330.00

Artillery Ammunition

Reinforced concrete construction,

Assembly of artillery

Assembly Plant 360’x400/; north  section, 3 ammunition
: stories; east section, 2 stories;
west section, 1 story; basement
under entire building | 2,093.000.00
Wheel Stock Dry Kiln | Reinforced concrete and hollow | Drying wheel stock Y

tile construction, 105'x267/. Con-
tains 27 Tiemann type kilns

Gun Stock Dry Kiln

Reinforced concrete and hollow
tile construction, 105/x115’. Con-
. tains 11 Tiemann type kilns

Drying and season-
ing of gun stocks

Three (3) Lumber Sheds

Steel frame, slate roof; each shed
approximately 40’x240/

Storage of gun
stocks and wheel
stock material

LThe cost of
these three
projects is
approximate-
ly $520,000.00

Addition to Gun Stock | Reinforced concrete and hollow | Dryving and season-

Dry Kiln tile construction, 105/x152/, Con- ing of gun stocks
tains 17 Tiemann type Kkilus $ 127,000.00

Artillery Vehicle Plant | Reinforced concrete construction. | Manufacture of field

Consists of Main Erection Shop
120x605/, 4 stories; 3 wings
each 80/x200/, 4 stories and
basement; and one story KForge
Shop, 160/x1607

artillery material

2 225.000.00

4 Shop Connections

Reinforced concrete construction,
with stone veneered walls. Each
building 60'x90/, 2 stories, attic

Additional manufac-
turing space. Small
arms, harness, field

and basemment artillery material, |
ete. | 360,000.00
Central Steam Heating | Reinforced concrete construction, | ITeating of shop
Plant containing eight 504 H. . water buildings
tube boilers, automatic stokers,
ete. Stack 210/ high, 12/ dia. 610,000.00
Steel Storage Building | Reinforced concrete and hollow | Storage of steel used
tile construction, 106'x320” in  manufacturing
operations 173,000.00
Tinning and Plating | Reinforced concrete construction, | Tinning and plating
Shop 50/x160” of articles manu-
factured in Equip-
¢ ment Shop 23,000.00
Storage Building W-I Mounolithic concrete construction | General storage
with flat slab floors and roof.
140rx5407, 6 stories 1,560,000.00
Eight Velhicle Storage | Brick exterior walls, 1nill con- | Storage of artillery
Buildings structed roofs, concrete floors vehicles
wlth 35 feet concrete platforms. j
(7 bulldings 115/x500’ and one
building 115/x400) 865,000.00
Motor Truck Garage Reinforced concrete construction, | Storage and repair
brick walls, flat roof supported of motor trucks
on steel trusses, 70’x100/, two
stories 35,500.00
Addition to North Lum- | Light steel frame and slate roof | Storage of lumnber
ber Shed construction, 36/x140/ 7,534.00
Office Annex No. 1 Temporary frame construction, | Additional office
: 30'x90, three stories space 18,000.00
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SUMMARY OF CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS COMPLETED AT

ROCK ISLLAND ARSENAIL—Continued

Name of Project Type of Coustruction ] Purpose Cost
Barracks “A” Tewmporary frame construction, 20/ | Housing Ordnance
x147/ School personnel 5,500.,00
Barracks “B” and “C” | Temporary frame construction, | Housing Ordnance
(Barracks “B"” accommodates School personnel
412 men and Barracks “C” ac-
commodates 4G5 men) 74,000.00
Headquarters for Casual | Temporary frame construction, | ITeadguarters build-
Military Personnel 437x150/ ing for Ordnance
School Commis- -
sioned personnel 15,000.00
Recreation Building and | Temporary frame construction, | Post exchange and
Post Exchange 3 x1467 recreational quar-
ters 11,500.00
First-Aid IHospital Temporary frame construction, | First-aid treatment |
AXTT of civilian cases | 9,200.00
Isolation Hospital Temporary frame construction, | Isolation cases
207x60” 3,000.00
Hospital Ward and Is- | Temporary frame construction, | Hospital ward de-
olation Ward standard hospital ward units; signed for general
each 124x150/ cases and isolation
ward for care of
contagious diseas-
o 22,600.00
Laboratory {for Motor | Temporary frame construetion, | Testing of motor
Truck Testing T1/x100/ trucks and trac- -
tors 17.700.00
Office Building No. 2 Temporary frame econstruction, | Increasing ofiice
main  building 42'x136’: two space
wings each 43/x98/; 3 stories 61,000.00
Barracks "D” Temporary frame construction, | Housing battalion of
43/x1407, two stories 10th Iefantry sta-
tioned at Rock Is-
land Arsenal for
guard purposes 60,000.00
T’arkerizing Plant Temporary frame construction, | Parkerizing compon-
with conerete floor, TG/'x306/ ents of U. S. Rifle,
Cal. .30 9,700.00 .
(afeteria Building Temporary frame constrnetion, | Facilities for serving
96/x256”.  Concrete foundation lunch to Arsenal |
with muple floors employees 93.000.00
5 Temporary Store- _Temporary frame construction, | General storage pur-
houses size of buildings as follows: poses

60’x600'—1 story (MA)
60’x504'—1 story (BA)
60/x372/—1 story (KA)
607x352"—1 story (GA)
52x147/—1 story (AA)

95,000.00

3 Steel Warehouses

Steel frame construction, ecorru-
gated sheet metal siding, pre-
pared roof, cinder floor. Each
building 240/x500/

Genera’
poses

sLorage pur-

259,000.00

Extension of
electric Power

Hydro-
Plant

Superstructure is a brick build-
ing, 30’x233/, lixtension con-
tains eight 420 II. P. turbines,
direct connected to 403 K. V. A,
generators and 2 196 II. P, tur-
bines, direct connected to 130
kilowatt generators

Increasing power
supply

748,000.00

ARSENAL’S MANUFACTURING CAPACITY

With its greatly increased capacity the Arsenal, of course, is prepared
to play an even more important part in future wars, if any occur, than it
has in the wars of the past. In order to ascertain just what may be expected
of it as a manufacturing plant, a close study of its resources has been made

and the results are summarized in tabular form, as here appended.

With

diversified output the individual items may not seem so imposing, but
should attention be centered upon a relatively small number of the more
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essential articles of war equipment the output will run into large figures.
The following ingenuously arranged tabulation gives in most concise form
all available information pertaining to possible rate of production of the
various items with the existing facilities:

“A”—Facilities installed expressly for production monthly of the fol-
lowing:

(1) 360 75mm. gun recuperators
(2) 40 37 A. A. gun recuperators

“B”—Production units for simultaneous production per month of ap-
proximately:

(1) 4 155mm. or 4.7” gun recuperators

(2) 4 155mm. howitzer recuperators 1
(3) 4 155mm. gun carriages (without recuperators)
(4) 4 155mm. howitzer carriages (without recuperators)
(5) 6 477 gun carriages (without recuperators)
(6) 10 75mm. gun carriages (without recuperators)
(7) 4 155mm. gun carriage limbers

(8) 4 155mm. howitzer carriage limbers

(9) 6 155mm. howitzer caissons or limbers

(10) 6 4.7” gun caissons or limbers

(11) 10 75mm. gun caissons or limbers

(12) 10 battery and store wagons, Model 1917
(13) 10 75mm. forge or store limbers

“C’—The production units for the items listed in paragraph “B”, if
devoted to one item, could produce a maximum quantity of that item as
follows:

4 155mm. or 4.7” gun carriages with recuperators and limbers
4 155mm. howitzer carriages with recuperators and limbers
40 4.7” gun carriages, Model 1906

75 75mm. gun carriages, Model 1916

250 75mm. gun limbers or caissons

250 Battery and store wagons, Model 1917

250 Forge or store limbers, Model 1902 M1

“D”—Tools, jigs, fixtures, patterns and gauges in store at this Arsenal
available for issue to contractors for a monthly production of :
60 155mm. gun material
200 155mm. howitzer material
100 4.7” gun material

360 75mm. gun material
40 3 A. A. gun material

Note: By “material” is_meant complete eqnipment for carriages, caissons, limbers, battery
and store wagons, forge and store limbers, reels, carts, tools and accessories, pertaining to the
calibre mentioned.
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“E”—Simultaneous production per month of:

30,000 U. S. rifles, Model 1903
6,000 Browning automatic machine guns, Model of 1917
12,000 Browning automatic rifles, Model of 1918

Note: The machinery for these two units is at Rock Island Arsenal but not yet installed,
the above figures is the estimated possible production only, should installation be accomplished.

“F”—Simultaneous production per month of:

100,000 mess equipment—canteens, cups, meat cans, etc.
3,000 arm racks, Model 1920

250,000 tin containers for 75mm. ammunition

13,750 hardware for rolling targets

27,500 hardware for sliding targets

20,000 (1) 6” cartridge storage cases

13,750 (2) 8” cartridge storage cases

13,750 (3) 10" cartridge storage cases

11,250 (4) 12” cartridge storage cases

Note: Capacity limited on cartridge storage cases as above to (1) and either one of (2), (3)
or (4) simultaneously.

“G”"—Simultaneous production of either- (1), (2) or (3) of each unit
at the same time per month: i

5,625 (1) wheels, 56” complete

3,750 (2) wheels, 58” complete

2,750 (3) wheels, 50” and 60” complete

37,500 (1) packing boxes

90,000 (2) cartridge storage case shipping covers
18,750 (3) bobbing targets

15,000 (1) chests for Browning automatic rifles or machine guns
13,750 (2) rolling targets, complete

7,500 (3) carpenter’s chests

7,500 (1) arm repair chests

7,500. (2) sliding targets, complete

5,625 (3) saddlers’ chests

“H”—Simultaneous production of (1) and either (2) or (3) at the same
time per month:
75,000,000 (1) target pasters
600,000 (2) paper targets 6'x10
900,000 (3) paper targets 6'x6
(‘I”—
175,000 (1) bayonet or bolo scabbards, Model 1910
60,000 (2) saber scabbards, Model 1913

Either (1) or (2) can be manufactured simultaneously with other parts
at this Arsenal, but facilities for the necessary cloth and leather work
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thereon are available to complete a maximum of only 7,500 of either per
month,

“K”—Special machine tools, not installed, which, with addition of
standard tools, will permit of manufacture in addition to the facilities now
available as in “A”, “B”, “C”, and “D” above:

300 155mm. howitzer recuperators per month
80 155mm. gun recuperators per month

INCREASE OF STORAGE SPACE

Among the striking changes the World War brought to Rock Island
Arsenal was the increase of storage space from 545,000 square feet on
March 31, 1917, to 948,000 square feet on February 28, 1918, with corres-
ponding cubical contents of 12,250,000 feet.

The functions of the storage section of the Arsenal, during the war,
embraced activities which controlled sixty warehouses, located in various
parts of the Island, containing approximately 1,764,837 square feet of

Storehouse VI, showing method of storing artillery.

storage space under roof, in addition to oil storage space totalling 417,357
gallons. This storage ranged from newly constructed modern warehouses,
with elevators, box conveyors and gravity conveyors, to temporary platforms
roofed in. Some of the major items in use embraced 2,000 feet of gravity
conveyors, seven locomotive cranes, four tractors, twenty trucks and trail-
ers, and one shop mule.
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The volume of incoming and outgoing freight from July 1, 1919, to
June 1, 1920, is shown in the following summary:

Cars received . ..o 9.280
Cars shipped . e 2,485
Cars transferred ..., 2,727
Total tonnage in pounds.................. 555,404,304
Government bills of lading received__._._....._.._..._... 10,254
Commercial bills of lading received........._...___._..__ 3,149
Bills of lading forwarded.... ... ... 10,700
Shipments ..o 12,710
Number of pieces ... 631,685

The gradual increase in storehouse activities at the Arsenal may be
thus summarized: For the calendar year of 1916 the shipments averaged
approximately 780, representing a monthly average of 8000 pieces, weighing
450 tons. In February, 1918, a total of 2,300 shipments were made, weighing
3,383 tons and comprising 85,000 pieces. In April, 1918, this had increased
to 3,;106 shipments, consisting of 59,796 pieces and weighing 18,312,000
pounds.

Building done since the early part of 1918 has more than doubled the
amount of storage space, so that there are now about two million square feet
available for the sheltering of war material, manufactured and in the raw
state. The following table gives the designation of existing storage struc-
tures, the use for which they were intended, and the capacity:

Nitrate and Ammunition Storehouses.
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Capa-
. clty in
Building Floor Type of Materlal Square
Feet
V-1 al Vehicle storage 54,300
V-2 1 Vehicle storage %
D 1 Tractor parts 54,300
V-4 1 Vehicle storage 54,300
V-5 1 Vehicle storage 54,300
V-6 1l ‘Tractor parts 54.300
V-7 1 Vehicle storage 54,300
V-8 2l Vehicle storage 54.300
V-9 1 Vehicle storage - 42,900
V-10 1 Vehicle storage ) 120,000
V-11 il Tank, tractor and vehicle storage 130,000
V-12 1 Artillery gun stock blanks 130,000
V-14 1 Vehicle storage 21,720
V-15 1 Vehicle storage 32,380
W-1 G Miscellaneous spare parts for artillery and small
arms

1st floor Artillery and small arms 08,9500

2nd floor Artillery and small arms L 68,000

3rd floor Artillery and small arms 68,000

4th floor Artillery and.small arms 68,000

5th floor Artillery and small arms 68,000

6th floor Artillery and small arms 68,000
A 4 Toolg, jigs and fixtures

1st floor Tools, jigs and fixtures 15,075

2nd floor Tools, jigs and fixtures 15,075

3rd floor Tools, jigs and fixtures 15,075

4th floor Tools, jigs and fixtures 3,
AA -] Dies

1st floor Dies 7,081

2nd floor Dies 7,592
X-1 1 Small arms ammunition storage 9,500
X-2 1 Cal. 30 rifle storage 9,500
X-3 1 Cal. 30 rifle storage 9,500
X-4 1 Sodinmm Nitrate storage 9,500
X-5 1 Motor storage 9,600
X-6 1 Tools, jigs and fixtures 9,500
X-7 1 Rifle storage 9,500
X-8 1 Motor storage 9,500
X-9 1 (al. 30 rifle storage 9,500
X-10 1 Miscellaneous Mark VIII tank material 9,500
Svienl 1 Mark VIII transmisslons 9,500
Y-2 1 Cal. 30 ritle storage 9,500
Y-3 9l Fireworks hand grenade storage 9,600
Y-4 1 Small arms ammunition storage 9,500
Y-5 1 Sodinm nitrate storage 9,500
Y-6 1 Sodium nitrate storage 9,500
Y-7 1 Sodium nitrate storage 9,500
Y-S . 1 Sodium nitrate storage 9,500
Y-9 1 Sodinm nitrate storage 9,500
Y-10 7 Small arms ammunition storage 9,500
Z-1 5l Cal. 30 rifle storage 9,500
7%-2 i) Sodium nitrate storage 9,500
7-3 1 Cal. 30 rifle storage 9.500
74 1 Sodium nitrate storage 9,500
7-5 N lifle storage 9,500
7-6 1 Rubber tire storage 9,500
77 1 Rubber tire storage 9,500
7-8 1 Small arms ammunition storage 9,500
7Z-9 ik Rubber tire storage 9,500
7-10 it Mark VIII transmission storage 9,500
=11 1 Smokeless powder magazine 2,400
L.-4 1 Primer and fnze magaziue 377
-5 1 Primer and fuze magazine 234
L-6 B 1 Iligh explosive magazine 25
TR 1 Iligh explosive magazine 100
L-8 g High explosive magazine 100
L-9 ify Iligh explosive magazine 504
1.-10 i Iligh explosive magazine 504
1.-11 1 Iligh explosive magazine 504
1.-12 o) High explosive magazine 504
1,-13 il High explosive magazine 504
1.-14 1 High explosive magazine 504
1.-15 1 ITIigh explosive magazine 504
1.,-16 1 High explosive magazine 504
B-A 1 Inert storagef e, 27,500
G 3 floors Spare parts for tank

1st floor Slpare parts for tank 10,294

2nd floor Spare parts for tank 10,294

3rd_floor Spare parts for tank 10.294
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STORAGE SPACE AT ROCK ISLAND ARSENAIL—(Continued)

| Capa-
! city in
Building ‘ Floor Type of Material Square
Feet

G-A 1 Spare parts I'. W. D. | 12,728
1 i 3 floors Spare parts F. W. D,

1st floor Spare parts F. W, D. 7,132

2nd floor Spare parts F. W, D, 7,132

3rd floor Spare parts F. W, D, 7,132
K 4 floors Returned field stores

1st floor Returned field stores 15,075

2nd floor Returned field stores 15,075

3rd floor Returned field stores 15,075

4th floor Returned field stores 15,075
TEUAN 1 Returned field stores 14,650
M-A 1 Returned field stores 33,230

Shop “A” 4 floors Miscellaneous material for manufacturing shops

1st floor Miscellaneous material for manufacturing shops 43,701

2nd floor Miseellaneous material for manufaeturing shops 43,910

3rd floor Miseellaneous material for manufaeturing shops 38,349

4th floor Miscellaneous material for manufaeturing shops 40,404

Arsenal Building 4 floors Inert storage

1st floor Inert storage 9,500

2nd floor Inert storage 9,500

3rd floor Inert storage 9,500

4th floor Inert storage 9.500

Arsenal employees participating in Liberty day celebration, Nov. 11, 1918.



Expansion of Shop Personnel

\)| N the 13th of June, 1921, the President, in commenting upon the
present National Defense Law, made the following statement:
“Our present National Defense Law establishes an economical and
democratic military policy thoroughly consistent with our national
traditions. It provides for a small regular army, to be augmented by
great citizen forces in the event of national emergency. This is our tradi-
tional military policy. But, whereas in the past these larger war forces have
been extemporized after the occurrence of an emergency, the new law wisely
provides that the frame work of their organization shall be established
and developed in time of peace, in so far as this is practicable, through the
voluntary services of patriotic young men. The Army of the United
States, as defined in the new law, comprises the Regular Army, the National
Guard and the Organized Reserves. Every patriotic citizen should en-
courage the development of these forces, each within its proper sphere.”

In line with the policy expressed above, the Arsenals of the United
States, whose function is the creating of war material, should in time of
peace likewise be developed, in order that they may be prepared to meet the
emergencies of war. That this doctrine of development has been pursued,
is evidenced in the steady growth of the Rock Island Arsenal. In the
vears immediately preceding the Spanish-American War some manufactur-
ing was done, but it was small in amount and the manufacturing plant was
of limited capacity. :

In the emergency incident to the outbreak of war with Spain the
necessity for increasing output at once became apparent, and every energy
was strained to satisfy the demand. The plant was largely increased at that
time, but arrangements were not entirely satisfactory, and at the close of
hostilities a well-considered plan for the development and expansion of
the manufacturing plant was laid down. At that time only two of the
ten great shops in the Armory and Arsenal rows were utilized for manufac-
turing purposes. Under the plan of development which followed in later
years seven of the ten shops were, at the outbreak of the World War, fully
equipped with machinery and apparatus.

Recent strides in further expansion of facilities of the plant evidenced
the perpetuation of the adopted policy of development, and today the plant
as it stands represents a permanent national investment.

Of no less importance in the scheme of plant development is that of the
expansion of the Arsenal working force. It has been the practice of the
past, at the outbreak of war, to expand the small peace-time organization
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into that of a great non-professional war-time producing unit. The situa-
tion presented by the World War is recent enough to permit this expansion
being visualized, but in order that this conception may be more clearly
developed, a statement concerning the civilian personnel will not be amiss.

The manufacturing work in the shops is in charge and under the control
of officers who are specially educated and trained for such duty. The work
is carried on by civilian employees recruited from residents in the neigh-
boring cities of Davenport, Iowa, and Rock Island and Moline, Illinois.
These employees are selected men; are protected in the permanency of their
employment by the Civil Service laws, and are unquestionably unequalled
by any body of men to be found in similar vocations. But few industrial
concerns in the country manufacture at a single establishment the variety

Women workers in the cloth department, photographed shortly before the Armistice was signed.

of articles which the Arsenal is called upon to produce, and in few plants
can be found vocations of so diversified a nature. Under Government em-
ployment they have the benefit of clean, well lighted, well heated and com-
modious shops, with all sanitary conveniences. They have Saturday half-
holiday, with pay, in the summer months. They have thirty working days’
leave, with pay, each year, and when disabled for more than thirty days,
through injury received in the course of employment, are granted full pay
for the time absent from work on account of such injury; if in the classified
service, they are pensioned on arriving at retirement age, provided they
liave a maximum of fifteen years’ service to their credit. The rule of the
Government is to pay the same hourly rate of wage as that which prevails
in the vicinity for similar. work.

Surely the conditions surrounding the employees at Rock Island Arsenal,
in respect to conveniences, conditions of work, leave privileges, compensa-
tion for injury and rate of wages, cannot be equalled by that of any other
body of men in the vicinity. That these circumstances are appreciated, is
indicated by the large number of employees of long service included in
the file of its workers. A large number have records of from twenty-five
to thirty years, and the larger proportion of employees have been at the
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Arsenal ten years or more. Records of long and steady employment speak
more for working conditions and contentment than pages of argument
could do.

While the conditions cited redound to the benefit of the employees,
the Government, in turn, benefits through the morale of the organization
which such conditions engender. Continuity of employment makes toward
perfection of workers in the line of their endeavor. Through close and long
association in the manufacture of ordnance they become skilled in the art
of its specialized manufacture and acquire a technique of inestimable value
as a factor in increased production. This is especially true in the manu-
facture of small arms. Recognition of this fact by the Ordnance Depart-
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Of course the Arsenal workers had a band, and it was a good one.

ment can be found at the time the manufacture of small arms was
first undertaken at Rock TIsland Arsenal. Workmen skilled in the
manufacture of the rifle, to the number of three hundred, were trans-
ferred from Springfield Armory at the expense of the Government to in-
augurate the work of rifle manufacture at this Arsenal and to school
new employees in the manufacturing processes in connection there-
with, owing to the dearth of skill at the Arsenal in this line of manufacture.

In a large sense this is the duty which devolves upon the nucleus of
the peace-time organization of the Arsenal when war is imminent, and this
process of expansion, carried on at the outbreak of the late war, enabled
Rock Island Arsenal to quickly attain a maximum production to meet the
demands of the army in the field. The force, which consisted of approxi-
mately three thousand employees at the outbreak of the war, was expanded
to a force numbering approximately fourteen thousand. This expansion,
although gradual, covered, in reality, a remarkably short period of time.
The responsibility rested upon the Employment Department to determine,
from statements of capabilities of applicants having no well defined trade,
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such as machinist, carpenter, etc., the particular duty for which the pros-
pective employee was best adapted ; after selection, appointment and actual
trial in the shops, it oft-times developed that employees possessed capa-
bilities which justified their selection for other and perhaps more important
work, differing widely from that for which they were originally selected.
The duty of imparting to the inexperienced the knowledge of shop practice
that enabled him to perform efficiently one or several of th<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>